INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.



A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA 313/761-4700 800/521-0600

University of Alberta

5

An Empirical Investigation of the Impact of Capital Market

Liberalization on the Philippine Equity Market

by

Angelo Africa Unite



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial

fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Finance

Faculty of Business

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 1997



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-23081-3

Canadä

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Angelo Africa Unite

Title of Thesis: An Empirical Investigation of the Impact of Capital Market Liberalization on the Philippine Equity Market

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Year this Degree Granted: 1997

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

100

Economics Department De La Salle University 2401 Taft Avenue, Manila Philippines

Argust 15,1997

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled An Empirical Investigation of the Impact of Capital Market Liberalization on the Philippine Equity Market submitted by Angelo Africa Unite in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Finance.

Dr. Steve Beveridge (Supervisor) Dr. Bob Korkie

Dr. Richard Beason

Dr. Denise Young

1 Ediozon

Dr. Ieuan Morgan

To my parents Amado and Amada.

my sisters Charo, Telly and Clavel,

and

Auntie Nene

Abstract

This thesis investigates the short- and long-term effects of Philippine capital market liberalization on the domestic equity market and its relationship with international equity markets. We draw on concepts and theories of investment and international finance for the economic intuition underlying these issues.

In Chapter 2, we examine the impact of liberalization on the degree of Philippine equity market integration. The results of multivariate cointegration analysis suggest that the Philippine stock market has become integrated with the markets of its major economic partners during the post-liberalization subperiod. However, we find the degree of integration to be weak, possibly owing to remaining barriers to international investments. These results are consistent with the notion that liberalization encourages international capital flows which in turn promotes capital market integration.

In Chapter 3, we investigate the response of American investors to announcements of relaxation of Philippine international investment restrictions, using First Philippine Fund data. The results of our event study indicate that announced relaxation of foreign equity ownership limits are associated with a widening of the fund's discounts. One implication of this is that the imposition of foreign equity ownership restrictions effectively segmented the Philippine equity market and raised the required return on Philippine equities.

In Chapter 4, we examine the impact of liberalization on the short-run dynamic relationships of the Philippine equity market with international equity markets. Using a multivariate GARCH methodology, we find significant lagged cross-market volatility spillovers to the Philippine market, with stronger evidence in the post-liberalization subperiod. An analysis of the impulse response of conditional volatility reveals that the dynamic impact of past foreign stock market return innovations on current volatility of Philippine stock market returns is quite persistent. These are consistent with the view that international investment barriers insulate the domestic market from external shocks. By liberalizing such restrictions, information contained in foreign stock market movements become an important influence on the behavior of domestic stock market returns.

Overall, our results suggest that recent capital market liberalization in the Philippines may have been partly responsible for increasing the price linkages of the domestic equity market with those of international markets.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Steve Beveridge. my supervisor, for providing me with the impetus and research agenda for my dissertation and for sharing with me his expertise. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Bob Korkie, Dick Beason, Denise Young and Ieuan Morgan for their invaluable comments and suggestions. I am likewise indebted to the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) and the Association of Deans of Southeast Graduate Schools of Management (ADSGM) for the full financial support they have given me during the entire duration of my doctoral studies. I would also like to thank Lydia Echauz, Jun Tullao, Louis Ranit, Pabs Mangaran, Manny Sales, Remy Tamaca and Eva Umali of De La Salle University - Manila for their technical and moral support. Finally, I am forever grateful to Ranjini Sivakumar, Janice Thomas, Namrata Malhotra, Jon Ritter, Gina and Shaun Malo, Auntie Sol and John Rennie, Jill, Irene and Guy Julian, Bob Hinings and Jeanette Gosine for their friendship, advice and comfort. I would not have made it through the Ph.D Program without them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ł

| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|--|--------|
| 1.1. An Overview of the Philippine Stock Market | 1 |
| 1.2. Liberalization and Internationalization of the Philippine Capital Mark 1.2.1. Liberalization of Foreign Equity Ownership Restrictions | 5 |
| 1.2.2. Liberalization of Foreign Exchange Restrictions | |
| 1.2.3. Country Funds and International Equity Offerings | |
| 1.2.4. Other Reforms | 6 |
| 1.3. Research Objectives and Thesis Overview | 7 |
| Tables | 17 |
| Notes | 18 |
| Bibliography | 19 |
| CHAPTER 2: CAPITAL MARKET LIBERALIZATION AND PHIL EQUITY MARKET INTEGRATION WITH INTERNATIONAL MARKETS | EQUITY |
| 2.1. Purpose of the Study | 23 |
| 2.1.1. Previous Research | |
| 2.1.2. Scope and Limitations of the Study | |
| 2.1.3. Theoretical Framework: Cointegration and Equity Market Integration | |
| 2.2. Data | 32 |
| 2.3. Methodology | 33 |
| 2.3.1. Cointegration Tests | 33 |
| 2.3.2. Pre- and Post-Liberalization Subsample Analysis | 36 |
| 2.3.3. Other Hypothesis Tests | |
| 2.4. Empirical Results | 40 |
| 2.4.1. Univariate Unit Root Tests | |
| 2.4.2. Multivariate Cointegration Test Results | |
| | |
| 2.5. Conclusion | 41 |

| Notes |
|-------|
| |

| Bibliography | .57 |
|--------------|-----|
|--------------|-----|

| 3.1. | Purpose of the Study | 64 |
|------|--|----|
| | 3.1.1. The First Philippine Fund | |
| | 3.1.2. Theoretical Framework and Previous Empirical Studies | 64 |
| | 3.1.3. Scope and Limitations of the Study | |
| 3.2. | Data Description and Sample Characteristics | 67 |
| 3.3. | Methodology | 69 |
| •••• | 3.3.1. Identification of Events | |
| | 3.3.2. Tests of the Effects of Changes in International Investment Restrictions. | |
| 3.4. | Empirical Results | 71 |
| 3.5. | Conclusion | 75 |
| Tab | les | 77 |
| Fig | 1res | 81 |
| Not | es | 83 |
| Bib | liography | 87 |

CHAPTER 4: PHILIPPINE CAPITAL MARKET LIBERALIZATION AND INTERNATIONAL TRANSMISSION OF STOCK MARKET MOVEMENTS ...90

| 4.1. | Purpose of the Study | 90 |
|------|---|-------|
| | 4.1.1. Theoretical Framework and Previous Empirical Studies | |
| | 4.1.2. Scope and Limitations of the Study | |
| 4.2. | Data Description and Sample Characteristics | 94 |
| | 4.2.1. Adjustments in Return Observations During and the Week After the S | Stock |
| | Market Crash of October 1987 | |

| | 4.2.2. | Summary Statistics, Autocorrelations and Cross-Market C | |
|------------|--------------|--|----------------------------|
| | | Weekly Returns and Squared Returns on the National Stoc | |
| | 400 | Indexes. | |
| | | Autocorrelation Analysis and ARCH Tests | |
| | 4.2.4. | Cross-Market Correlation Analysis | |
| 4.3. | Meth | odology | 101 |
| | 4.3.1. | The Multivariate GARCH (MGARCH) Model | 101 |
| | 4.3.2. | Estimation and Model Selection Procedure | 106 |
| 4.4. | Empi | rical Results | |
| | | Preliminary Results from the Vector Autoregression (VAR | |
| | | Results from the Multivariate GARCH Specification | |
| 4.4. | Conc | usion | 124 |
| Tab | les | | 126 |
| | | | |
| Figu | ires | | 141 |
| Note | es | | 146 |
| Bibl | iograp | hy | 149 |
| CH | APTEI | R 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS. | 157 |
| Bibl | iograp | hy | 161 |
| APF | PENDI | X A: DATA SOURCES FOR CHAPTERS 2 AND 4 | 162 |
| EST RA] | ТМАТ ГЮ 1 | X B: JOHANSEN'S COINTEGRATION TESTS, PR ING THE COINTEGRATING RELATIONSHIPS AN TESTS ON THE LONG-RUN PARAMETERS OF CORRECTION MODEL FOR CHAPTER 2 | D LIKELIHOOD THE VECTOR |
| APF | PENDI | X C: PLOTS OF THE MONTHLY NATIONAL ST | FOCK MARKET |
| PRI | CES I | NDEXES FOR CHAPTER 2 | 167 |
| CHA | ANGE | X D: CHRONOLOGICAL LISTING OF ANNOU S IN PHILIPPINE INTERNATIONAL TIONS FOR CHAPTER 3 | INVESTMENT |

ľ

List of Tables

| Table 1.1: | Philippine Stock Market Capitalization, Total Trading Value and Market Turnover |
|------------|---|
| Table 2.1: | Results of Unit Root Tests on the Levels of the National Stock Market Indexes for Two Subsamples |
| Table 2.2: | Error Term Diagnostics |
| Table 2.3: | Johansen's Likelihood Ratio Tests Statistics for Cointegration among the National Stock Market Indexes for Two Subsamples |
| Table 2.4: | Estimation Results: October 1989 to December 199552 |
| Table 2.5: | Tests of Restrictions on the Cointegrating Vector and the Vector of Adjustment Speed Coefficients: Post-Liberalization Subsample - October 1989 to December 1995 |
| Table 3.1: | Sample Cross-Correlations Between Fund Share Price Changes and Net Asset Value Changes of the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Computed Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 199577 |
| Table 3.2: | Test of the Effect of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions on the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Discount Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995 |
| Table 3.3: | Tests of the Effect of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions by Category of Regulatory Change on the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Discount Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995 |
| Table 3.4: | Tests of the Effect of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions by Category of Regulatory Change on the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Discount Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995 |
| Table 4.1: | National Stock Markets Operating Hours126 |
| Table 4.2: | Summary Statistics for Weekly Returns on the National Stock Market Indexes |
| Table 4.3: | ARCH Tests |

| Table 4.4: | Cross-Correlations of Philippine Stock Market Index Returns and Squared Returns |
|-------------------|---|
| Table 4.5: | Contemporaneous Cross-Correlations of Stock Market Returns and Squared Returns |
| Table 4.6: | Estimates of the VAR Model in Returns: Pre-Liberalization - January 1980 To September 1989131 |
| Table 4.7: | Estimates of the VAR Model in Returns: Post-Liberalization - October 1989 To December 1995 |
| Table 4.8: | Maximum Likelihood Estimates of the Multivariate GARCH-in Mean Model with Constant Conditional Correlation, MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL: Pre- Liberalization - January 1980 to September 1989 |
| Table 4.9: | Maximum Likelihood Estimates of the Multivariate GARCH-in Mean Model with Constant Conditional Correlation, MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL: Post- Liberalization - October 1989 to December 1995 |
| Table 4.10 | : Impulse Response Coefficients for Conditional Volatility of Philippine Stock Market Returns: Pre-Liberalization - January 1980 to September 1989135 |
| Table 4.11 | : Impulse Response Coefficients for Conditional Volatility of Philippine Stock Market Returns: Post-Liberalization - October 1989 to December 1995137 |
| Table 4.12 | Normality Tests and Misspecification Tests Based on Ljung-Box Portmanteau Statistics for Serial Correlation in the Standardized Residuals. Squared Standardized Residuals and Cross-Products of Standardized Residuals of the MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL and MGARCH(1,1)-M1 Models for the Pre- and Post-Liberalization Subperiods, Respectively |
| Table 4.13 | Conditional Heteroscedasticity Specification Tests140 |

List of Figures

| Figure 3.1: | First Philippine Fund Weekly Premium (Discount) - November 24, 1989 to December 29, 1995 |
|-------------|--|
| | Detember 29, 1995 |
| Figure 3.2: | First Philippine Fund Weekly Discount - March 30, 1990 to December 29, |
| - | 199582 |
| Figure 4.1: | Market Trading Hours of the Stock Exchanges on the Same Calendar Day, in |
| - | New York time (EST) |
| Figure 4.2: | Impulse Response Function of Philippine Stock Market Return Conditional |
| - | Volatility: Pre-Liberalization |
| Figure 4.3: | Impulse Response Function of Philippine Stock Market Return Conditional |
| - | Volatility: Post-Liberalization144 |

Chapter 1

Introduction¹

1.1. An Overview of the Philippine Stock Market

The Philippine stock market is one of the oldest in Asia. It dates back to August 1927 when the Manila Stock Exchange (MSE) was established. A second exchange, the Makati Stock Exchange (MKSE), was organized in 1963 but only became operational in November 1965 after much controversy. On March 1994, the two stock exchanges were officially merged into the unified Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) with a one-price system and single listings. While the two trading floors were maintained, automated trading systems of both exchanges have been modified and interfaced with a single price quotation. Prior to the unification, the two stock exchanges operated independently of each other. However, their roster of stocks was identical since the law then required that all stocks listed on the MSE be automatically listed on the MKSE, and vice versa. Nevertheless, issuing firms still had to go through the process of applying to both exchanges. The existence of two exchanges seemed inconsistent with the requirements of a relatively thin Philippine equity market. Moreover, the presence of two stock exchanges in such a small market is said to have spawned and nurtured problems such as insider trading, broker's arbitrage, stock dumping and control of 'hot' issues (Lopez, 1994). The merger is envisioned to make the Philippine stock market operationally and informationally efficient.

New listing rules requiring larger capitalization, longer track record of profitable operations and greater disclosure from applicants were also promulgated by the unified PSE. Electronic boards which provide latest stock market quotations have been installed in the provincial areas. The Exchange has started using a new computerized surveillance system as an aid for monitoring the market for possible manipulation or insider trading. Finally, the central securities depository system is expected to be operational by the end of 1996. This allows trading in Philippine equities to be conducted on a scripless basis thereby reducing settlement of transactions in 3 to 4 from the 28 days under the previous system.

There is also an over-the-counter (OTC) market in which unlisted stocks, mostly bank shares, are traded. This market plays a pivotal role in preparing firms for eventual listing in the stock exchange. However, this market is small compared to the organized exchange for listed stocks. Member firms of the PSE may trade on OTC securities at all hours in their offices.

As of March 1994, the PSE has a total of 183 individual and corporate members. Membership can be acquired through direct purchase of a seat from the exchange or from an existing member. Membership of the exchange is limited to 200 with each member entitled only to one seat.

A total of 205 firms were listed on the PSE as of the December 1995. These are grouped into the following categories: commercial-industrial (e.g., banking and insurance, cement, construction, communications, firms involved in manufacturing. distribution and trading, food, etc.), mining, oil (e.g. oil exploration and oil production). and property (e.g., firms involved in land and property development). A majority of the securities traded in the PSE are common stocks. Other securities such as preferred stocks, bonds and warrants are also traded although their share of daily trading turnover is trivial. However, only about 75 issues are being actively traded on the floor (Salgado, 1994). A possible reason for this is that some of the listed firms are closely held or have either little or no business activity since their initial listing as speculative mineral issues in the 1970s. On the other hand, Mangaran (1993) and Lamberte and Llanto (1994) cite some possible reasons for the low supply of publicly listed shares. Many Philippine firms are either closely-held by a few individuals or are family-controlled. They are reluctant to go public for fear of losing control of their business as well as exposing their business operations to public scrutiny. A second reason is that some non-listed firms allegedly do not use accounting standards and therefore are able to avoid payment of a significant amount of tax by understating earnings. Thus, going public would reveal the inaccuracies in their financial statements making them liable to pay substantial penalties.

Mining stocks dominated the Philippine stock exchanges until the early 1970s. In 1978, the discovery of oil in the southern part of the country gave rise to oil stocks. Active trading in this sector was however short-lived as oil prospects turned out to be exaggerated. Since then, the stock market has been battered by a succession of negative events. A financial crisis occurred in 1979 which led to the bankruptcy of a number of brokerage firms. In 1983, the assassination of Benigno Aquino, a prominent political arch rival of then President Marcos, confounded the already unstable economy and caused substantial capital flight out of the country and a sharp deterioration in stock market activity. However, the economy has taken off since the installation of a new government under Corazon Aquino in 1986. Consequently, the Philippine stock market experienced unprecedented growth with the commercial and industrial group leading the growth. These are reflected in the size and growth of market capitalization and trading value in the Philippine stock market.

Table 1.1 shows that while market capitalization of the Philippine stock market almost constantly declined during the first half of the 1980s, the market experienced an unprecedented growth rate of 200% in 1986. Henceforth, the stock market has continuously grown, except for the period 1989 to 1990. The decline during this period can be explained by the attempted *coup d'etat* in December 1989. This resulted to some short term political instability which reduced investor confidence. However, this was reversed starting in 1991 when, together with an improvement in political stability. the country gradually instituted sweeping reforms such as deregulation of protected industries, liberalization of foreign investment restrictions, relaxation of foreign

exchange controls and foreign equity participation limits, and restructuring of foreign debt. Fueled by the strong market response to initial public offerings (IPOs), market capitalization grew by 192% between 1992 to 1993. Lopez (1994) reports that during 1993, many of the IPOs were practically sold out through commitments or applications to buy or reservations forms even before these issues could be marketed by underwriters and brokers. Moreover, the Philippine stock market was adjudged the best performer among all Asian markets in 1993 and the third best worldwide when the stock market composite index posted an extraordinary appreciation of 154.4% (International Finance Corporation, 1994). Stock market analysts believe that sufficient liquidity coupled with better-than-expected economic growth in the second and third quarters of 1993 led the market to its sterling performance. Market capitalization grew by 38% in 1994 and by a modest 6.0% in 1995. By December 1995, market capitalization stood at US\$58.859 billion. The growth in trading activity and liquidity of the market is also apparent in Table 1.1. Beginning in 1986, the Philippine stock market experienced a general upward trend in the market value of trading volume of stocks listed in the exchange. By the end of 1995, the value of traded securities was approximately 26 times the 1986 level. Some industry analysts say that the increase in popularity of equity financing vis-àvis debt financing in the recent years is a result of an enormous expansion of corporate projects, capital requirements and high cost of borrowing that accompanied the continuous economic recovery in the Philippines (see, e.g., Lamberte and Llanto, 1994; and, Euromoney, 1996).

Despite this encouraging trend, the Philippine stock market is still considered as relatively small especially when compared to the markets of its ASEAN neighbors. In terms of market capitalization, the Philippine market is only about little more than two-fifths of the stock markets of Thailand and Singapore and roughly one-fourth of the Malaysian market.² de los Angeles (1995) reports that as of July 1995, only 1% of the total Philippine population participates in the stock market. Only 30% of the funds in the market come from domestic sources with most of the local investors coming from Metro Manila. Many of the 1000 top corporations in the country continue to be closelyheld. Only a little more than 60 of these top corporations are listed in the exchange. However, the PSE is aggressively pursuing a market development program in anticipation of the expansion in corporate activity that accompanies the expected future growth prospects of the country. Moreover, in an effort to increase domestic participation in the local stock market, the Philippine government recently announced a policy of setting aside at least 10% of all new IPOs for small investors (International Finance Corporation, 1996).

1.2. Liberalization and Internationalization of the Philippine Capital Market

Philippine policymakers have long been cognizant of the vital role that foreign capital can play in financing the investment requirements that are necessary to ensure the growth of the country's economy. However, despite several attempts at liberalization, the Philippine economy can be described as relatively closed to foreign competition during much of the 1970s and the first half of the 1980s. In turn, the protectionist policies constrained the country's economic growth during these periods. In particular, the historical developments that shaped Philippine foreign investment policy as it is now seem to be marked by an apparent prejudice toward foreign investments. This stems from the country's colonial experience and the need to reassert political sovereignty as a means of effectively controlling the country's economic resources. Laws pertaining to foreign investments in the Philippines follow the philosophy that although foreign investment can assist in the promotion of the country's economic development, it should not supplant Filipino capital. This philosophy is enshrined in the fundamental law of the land which aims at attaining the objective of developing a "self-reliant and independent national economy effectively controlled by Filipinos."

Consequently, foreign ownership has been limited to a maximum of 40% of total equity in most areas of economic activity in the Philippines. To facilitate the monitoring of foreign ownership limits, listed companies that fall into the restricted areas generally classify their shares into two categories: "A" shares and "B" shares. "A" shares are generally reserved for Filipino nationals, while "B" shares are open to any nationality. This classification evolved for ease of monitoring the limit on foreign ownership of firms. It must be noted, however, that not all companies follow this "A" share/"B" share convention. Exceptions include (a) companies that are not involved in restricted areas of business and do not own land and (b) companies that float a sufficiently small percentage of their shares such that the foreign ownership restriction is not violated even if all these shares were purchased by foreigners (e.g. almost all banks). Thus, for areas of economic activities where there are no restrictions on foreign ownership, there would be no purpose nor legal requirement of classifying the shares. There are no differences in the rights, preferences and limitations of the two classes of shares other than the ownership restrictions. However, the purchase of Philippine equities by foreign entities and nonresidents must be registered with the Central Bank in order to qualify for repatriation of dividends and the proceeds resulting from their subsequent sale. Foreign investors buying under their name purchase mostly the "B" shares.

Prior to the major regulatory changes affecting international investments that commenced in 1991, there was a growing clamor especially from foreign investors for the relaxation of the country's foreign equity limits, limits on land ownership and lease tenure, legal barriers to investment in a broad range of industries and sectors as well as improvement in the current investment incentives system as they perceive the policies then as impediments to foreign investments (see Unite, 1995). The Philippines' limitations on foreign ownership of enterprises was observed to be the most stringent among the countries in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN, which includes Brunei, Indonesia, Malaysia, P:..lippines and Singapore).

In an effort to address the felt need to liberalize the foreign investment climate in the Philippines, the government gradually embarked on a number of regulatory changes affecting the inflow and outflow of international capital. Among other things, the major reforms implemented opened up the domestic capital market to greater global investor participation.

1.2.1 Liberalization of Foreign Equity Ownership Restrictions.

The boldest step taken by the Philippine government which significantly reformed the foreign investment regime was the passage of the Foreign Investment Act of 1991 (FIA) on November 1991. This measure virtually opened all economic sectors to 100% foreign equity ownership, except in those areas specified in a transitory negative list. Moreover, this new law streamlined the investment approval process and more clearly defined the limits and restrictions on foreign investments. A key feature of the FIA is the negative list of sectors where foreign investment would be limited to a maximum of 40%.³ Foreigners are free to invest in all other sectors without prior approval from authorities. On October 1991, a three-year transitional period went into effect during which foreign ownership is restricted to a maximum of 40 percent in sectors specified in the transitory negative list.

On June 1994, the Philippine economy was further opened to foreign investments when Philippine President Fidel Ramos issued Executive Order No. 182 which effectively deleted List C of the transitory negative list. Foreigners can now fully own businesses in areas such as insurance, travel agencies, wholesale trading, convention organizing, and manufacturing under foreign licenses.

The FIA does not include banking and other financial institutions as they are governed and regulated by the General Banking Act and other laws under the supervision of the Central Bank of the Philippines. For example, Republic Act 337 as amended requires that at least 70% of the voting stock of any banking institution be owned by Philippine nationals. However, on October 1994, the entry of foreign banks to operate in the Philippines was also liberalized via Republic Act No. 7721. Under the new regulations, entry can be effected through a purchase of 60% of the voting stock of an existing domestic bank or of a new banking subsidiary incorporated in the Philippines or through the establishment of branches with full banking authority, subject to the licensing requirements of the Central Bank.

1.2.2. Liberalization of Foreign Exchange Restrictions

Beginning in 1992, the Philippine government has also relaxed existing foreign exchange restrictions. Since January 1992, foreign exchange may be freely sold and purchased (without need for Central Bank prior approval) outside the banking system. Previously, only Authorized Agent Banks, all of which are commercial banks, authorized foreign exchange agents (thrift and rural banks, three-to five-star hotels, duty-free shops, supermarkets, and certain tourist-oriented establishments accredited by the Department of Tourism and issued authority by the Central Bank), and Authorized Foreign Exchange Buyers (non-bank entities, initially authorized by the Central Bank to purchase foreign exchange with pesos from the general public) could engage in both sale and purchase operations in foreign exchange. As of August 1992, residents of the Philippines were no longer required to sell foreign exchange receipts to authorized banks. Moreover, foreign exchange receipts, acquisitions or earnings were allowed to be deposited in foreign currency accounts, whether in the Philippines or abroad. All remaining restrictions on the repatriation of capital or remittances of dividends from foreign direct equity investments were also removed. Foreign investments duly registered with the Central Bank, or with a custodian bank designated by the foreign investor, are now entitled to full and immediate capital repatriation, and dividend and interest remittance privileges. This is in contrast with previous guidelines where remittances were staggered from three to nine years subject to prior CB approval. Moreover, in January 1992, Philippine residents were allowed to purchase foreign exchange up to US\$1 million annually from the banking system for investments abroad, without prior Central Bank approval. This limit was raised to US\$6 million in November 1994. Prior to these reforms, the government imposed strict limits on the amount of foreign exchange that residents could bring out of the country.

1.2.3. Country Funds and International Equity Offerings

It should be noted, however, that various events related to market opening and internationalization of the domestic equity market have occurred prior to the major liberalization reforms that were initiated starting in 1991. A number of government-approved closed-end country funds investing in Philippine equities have been launched by investment management companies to meet the needs of foreign investors wishing to gain access to the then restricted domestic capital market. These include, among others, the Manila Fund which was admitted in London's stock exchange on October 1989, the First Philippine Fund listed in the New York Stock Exchange in November 1989, and the JF Philippine Fund and First Philippine Investment Trust which started trading in London's stock exchange on November 1989. Furthermore, some of the leading Philippine companies are also quoted in international markets. For example, the Philippine Long Distance Company (PLDT) is listed on the New York Stock Exchange while the Manila Electric Company has a Luxembourg listing. PLDT, the International Container Terminal Services and J G Summit Holdings have also sold convertible issues in the international market.

1.2.4. Other Reforms

Other measures directed at highlighting the country's commitment to foster and protect foreign investment were also implemented beginning in 1992. These include the reduction of tariff and non-tariff barriers to trade and market entry, reduction of restrictions on foreign exchange transactions on the trade account, deregulation of strategic industries such as telecommunications, aviation, oil and shipping by opening it to competition, and further privatization of state-owned enterprises.⁴ The privatization of state-owned enterprises, such as Petron, National Steel Company, the Philippine National Bank (PNB) and the Manila Electric Company (Meralco), enhanced capitalization and stock market activity by expanding the supply of shares.

Ever since the Philippines announced a moratorium on foreign debt payments in 1983, it has been unpopular among institutional investors. However, with the successful restructuring of its foreign commercial bank debt in 1992, the Philippines was able to reenter the international capital markets via bond issues for the first time since 1983.

The successful implementation of reforms that liberalized and internationalized the domestic capital market combined with recent global investor interest in developing country equity markets may have been responsible for the significant flows of foreign portfolio capital into the Philippines in recent years.⁵ For example, Folkerts-Landau and Ito (1995) report that placements of new equity issues in international markets by the Philippines grew from US\$53 million in 1990 to US\$839 million in 1994. Overseasbased emerging market funds (open- and closed-end) devoted to Philippine equities have likewise expanded rapidly. The net asset value of these funds provide a rough indicator of direct purchases by foreigners of Philippine domestic securities. In 1988, there were 3 mutual funds with a combined net asset value of US\$45 million. By 1994, there were 9 mutual funds with a combined net asset value of US\$654 million. A report by the president of the Philippine Stock Exchange (de los Angeles, 1995), indicated that approximately 70% of the funds in the Philippine equity market comes from foreign sources. In addition, the domestic market opening measures may partly explain the substantial increase in the Philippine stock market size. Philippine stock market capitalization grew from US\$3.5 billion in 1980 to U\$12 billion in 1989 and further to US\$58.9 billion in 1995 (International Finance Corporation, 1990 and 1996).

Note, however, that despite the preceding reforms, there are some impediments to international capital flows which remain in the Philippine market. These include, among others, restrictions or limitations on foreign equity ownership in economic sectors specified under the Negative Lists A and B of the Foreign Investment Act, some degree of political instability which discourages foreign investors from participating in the economy, the smallness of the domestic equity market which can have negative implications on market liquidity, and the few internationally cross-listed Philippine securities.

1.3. Research Objectives and Thesis Overview

To the extent that barriers to international investments effectively limit crossborder capital movements, the liberalization of these restrictions are expected to increase the inflow of foreign capital into the domestic market. At the same time, the existing literature points out that the relaxation or removal of binding barriers to international investments can increase the sensitivity of the domestic capital market to global factors or foreign influences and its interactions with international capital markets. This is premised on the capital market liberalization process yielding a higher degree of integration of domestic and international financial capital markets.

One notion of financial capital market integration, which stems from the law of one price, is as follows.⁶ Capital markets are fully integrated when financial assets with the same risk but traded in different markets have identical expected returns in some common currency (see, e.g., Stulz, 1981; Campbell and Hamao, 1992; and, Bekaert and Harvey, 1995). Intuitively, if international capital markets are integrated, the resultant ease of internationally diversifying an investor's portfolio reduces the sensitivity of the portfolio's return to local events and makes it more sensitive to developments abroad. In contrast, if markets are segmented, the investor's portfolio may be significantly more sensitive to local information than global information and as such required returns can be different across markets. However, it is possible that the degree of integration of a particular market may not be complete. The degree of integration depends upon factors that determine the ease of arbitrage or cross-border trades in assets across international markets. This is because the barriers, if substantial and effective, can prevent crossborder arbitrage activities that eliminate any excess return relative to the return dictated by some economic equilibrium condition. Consequently, financial assets in these markets can have different expected returns even when their risk characteristics are the same.

Economists have traditionally used domestic and foreign interest rate relationships as a measure of the degree of integration of international financial capital markets. One approach to measuring capital market integration based on this technique is interest rate parity. Under this approach, it is predicted that domestic and foreign interest rates will be closely linked if the domestic economy is completely open to the rest of the world and there are no barriers to international capital flows. Specifically, in a world with no transaction costs, the following covered interest parity relation will hold:

$$\mathbf{r}_{t} = \mathbf{r}_{t}^{*} + \mathbf{f}_{t} \tag{1}$$

where r_t is the domestic interest rate, r_t^* is the foreign interest rate for a financial asset of identical risk as the domestic asset, and $f_t = \log(F_t) - \log(S_t)$ where F_t is the one-period forward exchange rate and S_t is the current spot exchange rate.

When this condition holds, investors in both countries will be indifferent between investing in their domestic financial asset or in the foreign asset since the total rates of return for the two investment instruments — r_t in the domestic market and $r_t^* + f_t$ in the foreign market — are identical. However, when this condition does not hold, arbitrage profits are possible. In the absence of barriers to international capital flows, funds will flow to the country with the greater overall return and out of the country with lower return. This will tend to increase interest rate in the former country and reduce interest rate in the latter. At the same time, as the currency of the country with greater overall return is bought spot and sold forward, the spot exchange rate increases while the forward rate decreases. This has the effect of reducing the forward rate. This process continues until excess profits are competed away and the overall returns are equalized.

However, in this framework, capital controls and other barriers to international capital mobility (e.g. political risk or risk of future capital controls, differential tax

treatment, local information costs) may prevent equalization of national interest rates (see, e.g., Chinn and Frankel ,1994; and, Marston, 1995). This is because restrictions on capital mobility can limit the cross-border arbitrage activities which link domestic and foreign nominal interest rates and the exchange rate and thus give rise to nonzero deviations from the covered interest parity condition, $e_t = r_t^* - r_t + f_t$. On the other hand, even in the absence of capital controls and other barriers to capital mobility, covered interest parity may not hold exactly for interest rates of domestic and foreign financial assets of the same maturity because of differences in default risk. In empirical studies, this source of deviation is usually controlled for by confining interest rate comparisons to same maturity short-term government securities such as Treasury bills. By doing so, any observed covered interest differentials will primarily reflect the influence of barriers to international capital flows.

Empirical analysis of capital market integration usually examines the extent to which Equation (1), or similar versions of it, holds. A popular and simple methodology employed by most of these studies is the investigation of the magnitude and statistical significance of the average covered interest rate differentials over specified sample periods. In this case, narrower differentials are interpreted as a measure of higher degree of integration. An empirical regularity of studies which examine the degree of capital market integration based on covered interest rate differential is that declining deviations from covered interest parity correspond to sample periods after which the countries being investigated have implemented reforms aimed at capital market liberalization. To the extent that a reduction in the covered interest differentials reflects the relaxation of barriers to international capital mobility, this result implies that capital market liberalization increases the degree of integration of domestic and foreign capital markets.

For example, Feldman (1986) finds that during the periods when the Japanese government maintained a system of capital controls, the null hypothesis of covered interest parity between the Japanese and Eurodollar markets is rejected with a high degree of significance. However, for the periods coinciding with the removal of restrictions to international capital flows, he finds that the deviations from covered interest parity decline substantially and the confidence in rejecting the null hypothesis falls rapidly. In particular, he finds evidence that the null of covered interest parity cannot be strongly rejected for sample periods after the Japanese government enacted the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Law which eliminated most capital controls on current and capital account transactions. Otani and Tiwari (1981) find similar results. They find that increases in the deviation from covered interest parity between the Japanese and Eurodollar markets correspond to periods when the Japanese government introduced capital controls. On the other hand, decreases in the deviation are observed in the periods after capital controls have been reduced substantially. Marston (1995) finds evidence of substantial reduction in covered interest differential between the Eurocurrency market rates and the domestic interest rates of Britain, United States, Germany, Japan, and France in sample periods after these countries have removed their capital controls. Chinn et al. (1994) find that the covered interest rate differentials of Australia and New Zealand versus U.S. interest rates have declined at a statistically

significant rate over the period during which they have implemented their programs of financial liberalization and that the covered interest parity now holds fairly well for these countries.

Given the recent major reforms related to the relaxation of barriers to international investments in the Philippines, it would be ideal to examine the extent to which covered interest parity holds in this market as a measure of the degree of Philippine capital market integration with international capital markets. Unfortunately, data on forward exchange rates of the Philippine peso vis-à-vis the currencies of the countries included in the study are unavailable. Nevertheless, based on the results of the previously mentioned studies, it is possibly safe to infer that the deviations from covered interest parity would have decreased over the period when the Philippines has implemented capital market liberalization reforms.

A problem with examining simply the deviations from covered interest parity. however, is that it does not distinguish between the short- and long-term implications of capital market liberalization on specific segments of the capital market. In this thesis, we concentrate on examining the impact of capital market liberalization on the Philippine equity market. It was not until recently that academic researchers have shown interest in studying the emerging stock markets of developing countries. One such emerging market that has caught the attention of international investors is the Philippine stock market. Like many developing economies, the Philippines impose barriers to international capital movements that have the effect of insulating the domestic stock market from developments affecting international equity markets. However, as mentioned in the previous section, there has been a recent trend in easing foreign investor access to the Philippine market as well as increasing domestic investor ability to invest outside the country. These recent developments related to the liberalization of the Philippine capital market provide an opportunity to examine their short- and long-term effects on the domestic equity market and on its relationship with other national equity markets. Specifically, we investigate the following implications of capital market liberalization.

In Chapter 2, we explore the impact of capital liberalization on the long runrelationships of the Philippine equity market and international equity markets. In particular, we investigate the effect of the liberalization of capital mobility restrictions on the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market with the equity markets of its major economic partners, namely, the United States, Japan, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Singapore, using multivariate cointegration analysis. Bekaert (1995) distinguishes among three types of barriers that can affect the degree of equity market integration. The first group is comprised of direct restrictions on foreign ownership as well as foreign exchange and capital controls. The second group includes indirect barriers related to the regulatory and accounting environment such as lack of information on these markets and on the health of the companies, the inefficiency and slowness of settlement systems, poor accounting standards, and the fear of expropriation due to minimal investor protection. The third group consists of barriers arising from market-specific risks that discourage foreign investment including liquidity risk, political risk, macroeconomic instability. and currency risk.

A simple and traditional measure of the degree of integration of national stock markets is the simple cross-country correlation of stock market index returns (i.e., first difference of the natural logarithm of stock market price index). Under this approach, an increase in return correlation between pairs of markets is interpreted as evidence of an increase in the degree of equity market integration. For example, Mullin (1993) finds that equity returns in developing countries which instituted reforms that encouraged equity portfolio inflows into the domestic market have become more closely correlated with the equity returns of developed nations. He interprets this as reflective of greater integration of developing country and developed country equity markets. However, longrun information on the interrelationship of the international stock markets that are reflected in the price levels is lost by differencing. This is because return correlations are influenced by both independent short-run trading noises as well as by long-run fundamental relationships among the markets that are induced by their internationalization and liberalization. Consequently, the short-run noise can possibly make the markets appear more independent or less integrated than they truly are.

An alternative approach to measure equity market integration is to test the hypothesis that financial assets with identical risk characteristics that are traded in different markets have the same expected returns, assuming some asset pricing model. Some of the studies which investigated international equity market integration using this approach include world Capital Asset Pricing Model (see, e.g., Harvey, 1991; and, Buckberg, 1995), world arbitrage pricing theory (see, e.g., Solnik, 1983; and, Cho, Eun and Senbet, 1986), world multibeta models (see, e.g., Ferson and Harvey, 1993, 1994; and, Harvey, 1995) and world latent factor models (see, e.g., Campbell and Hamao, 1992). These models implicitly assume that world markets are perfectly integrated and that the asset pricing model used is sufficient to explain the cross section of expected returns of the international equity markets. One problem with this approach is that the hypothesis of market integration may be rejected simply because the asset pricing model used is inappropriate, when in fact equity markets are integrated. Moreover, because these tests assume complete or perfect capital market integration, they do not allow for varying degrees of integration. Stylized facts presented above indicate that there are remaining barriers to international capital flows in the Philippines which is likely be a source of rejection of the null hypothesis of complete integration.

In order to avoid the problems associated with the above approaches, we instead utilize a notion of integration that does not necessitate an asset pricing model nor assumes complete world market integration for its empirical implementation and testing. This concept of integration involves determining whether there exists a long-run equilibrium relationship among the Philippine equity market and international stock markets that is reflected in long-run common movement among the levels of the each country's stock market indexes (not returns). In turn, this long-run relationship is given by the cointegration properties of the national stock market price indexes. Under this concept, finding a cointegration relationship among the national stock market indexes is taken to be suggestive of market integration. We then interpret the finding of more cointegrating relationships as indicative of a higher degree of equity market integration. We examine the impact of capital market liberalization on the degree of Philippine equity market integration by dividing our overall sample period into pre- and postliberalization subperiods. On the premise that liberalization of restrictions on international capital flows promote market integration, we expect to find stronger evidence of cointegration in the post-liberalization subperiod.

Given that there are remaining barriers to capital mobility in the Philippine market which affect the risk attributes of Philippine equities, it is not surprising to find Philippine stock market returns to be not equal with those of the international equity markets. However, it seems reasonable to infer that common movement of domestic and international stock market prices implies market integration. Common movement in prices perhaps arises from the response of each country to some economic force, perhaps a common world growth factor, which systematically affects the equilibrium prices of the stocks of the different countries. On the other hand, the strength of the comovement and linkages of stock market prices depends on the degree of openness of the international capital markets. This is because the factors that promote market integration, such as liberalization of capital markets and the globalization of securities, also promote international capital mobility. Ripley (1973) argues that, with freer capital mobility. capital flows will tend to reduce interest rate differentials between countries by increasing the supply of capital in the country with the high interest rate and reducing it in the country with the low interest rate. Given that stock prices are affected by interest rate movements, assuming that the present value model of stock prices holds, the comovement of national interest rates via covered interest rate arbitrage will result in comovement between national stock price indexes.

The short-run implications of the liberalization of international investment restrictions in the Philippines are examined in Chapters 3 and 4. In Chapter 3, we investigate the response of American investors to announcements of relaxation of barriers to international investments in the Philippines using data on the First Philippine Fund, a closed-end country fund investing in Philippine equities and traded at the New York Stock Exchange. The First Philippine Fund is the only country fund permitted by the Philippine government to invest in "A" shares of domestic companies that are otherwise available only to Philippine nationals. This feature makes the fund an easily accessible alternative to direct investment in the then restricted Philippine capital market. We employ an event study methodology to determine whether the international investment restrictions are deemed important by U.S. investors. Specifically, we test whether announcements of relaxation of the restrictions reduce the premiums or increase the discounts on the First Philippine Fund. This null hypothesis is premised on the following theoretical grounds.

Like domestic closed end funds, closed end foreign country funds trade at premiums or discounts over their Net Asset Values (NAVs). However, in contrast to domestic closed end funds, the foreign country fund's NAV is not determined in the same market as its share price. Its NAV is determined by the prices of the underlying securities traded on the foreign market. Given that country funds and their underlying assets are close substitutes, then, if capital markets are integrated internationally, a closed-end country fund's shares and its underlying assets should have similar risk. However, Eun and Janakiramanan (1986) and Hietala (1989) argue that barriers to international investment can cause the expected returns on assets of equal risk to differ across countries. Based on these models, non-zero country fund premiums imply some market segmentation. Moreover, as discussed in Chapter 3, these models suggest that imposition of binding restrictions to international investments will increase the price-to-NAV ratio of the fund investing in that country. An intuitive explanation of this inference is as follows.

Suppose that a particular country legally prohibits foreign investors from directly purchasing its local equity securities. Assume that the only means by which a foreign investor can gain access to this country's equity market is through a closed-end fund, which is allowed to invest in the local securities. This fund will, most likely, have value to diversification-minded foreign investors and possibly sell at a premium over its NAV. Therefore, when the restrictions are relaxed and direct purchase of the securities underlying the fund becomes easier, the fund is likely to have lesser value for the foreign investor. Consequently, the demand for the fund's shares decreases and thus the fund's shares are likely to sell at a lesser premium than before. In summary, the preceding arguments imply that the price-to-NAV ratios of country funds can be affected by barriers to international investments if these restrictions are effective. A test of this hypothesis does not necessitate an underlying asset pricing model nor does it require measures of the effectiveness of the barriers to international investments. This is because when international capital markets are fully integrated, the shares of a closed end country fund and its underlying assets should have similar risk. Consequently the fund's share price should be priced like domestic funds. At the same time, it is possible that foreign investors shift their capital from the country fund to direct purchases of the host country's equities as a result of liberalization. This increases the demand for the host country's equities which in turn increases the NAV of the country fund. This reinforces the effect of reducing the premium or increasing discount on the country fund.

In Chapter 4, we study the implications of capital market liberalization in the Philippines on the short-run dynamic relationships of the Philippine equity market and the equity markets of its major economic partners. In particular, we investigate the impact of capital market liberalization on the transmission of stock returns and stock return volatility among the equity market of the Philippines and those of its major economic partners using the multivariate Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity (GARCH) model. There are several reasons why we may expect the returns and returns volatilities of the Philippines and those of Taiwan, Japan, Hong, Kong, Singapore and the United States to be related. Firstly, the Philippine economy is related to these countries through international trade and foreign investment. These foreign economies are the Philippines' major trading partners and sources of foreign investments so that any news about the economic fundamentals in these countries will most likely influence the Philippine market fundamentals. Consequently, if stock market movements in these markets are caused by the arrival of fundamental news, then such news originating from the foreign markets will eventually be reflected in the domestic stock prices as rational investors, stock brokers and portfolio managers in the Philippines respond to observed price changes in these other markets. Under this reasoning, we should observe return and return volatility spillovers among the Philippines and the foreign markets of interest whether or not there is cross-country stock trading.

Secondly, models of international asset pricing, e.g. Stulz (1981) and Errunza and Losg (1985), can allow for correlations of stock returns in different countries. Under these models, barriers to international investments that are imposed by countries may effectively segment these countries' capital markets from those of the open markets. Suppose developments in country A lead to changes in this country's asset prices. These models imply that countries whose capital markets are not segmented from that of country A will also experience asset price changes as asset returns equalize between country A and the other countries. As mentioned earlier, equalization of returns may be achieved via cross-country investing or arbitrage activities since there are no effective barriers to international capital flows in integrated markets. On the other hand, countries whose capital markets are segmented from those of country A will not exhibit asset price changes since effective barriers to capital flows which segment these countries' markets can isolate these countries' capital markets from forces which tend to equalize returns across integrated markets. Based on this reason, we expect transmission of stock price movements from the other international markets to the Philippine market given that the cointegration results in Chapter 2 provide evidence that the Philippine equity market has become integrated with these international markets.

A third possible reason for correlations of stock price movements across international markets is market contagion, a concept introduced by King and Wadhwani (1990). Under the market contagion scenario, stock prices in one country may be influenced by changes in the stock prices of another country beyond what is conceivable by information about economic fundamentals. Under the market contagion hypothesis, stock price movements driven by overreaction, speculation, noise trading or even a 'mistake', e.g. failure of market mechanism, in one market may be transmittable to other markets.

Our focus on volatility and the use of time-varying volatility in this study is motivated by the following reasons. First, there is a large body of evidence in the finance literature indicating that most financial time series exhibit volatility clustering, i.e., there is a tendency for large changes tend to be followed by large changes of unknown sign, and that periods of high volatility alternate with periods of relative calm (see, e.g., Bollerslev Chou and Kroner (1992) for a survey of the literature). These are consistent with time-varying conditional volatility. Therefore, if the volatility of price changes in the national stock market indexes included in this study vary over time in a related manner, the finding of significant relationships among international stock market returns may be an artifact of specification error. Second, Ross (1989) shows that it is the volatility of the asset price, not the absolute price change, that is related to the rate of information flow to a particular market. Similarly, the theoretical model of Kyle (1985) suggests that information is revealed in return movements that are reflected in the volatility of returns. Based on these models, the interdependence among the return volatility of each national stock market can be ascribed to the dissemination of information flow across these markets. One implication of these models is that inferences on how information flows between any two stock markets obtained simply from a finding of cross-market interdependence in price changes may not be conclusive. Therefore, the use of time-varying conditional volatility of returns on the national stock market indexes considered in this study provides an alternative way of measuring the flow of information among these markets. The time-varying nature of the volatility of equity market returns is captured by the use of the generalized autoregressive conditional heteroscedasticy specification.

Our method of studying the transmission mechanism of stock market movements enables us to simultaneously estimate the conditional volatility process of the six national stock market indexes. On theoretical grounds, the multivariate specification is more appealing than the bivariate specification which separately examines the transmission process between the Philippine market and each of the foreign equity markets. This is because the multivariate specification allows for any potential interactions or multilateral volatility spillovers that may be occurring among the five other markets. This is also an improvement over the models that utilize the traditional Vector Autoregressive (VAR) methodology which ignores the time-varying conditional volatility of returns and the international spillovers of these return volatilities that might be occurring at the same time.

As in Chapter 2, we examine the impact of capital market liberalization on return and return volatility spillovers between the Philippine equity market and the international equity markets by dividing our overall sample period into pre- and post-liberalization subperiods. Given that capital market liberalization promotes equity market integration, we expect to find stronger evidence of transmission of stock market movements between the equity market of the Philippines and its major economic partners in the postliberalization subperiod.

Finally, we present our overall findings and conclusion in Chapter 6.

The contribution of our study is three-fold. Foremost, our study represents the first comprehensive investigation of the impact of domestic capital market liberalization on the Philippine equity market. Second, our study provides additional evidence on

overseas investor response to domestic capital market liberalization as well as further evidence on the implications of capital market liberalization on international equity market integration and the international transmission of stock market movements. Lastly, our study employs state-of-the-art econometric methodology which incorporates (a) a multivariate approach, (b) time-varying first and second moments, (c) errorcorrection mechanism, and (d) impulse response analysis of conditional volatility.

| Year | Market Capitalization (USS million) | Market Capitalization Growth Rate (%) | Trading Value (USS million) | Trading Value Growth Rate (%) |
|---------------|--|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| 1980 | 3,478 | | 619 | |
| 1981 | 1.738 | -50.0 | 163 | -73.7 |
| 1982 | 1,981 | 14.0 | 142 | -12.9 |
| 1983 | 1.389 | -29.9 | 483 | 240.1 |
| 1984 | 834 | -40.0 | 125 | -74.1 |
| 1985 | 669 | -19.8 | 111 | -11.2 |
| 1986 | 2,008 | 200.1 | 563 | 407.2 |
| 1987 | 2.948 | 46.8 | 1,524 | 170.7 |
| 1988 | 4.280 | 45.2 | 875 | -42.6 |
| 1989 | 11,965 | 179.6 | 2,410 | 175.4 |
| 1 990 | 5,927 | -50.5 | 1,216 | -49.5 |
| 1 99 1 | 10,197 | 72.0 | 1,506 | 23.8 |
| 1992 | 13.794 | 35.3 | 3,104 | 106.1 |
| 1993 | 40,327 | 192.4 | 6,785 | 118.6 |
| 1994 | 55,519 | 37.7 | 13,949 | 105.6 |
| 1995 | 58.859 | 6.0 | 14,727 | 5.6 |

Table 1.1: Philippine Stock Market Capitalization, Total Trading Value and Market Turnover

Source: International Finance Corporation Emerging Stock Markets Factbook, 1990 and 1996

F

Notes

1. Sections 1.1 and 1.2 of this chapter draws on the Asia Pacific Securities Handbook 1994-1995, Department of Trade and Industry (1992), Directory of World Stock Exchanges (1988), Ernst & Young (1995), Euromoney (1994, 1995, 1996), General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (1993), International Monetary Fund (1980-1996), International Finance Corporation (1988-1996), Philippine Stock Exchange (1994), Portable Encyclopedia for Doing Business in the Philippines (1996), Republic Act No. 7042 (1991), Rodrigo (1993), Teh and Uy-Tioco (1995), Unite (1995) and Wall Street Journal (various issues).

2. As of December 1995, total market capitalization of these markets are as follows: Thailand - US\$141.507 billion; Singapore — US\$148.004 billion; and, Malaysia — US\$222.729 billion (International Finance Corporation, 1996).

3. List A: areas reserved for Philippine nationals by constitutional mandate and by specific such as mass media and retail trade; List B: activities and enterprises regulated pursuant to law, i.e. defense-related activities, activities detrimental to public morals and health, etc., and List C: sectors in which existing enterprises already adequately serve the needs of the economy and the consumers such as ownership, operation and management of cockpit and cock-fighting activities, import and wholesale activities not integrated with production or manufacture of goods, services requiring a license or specific authorization and subject to regulation by relevant government agencies other than the Board of Investment and Securities and Exchange Commission, etc. (see Republic Act 7042: Foreign Investments Act of 1991).

4. It should be noted, however, that implementation of reforms aimed at trade liberalization and tariff reduction, including the removal of quantitative restrictions on imports and abolition of all export taxes, have been initiated since 1981. Interest rates were also liberalized beginning in 1981. The interest rate liberalization program was completed in 1983 with the lifting of interest rate ceiling on short-term loans. (See Alburo, Bobel, Intal, Hooley, Medalla and Taylor, 1991; and, Vos and Yap, 1996).

5. Foreign portfolio capital includes international placement of bonds, issues of equities in international markets, direct purchases by foreigners of domestic bonds and equities (International Monetary Fund, 1977).

6. We shall refer to the term financial capital market integration simply as capital market integration throughout this chapter and in the succeeding chapters.

Bibliography

- Alburo, F., R. Bobel, P. Intal, R. Hooley, E. Medalla and D. Taylor, 1991, Philippine Trade and Investment Regimes: A Comparison with Asian Neighbors, Maryland: United States Agency for International Development.
- Asia Pacific Securities Handbook 1994-1995, P. Jay (ed), Hong Kong: Philip Jay Publishing.
- Bekaert, G., 1995, "Market Integration and Investment Barriers in Emerging Equity Markets," World Bank Economic Review 9:75-107.
- Bollerslev, T., R. Chou and K. Kroner, 1992, "ARCH Modeling in Finance: A Review of the Theory and Empirical Evidence," Journal of Econometrics 52:5-60.
- Buckberg, E., 1995, "Emerging Stock Markets and International Asset Pricing," World Bank Economic Review 9:51-74.
- Campbell, J. and Y. Hamao, 1992, "Predictable Stock Returns in the United States and Japan: A Study of Long-Term Capital Market Integration," Journal of Finance 17:43-69.
- Chinn, M. And J. Frankel, 1994, "Financial Links Around the Pacific Rim: 1982-1992," in Exchange Rate Policy and Interdependence: Perspectives from the Pacific Basin, R. Glick and M. Hutchison (eds), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cho, C., C. Eun and L. Senbet, 1986, "International Arbitrage Pricing Theory: An Empirical Investigation," Journal of Finance 41:313-330.
- de los Angeles, E., 1995, "Philippine Stock Exchange: After the Unification," Speech delivered at the 7th Annual Conference of the Pacific Basin Capital Markets held on July 6-8, 1995, Philippines.
- Department of Trade and Industry, 1992, Country Profile: Philippines. England: Department of Trade and Industry (Overseas Trade Services).
- Directory of World Stock Exchanges, 1988, R. Bootle (ed), England: The Economist Publications.
- Edwards, S. And M. Khan, 1985, "Interest Rate Determination in Developing Countries: A Conceptual Framework," International Monetary Fund Staff Papers 32:377-403.

- Ernst & Young, 1995, Doing Business in the Philippines, Makati, Metro Manila: Ernst & Young.
- Eun, C. and S. Janakiramanan, 1986, "A Model of International Asset Pricing with a Constraint on the Foreign Equity Ownership," Journal of Finance 41:897-914.
- Euromoney, 1996, The 1996 Guide to the Philippines, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.

_____, 1995, The 1995 Guide to Developments in the World's Equity and Bond Markets, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.

_____, 1994, The 1994 Guide to World Equity Markets, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.

- Errunza, V. and E. Losq, 1985, "International Asset Pricing Under Mild Segmentation: Theory and Test," Journal of Finance 40:105-124.
- Feldman, R., 1986, Japanese Financial Markets: Deficits, Dilemmas, and Deregulation, Cambridge: Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press.
- Ferson, W. and C. Harvey, 1994, "Sources of Risk and Expected Returns in Global Equity Markets," Journal of Banking and Finance 18:775-803.

_____, 1993, "The Risk and Predictability of International Equity Returns," Review of Financial Studies 6:527-566.

- General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, 1993, Trade Policy Review: The Philippines. Vol. 1, Geneva: General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade.
- George, R., 1991, A Guide to Asian Stock Markets, 2nd edition. Hong Kong: Longman Group (Far East) Ltd.
- Harvey, C., 1995, "Predictable Risk and Returns in Emerging Markets," Review of Financial Studies 8:773-816.

_____, 1991, "The World Price of Covariance Risk," Journal of Finance 46:111-157.

- Hietala, P., 1989, "Asset Pricing in Partially Segmented Markets: Evidence from the Finnish Market," Journal of Finance 44:697-718.
- Ibbotson, R. and G. Brinson, 1993, Global Investing: The Professional's Guide to the World Capital Markets, New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc.
- International Monetary Fund, 1980-1996, Annual Report on Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- International Finance Corporation, Emerging Stock Markets Factbook, 1988-1996, Washington, D.C.: International Finance Corporation.
- Jun, K., 1993, "Effects of Capital Market Liberalization in Korea: Empirical Evidence and Policy Implications," in Portfolio Investment in Developing Countries, S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228:404-423.
- Kyle, A., 1985, "Continuous Auctions and Insider Trading," Econometrica 53:1315-1355.
- Lamberte, M. And G. Llanto, 1994, A Study of Financial Sector Policies: The Philippine Case, Manila: Philippine Institute of Development Studies.
- Lopez, R., 1994, "Developing the Philippine Capital Market," The Philippine Financial Executive Third Quarter:4-9.
- Mangaran, P., 1993, Arbitrage Pricing Theory and Common Stock Returns, Unpublished Dissertation, University of the Philippines.
- Marston, R., 1995, International Financial Integration: A Study of Interest Differentials Between the Major Industrial Countries, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mullin, J., 1993, "Emerging Equity Markets in the Global Economy," Federal Reserve Bank of New York Quarterly Review 18:54-83.
- Otani, I. And S. Tiwari, 1981, "Capital Controls and Interest Rate Parity: The Japanese Experience, 1978-81," International Monetary Fund Staff Papers 28:793-815.
- Philippine Stock Exchange, May 13, 1994, Circular No. 28.
- Portable Encyclopedia for Doing Business with the Philippines, 1996, E. Hinkelman (ed), California: World Trade Press.
- Republic Act No. 7042: The Foreign Investments Act of 1991, Metro Manila: Congress of the Philippines, Republic of the Philippines.
- Ripley, D., 1973, "Systematic Elements in the Linkage of National Stock Market Indices," Review of Economics and Statistics 55:356-361.

- Rodrigo, F., 1993, "The Philippines," in A Probus Guide to World Markets: The World's Emerging Stock Markets: Structure, Developments, Regulations, and Opportunities, K. Park and A. Agtmael (eds), Chicago, Illinois: Probus Publishing Company:181-196.
- Ross, S., 1989, "Information and Volatility: The No-Arbitrage Martingale Approach to Timing and Resolution Irrelevancy," Journal of Finance 44:1-17.
- Salgado, C., 1994, "The Development of the Local Capital Market: A Framework for Analysis," The Philippine Financial Executive Third Quarter: 10-24.
- Solnik, B., 1983, "International Arbitrage Pricing Theory," Journal of Finance 38:449-457.
- Stulz, R., 1981, "On the Effects of Barriers to International Investment," Journal of Finance 36:923-34.
- Teh, S. And G. Uy-Tioco, 1995, "Stock Market Rules and Conventions," in Investment Management and the Philippine Stock Market, Quezon City: Development Center for Finance, A. Ilano and R. Mariano (eds), College of Business Administration, University of the Philippines:15-43.
- Unite, A., 1995, "Recent Developments in Foreign Direct Investments in the Philippines: Policy, Trends, and Issues," in T. Tullao, G. Largoza and C. Castillo (eds), Issues in Philippine Economic Development, Manila: De La Salle University Press, Inc.
- Vos, R. And J. Yap, 1996, The Philippine Economy: East Asia's Stray Cat?, Great Britain: Macmillan Press Ltd.

Wall Street Journal, various issues.

Chapter 2

Capital Market Liberalization and Philippine Equity Market Integration with International Equity Markets

2.1. Purpose of the Study

Given the recent developments in the liberalization and internationalization of the Philippine capital market, it is important to re-examine the issue of Philippine equity market integration with the international equity markets. In particular, this study will investigate the impact of the domestic capital market liberalization on the degree of integration of the equity market of the Philippines with those of its top sources of foreign investments and major trading partners in the Asia-Pacific region, namely, Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and the United States.

One notion of capital market integration is as follows. Capital markets are fully integrated when financial assets with the same risk but traded in different markets have identical expected returns in some common currency.¹ However, it is possible that the degree of integration of a particular market may not be complete because of the presence of barriers to international capital flows. The degree of integration depends upon factors which determine the ease of arbitrage or cross-border trades in financial assets across international markets. This is because the barriers, if substantial and effective. can prevent cross-border arbitrage activities that eliminate any excess return relative to the equilibrium return dictated by some common global factor. Consequently, financial assets in these markets can have different expected returns even when their risk characteristics are the same. Also, there is a greater likelihood of transmission of market turbulence from one country to another if international capital markets are integrated. Intuitively, if international capital markets are integrated, the resultant ease of internationally diversifying an investor's portfolio reduces the sensitivity of the portfolio's return to local events. That is, unfavorable news in one country may be neutralized by positive news in another country. However, if markets are segmented, the investor's portfolio may be significantly more sensitive to local information than global information and as such required returns can be different across markets. In this study. we attempt to find evidence on the degree of integration of the Philippine capital market and international capital markets using national equity markets data; i.e, equity market integration.

Bekaert (1995) distinguishes among three types of barriers that can affect the degree of equity market integration. The first group is comprised of direct restrictions on foreign ownership as well as foreign exchange and capital controls. The second group includes indirect barriers related to the regulatory and accounting environment such as lack of information on these markets and on the health of the companies, the inefficiency and slowness of settlement systems, poor accounting standards, and the fear of

expropriation due to minimal investor protection. The third group consists of barriers arising from market-specific risks that discourage foreign investment including liquidity risk, political risk, macroeconomic instability, and currency risk. However, Bekaert argues that the presence of country funds and/or cross-listed securities might promote equity market integration despite the existence of severe restrictions on direct foreign equity ownership.

The lowering of international investment barriers due to liberalization of direct and indirect impediments to foreign investor participation in the Philippine equity market, as documented in Chapter 1, lead us to infer that the linkage and resultant integration of the Philippine equity market with international equity markets has increased. However, because of remaining barriers to international investment, there is reason to believe that it is not fully integrated with the world capital markets.

2.1.1. Previous Research

Recent literature examining the issue of capital market integration have focused on developing or emerging country equity markets. Indeed, there are studies which provide evidence that the Philippine equity market as well as a number of developing countries which have liberalized their equity markets have become integrated with the global capital market. The existing literature that has investigated the degree of integration of the Philippine stock market with international stock markets can be classified into two categories. The first group examines equity market integration assuming an underlying asset pricing model. The second category of studies investigates the degree of integration based on correlations.

Asset Model Integration Studies

Buckberg (1995), using monthly U.S. dollar stock market index excess return data obtained from the International Finance Corporation (IFC)-constructed emerging stock market indexes for the period 1985 to 1991, investigates the extent of integration of twenty emerging stock markets into the global financial market via tests of a conditional International Capital Asset Pricing Model (ICAPM) with time-varying expected returns and constant conditional proportionality (beta). The ICAPM posits that if emerging markets are part of a global market, then each market's expected returns should be proportional to that market's covariance with the world portfolio. In her study, she uses the world market portfolio index constructed by Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) as proxy. Among other things, Buckberg finds that the estimated beta with the world portfolio for the Philippines (2.812) is not only statistically different from zero but is also one of the largest. More importantly, the results of the (chisquared) tests of the conditional ICAPM revealed that the model cannot be rejected in 18 of the 20 emerging markets in her sample. The model cannot be rejected for the Philippines at the 1 percent level. She concludes that these markets were integrated into the global capital market during the period 1985 to 1991. Moreover, since only two of the emerging markets banned or severely restricted foreign investment during part of this

period, Buckberg conjectures that rising capital flows from industrial economies was evidently the mechanism of integration. She also argues that the strong rejections of the model for 2 of the 20 countries (with 97 percent to 99 percent confidence) "confirm that the test indeed has the power necessary to discriminate between markets that do and do not reject the model". Furthermore, Buckberg investigated whether markets have become more integrated over time by testing the ICAPM on a ten-market sample for the period covering January 1977 to December 1984. However, the Philippines was not in the sample as data prior to 1985 was not available.

Note, however, that Buckberg's results depend on the validity of the implicit assumption that world markets are perfectly integrated and that the ICAPM is sufficient to explain the cross section of expected returns in both emerging and industrialized equity markets. Harvey (1995a) suspects that not all emerging markets are fully integrated into the world capital markets. He documents the varying degrees of direct and indirect barriers that confront foreign investors in the 20 emerging markets in Buckberg's sample. Based on the stylized facts, he concludes that the degree of integration varies across different countries. As such, he doubts whether any asset pricing model that assumes complete integration of capital markets would be able to completely explain the behavior of security prices in these emerging markets.

To illustrate his point, Harvey (1995b) tested a single-factor international asset pricing model with constant expected returns and risks, using monthly U.S. dollar return (not excess returns) data on the same 20 emerging stock market indices as constructed by IFC covering the period 1985 to 1992. The single factor he uses is the excess returns on a world market portfolio constructed by MSCL Among his findings is that for the Philippines, the single-factor model cannot be rejected. However, while the estimate of the beta on the MSCI world market portfolio is significantly different from zero, the coefficient is less than one (0.77). Furthermore, the R^2 of the regression is quite low (0.09) suggesting that the model is inadequate in characterizing this market's returns. Taken together, the evidence indicates that the Philippine stock market is not well integrated into the global capital market. However, he finds evidence that the Philippine stock market's risk exposure to the world market portfolio changes over time. His estimates of a five-year rolling correlation measure of the local market return and the MSCI excess returns indicate that correlations increased progressively reaching 40 percent in the case of the Philippines. This suggests that this market may be becoming increasingly integrated. Overall, he finds that the model can be rejected for 13 out of the 20 emerging markets in his sample implying that these markets are segmented from the global economy. Harvey (1995b) concludes from his evidence that the single-factor model such as the world beta model which assumes complete integration is not sufficient to characterize expected returns in emerging markets.

Harvey (1995c) further explores the hypothesis that the emerging markets are not completely integrated into the global capital markets by examining the influence of local information and global information on the predictability of returns in emerging equity markets. The stock market index data and sample period are the same as in Harvey

(1995b), except that he uses monthly excess returns on the emerging markets' indexes. In the case of the Philippines, the results of separate bivariate linear regressions of the market's excess returns on the world information variables and on the set of information specific to the Philippine market reveal that both sets of information significantly influence the market's excess returns. Similarly, when local information is combined with the world information, the combined information significantly influences the Philippine market's excess returns. The results of the test of the null hypothesis of exclusion of the local information variables in the Philippine regression equation indicate that the null can be rejected at the 5 percent level of significance, suggesting that Philippine stock market returns are importantly influenced by local information. Moreover, the regression results indicate that the proportion of variance due to local information (0.512) is greater than the proportion of variance due to world information (0.427) suggesting that slightly more than one half of the predictable variance in this market's returns is induced by local information. In contrast, a similar study by Harvey (1991) finds that most of the variation in the developed country expected returns is being driven by global information variables. The evidence that the predictability in Philippine stock market returns is almost equally influenced by local information and global information suggests that the Philippine stock market is partially integrated with the world capital markets. The result is similar for most of the other emerging stock markets, except that the variation explained by local information are even greater in magnitude. Harvey concludes that these findings further puts into question the results of studies using any asset pricing model that assumes complete market integration.

Correlation Studies

On the other hand, Bekaert (1995) examines the degree of integration of nineteen emerging equity markets using an expected return-based correlation measure that does not assume an asset pricing model nor complete world capital market integration. Bekaert's approach is similar to the world latent factors model used by Campbell and Hamao (1992) in studying the long-term capital market integration of the U.S. and Japan. Monthly dollar index excess return data for 1985 to 1992 are based on the emerging stock market data base constructed by IFC for the period 1985 to 1992 while the stock market data on four industrialized countries were obtained from MSCI. In his study, the world factor is assumed to be captured by stock market and interest rate variables of the United States. Bekaert uses the fitted values of the regressions of monthly U.S. dollar excess index returns on two local instruments and three global instruments as estimates of expected returns. The correlation of the regression estimates of the expected returns in the United States and the emerging markets computed using a vector autoregressive framework is then used as the measure of market integration. Bekaert argues this correlation measure is an indicator of the common component in expected returns, and hence it indirectly measures market integration. He then interprets higher correlations as suggestive of higher degree of market integration

Among other things, Bekaert finds that the highest expected return correlations are observed for the industrialized country stock markets as would be expected given the

higher degree of integration and the extent of cross-listing of securities between these markets and the U.S. market. Among the emerging markets, the Philippines exhibits one of the highest significant correlations (0.74), with the magnitude of the correlation being comparable with those of the industrialized markets. Overall, the null hypothesis of no correlation cannot be rejected at the 0.01 level. He concludes from his results that there must exist global news factors affecting these markets simultaneously. Moreover, he finds that the evidence suggests that these markets are integrated into the world market although the degree of integration varies across these markets. Bekaert further provides some evidence of a trend toward increasing integration of equity markets by estimating the correlations from an earlier sample (1976 to 1985). This inference was made based only on 13 countries where IFC and MSCI data were available for the earlier period. However, this does not include the Philippines as data was not available prior to 1985.

Although Bekaert's measure does not suffer from the pitfalls of tests of market integration that assume an equilibrium asset pricing model, he cites that one limitation of his measure of market integration is that it works as a perfect measure of integration only in a one-factor world with constant risk exposures. This is because if there were only one source of risk and markets were perfectly integrated, expected returns would be perfectly correlated. However, it is unlikely that only one risk factor explains all of the cross-section and time variation in equity returns. But then, Bekaert argues that it is equally unlikely that expected return correlations are low in perfectly integrated markets. Hence, high expected return correlations estimated based on his methodology may convey information, indirectly, about the degree of market integration. Another problem with Bekaert's approach is an implicit assumption that he makes in his estimation of the correlations of expected returns. He assumes that the VAR framework generates the expected returns correctly. Consequently, if there is measurement error in the resulting expected return estimates that is uncorrelated across the United States and emerging markets, the estimated correlations will overestimate the true degree of expected return correlation. In order to address these issues, Harvey and Bekaert (1995) examine the extent of emerging market integration using a pricing model which allows for timevarying market integration. They find that a number of emerging markets exhibit timevarying integration with some markets appearing more integrated than one might expect based on prior knowledge of investment restrictions. On the other hand they find that other markets appear segmented even though foreigners have relatively free access to their capital markets. However, the Philippine equity market is not in their sample of emerging markets, possibly owing to the lack of data required for their tests.

It should be noted that although the above studies indicate some evidence that the Philippine equity market has become integrated with the world capital market, the results appear to point out that the degree of integration is weak, i.e. the Philippine equity market is not fully integrated into the world market. Specifically, the results of these studies seem to point out the increase in the sensitivity of the returns on Philippine equities to global factors in the latter 1980s and early 1990s and that capital market liberalization reforms instituted during this period may have been partly responsible for this. However, stylized facts pointing to remaining barriers to international investment in the Philippines preclude us from concluding that the integration is complete.

2.1.2. Scope and Limitations of the Study

In order to avoid the problems and the difficulties of measuring equity market integration that were encountered in the previous studies, we instead utilize a notion of integration that does not necessitate an asset pricing model nor assumes complete world market integration for its empirical implementation and testing. This concept of integration involves investigating whether there exists a long-run equilibrium relationship among international stock markets that is reflected in long-run common movement among the levels of the each country's stock market indexes (not returns). In turn, this long-run relationship is given by the cointegration properties of the national stock market price indexes. Under this concept, finding a cointegration relationship among the national stock market indexes is taken to be suggestive of market integration. A detailed explanation of this measure of market integration is provided in the following section.

While the subset of international markets included in our study is smaller compared to the previous studies, it is more defined in the sense that it considers only the countries with which the Philippines has close political and economic ties and which are geographically proximal. For example, all of these economies are members of the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), the Philippines and Singapore are both members of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), Hong Kong, Singapore and Japan are the major financial centers in Asia, and, Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan are three of the four Newly Industrializing Economies (NIEs) in Asia. The United States, Japan, Hong Kong and Singapore have relatively more open, developed and mature equity markets. Although Taiwan still has a restrictive foreign investment policy regime, it has embarked on some reforms aimed at opening up its domestic equity markets to foreign investors since the latter part of the 1980s and it is one of the Asia-Pacific region's fastest growing stock markets in terms of market capitalization and turnover.² Thus, it may be reasonable to expect stronger results, either in favor of or against the hypothesis about the extent of Philippine equity market integration. However, we wish to emphasize at the outset that the conclusions reached in this study are confined to the stock markets in the sample. For example, a finding that the Philippine stock market index is not integrated with the other five international stock markets does not imply that the other stock markets are not integrated into the world market in general.

Unlike the previous works, our paper utilizes market data that cover a longer span of time, January 1980 to December 1995. To our knowledge, this is the first study which examines the extent of Philippine equity market integration utilizing data after 1992. The previous studies' empirical evidence on the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market into the global market has been inferred from monthly returns data covering a relatively short period of time, from 1985 to 1992. As discussed in Chapter 1, further opening up of the market occurred after 1992 and the impact of this is not reflected in their results. Moreover, since data prior to 1985 was not available for the Philippines in these studies, not much can be said about the impact of liberalization on the degree of Philippine equity market integration. This issue will be addressed in this paper by investigating the impact of the removal and/or relaxation of capital controls in the Philippines on the degree of integration of the domestic stock market with the other five international stock markets in the sample.

2.1.3. Theoretical Framework: Cointegration and Equity Market Integration

A conventional measure of the degree of integration among international stock markets is the simple cross-country correlation of stock market index returns. Under this approach, an increase in return correlation is interpreted as evidence of an increase in the degree of market integration as well as an indicator of a reduction in the benefits to international diversification. Aside from this economic rationale, there is also a statistical motivation for the use of returns. A source of nonstationarity of equity prices is that the series contains a unit root (or stochastic trend). A statistical implication of a unit root in the series is that most of the distribution moments are undefined. Consequently, the conventional hypothesis tests cannot be performed. Given that the stock prices series has a single unit root, then first differencing can render the series stationary. Thus, providing another reason for the use of returns or first difference of the (natural log) of stock prices.³ However, long-run information on the interrelationship of the international stock markets that are reflected in the price levels is lost by differencing. This is because return correlations are influenced by both independent short-run trading noises as well as by long-run fundamental relationships among the markets which are induced by their internationalization and liberalization. Consequently, the short-run noise can possibly make the markets appear more independent than they truly are.

However, econometric developments now enable us to determine whether or not a long-run statistical relationship among nonstationary variables exists. In particular, it is now possible to examine the hypothesis of a long-run relationship among levels of national stock market indexes based on the concepts of cointegration and its relationship to error correction as introduced by Engle and Granger (1987). The intuition behind their concept is as follows. If two national stock market indexes each follow a stochastic trend over time, then in general they will wander apart. However, cointegration means that the two nonstationary indexes are tied together by some long-run equilibrium relationship, and thus, they cannot drift apart indefinitely. This in turn implies that the deviations from their equilibrium relationship must be stationary; i.e. the deviations have bounded fluctuations about a fixed level. Mathematically, the long-run equilibrium relationship is given by some linear combination of the two nonstationary variables such that the combination of the two nonstationary series is stationary. If this were the case, then, following Engle and Granger (1987), the two national stock market indexes are said to be cointegrated.

Since it is possible that two stock markets have a long-run relationship with other stock markets as well, then the equilibrium relationship must involve several stock market indexes. If a long-run relationship among these nonstationary price series truly exists, then, the (stationary) deviation from the long-run relationship can only be constructed from a combination of the stock market indexes involved. This is known as multivariate cointegration.

In this study, a finding of a cointegrating relationship among the Philippine stock market index and the national stock market indexes of Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong. Singapore and the U.S. is interpreted as evidence that these equity markets are integrated. This is because cointegration of national stock market indexes implies that a long-run equilibrium relationship exists among these indexes. In turn, the long-run equilibrium relationship drives the national stock market indexes to move together in the long-run even if they don't in the short-run and even if these indexes are individually nonstationary. Given that long-run co-movement of stock market prices of these countries is suggestive of equity market integration, then cointegration implies market integration. This reasoning is similar to that used by Campbell and Hamao (1992) and Bekaert (1995) except that they conjecture on the co-movements in expected returns instead of co-movements in the levels of the stock market indexes.

It seems reasonable to infer that a finding of common movement in prices suggests integration. Common movement in prices possibly arises from the response of each country to some economic force, perhaps a common world growth factor, which systematically affects the equilibrium prices of the stocks of the different countries. On the other hand, the strength of the co-movement depends on the degree of openness of the international capital markets. This is because the factors that promote market integration, such as liberalization of capital markets and the globalization of securities, also promote international capital mobility. Ripley (1973) argues that, with freer capital mobility, capital flows will tend to reduce interest rate differentials between countries by increasing the supply of capital in the country with the high interest rate, and reducing it in the country with the low interest rate. Given that stock prices are affected by interest rate movements, assuming that the present value model of stock prices holds, the equalization of national interest rates via the interest rate parity condition will result in co-movement between national stock price indexes.

Following Taylor and Tonks (1989), let S_{it} and S_{jt} be the (natural) logarithm of the stock market price indexes of country *i* and country *j* at time *t*, respectively. Suppose that the stock market price indexes of countries *i* and *j* are perfectly correlated in the long-run. This implies a linear relationship between S_{it} and S_{jt} , i.e., $S_{it} = a + bS_{jt}$ for some scalars *a* and *b*. However, this relationship may be distorted in the short-run by the joint effect of country-specific factors, given by the stationary disturbance e_t ; i.e., $S_{it} = a + bS_{jt} + e_t$. By translating the stock market price indexes into short-run stock market returns, the noise in the system is probably increased.⁴ Consequently, even though a long-run relationship exists between the levels of the stock market price indexes, only a weak degree of return correlation may be statistically observed. Therefore, using comovements of short-term (expected) returns on the national stock market indexes, instead

of co-movements of the levels of these indexes, may understate the true degree of integration of these national stock markets.

Additionally, because liberalization and globalization of securities can facilitate cross-country investing or arbitrage activities, then the increased participation of foreigners in domestic equity markets can potentially strengthen the linkage between local and foreign markets and cause international stock prices to move together. For example, negative events in foreign countries can affect stock prices in these countries and therefore the liquidity of investors residing in these countries. Consequently, this affects the relative returns of these foreign investors' investment in other countries and induce them to adjust their portfolios. When foreign investors own a substantial proportion of the tradable stocks in the domestic equity markets, then their transactions can significantly influence the domestic equity prices and thus cause co-movements in the stock prices of the foreign and domestic markets. Additionally, it can be the case that domestic investors have no information on why the foreign investors are adjusting their portfolios and so domestic investors will tend to react to such changes. Such reactions can amplify the effect of foreign disturbance on the domestic equity market and thus give rise to co-movement in the foreign and domestic stock markets' prices.

However, a weakness of cointegration as a measure of equity market integration is that the underlying co-movement of stock prices in different countries may be due to factors other than those which facilitate the cross-country investing or arbitrage activities. That is, there are may be some forces which make stock prices in different countries positively correlated even if there are no international financial transactions. Likewise, national stock markets could be segmented but subject to common shocks that move stock prices in these countries in similar fashion. For example, Ripley (1973) cites that "countries whose incomes move in similar manner may have stock prices that also move together." This is because movements in income affect expectations about future economic developments and affect investors' abilities to purchase equities. Thus, similar movement in incomes may result in an indirect link between the stock prices in the two countries even if no foreigner can buy stocks in either country.

Furthermore, there has been recent debate on the implication of cointegration on financial market efficiency. The controversy arises from the error-correction mechanism implied by cointegration and the claim that stock price changes should not be predictable in an efficient market. Note that, following Engle and Granger (1987), if two national stock market indexes are cointegrated, then the relationship between these two variables can be instead expressed in terms of an error-correction model (ECM). An ECM for these stock market indexes relates the changes in the variables to lagged changes in both variables and a lagged linear combination of the levels. The linear combination of levels which enters the ECM is just that combination which is stationary in levels. The ECM can be thought of as the process by which the variables in the system being analyzed respond to the long-run equilibrium error in order to eliminate it. However, this implies that the stock market price changes of at least one of the stock market indexes are predictable from the previous period's linear combination of the two indexes. This is contradictory to the semi-strong form efficient markets hypothesis with constant expectations.

For example, Richards (1995) argues that if markets are efficient, then national stock market indexes cannot be cointegrated. He shows this by imposing the cointegration condition on the stock market indexes of two countries (assumed to contain a unit root) and then assumes that excess returns on the stock market indexes are generated by the CAPM with time-varying risk. However, it is possible that the results of Richards are driven by his assumption of CAPM as the underlying asset pricing model. It is well known that any test of market efficiency is a joint test of the underlying equilibrium asset pricing model and market efficiency. Bossaerts (1988), for example, demonstrates that asset prices can be cointegrated in an economy where a representative agent is governed by rational expectations. He shows that in such an economy, asset returns are predictable, yet each agent is behaving optimally. Furthermore, Dwyer and Wallace (1992), using absence of arbitrage profits as a definition of market efficiency instead of unpredictability of returns, show that there is no general equivalence between market inefficiency and cointegration, or for that matter, a lack of cointegration. That is. the absence of cointegration is neither necessary nor sufficient for market efficiency when efficiency is not defined by the lack of predictability but by the absence of arbitrage profits, i.e., when one cannot realize abnormal profits from the forecast. They illustrate this by using different models and their analysis shows that different models give rise to different implications and that either finding cointegration or a failure to find it can be consistent with market efficiency. A similar argument is used by Baffes (1994) in the case of currency markets. He shows that cointegration between exchange rates does not necessarily imply market inefficiency since market efficiency does not rule out predictable exchange rate movements, but only rules out arbitrage opportunities from predictable exchange rate movements.

2.2 DATA

The empirical analysis in this paper is based on monthly data on national stock market price indexes of the Philippines, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Taiwan and the United States covering the period January 1980 to December 1995. The following valueweighted indexes are used: Philippine Stock Exchange Commercial and Industrial Index (Philippines), Tokyo Stock Exchange Price Index (Japan), Hang Seng Index (Hong Kong), Stock Exchange of Singapore All-Shares Index (Singapore), the Taiwan Stock Exchange Weighted Price Index (Taiwan), and the Standard & Poors' 500 Index (United States).⁵ All of these indexes are denominated in local currency. Foreign exchange rate data were collected for the Asian countries in order to transform the local stock market price index series into prices denominated in U.S. dollars. All analysis in this study is based on the natural logarithm of the stock market price indexes in U.S. dollars, denoted PHL (for the Philippines), TWN (for Taiwan), JPN (for Japan), HK (for Hong Kong), SIN (for Singapore) and US (for the United States). The stock market price indexes data are month-end values and exchange rate data are month-end market mid-point rates. Appendix A shows the sources of the data for the various countries in the sample.

Month-end stock price index data are used in order to reduce the possible biases arising from infrequent trading and nonsynchronous trading of some of the component stocks of the stock market index as well as day-of-the-week effects. Such biases may be more pronounced when daily or weekly data are used (Lo and MacKinlay, 1988). Shiller and Perron (1985) and Perron (1991) point out that the power of unit root tests and cointegration tests is mainly a function of the span of the data (i.e., length of time period) and only slightly depends on the number of observations. More specifically, they show that for a given span, additional observations obtained by increasing the frequency of the data (e.g., moving from monthly to weekly or daily) increases the power of the test only marginally, with the rate of increase declining as the sampling interval is decreased. In addition, Hakkio and Rush (1991) stress that since cointegration is essentially a long-run concept, then, it requires long spans of data to give the tests for cointegration much power. They showed that increasing the sampling frequency without increasing the length of the span yields little additional information when testing whether two series are cointegrated, but that the converse is true when the span of the data is increased using the same sampling frequency.

U.S. dollar-denominated stock market price indexes are used not just to make the indexes directly comparable but in order to account for exchange rate fluctuations or risk. Apart from the local stock market returns, exchange rate risk is also important for overseas investors who wish to diversify internationally since they have to transact through the exchange rate mechanism both at the point of time they purchase foreign securities and at the point of time that they sell these same securities. Moreover, we adjust for exchange rate fluctuations since exchange rate fluctuations possibly reflects the impact of reforms aimed at liberalizing foreign exchange regulations, which in turn contribute to capital market integration. Also, the results of this study can be directly compared with the previous studies which have used U.S. dollar-denominated data in examining the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market with the world capital market.

2.3. METHODOLOGY

2.3.1. Cointegration Tests

In this study, we use the maximum likelihood estimation procedure based on Johansen (1988, 1991) and Johansen and Juselius (1990) in testing for cointegration and estimating cointegration relationships among the six national stock market indexes.⁶ Cheung and Lai (1993) and Gonzalo (1994) show that this procedure has good finite sample properties. We will refer to this approach simply as the Johansen procedure in the remainder of the text.

Johansen's procedure examines cointegration based on the technique of reduced rank regression in the vector autoregressive (VAR) framework. Let S_t be the (nx1) vector system of the (natural logarithm) national stock market price indices in levels, $(S_{1t}, S_{2t}, ..., S_{nt})'$, where each national stock market price index is possibly nonstationary. The maintained assumption in this approach is that the vector system, S_t , is generated by a VAR(*j*) in levels with *j* lags being sufficient to summarize all the dynamic correlations between the elements of the vector system. That is,

$$\mathbf{S}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\mu} + \boldsymbol{\Pi}_{1} \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\Pi}_{2} \mathbf{S}_{t-2} + \dots + \boldsymbol{\Pi}_{j} \mathbf{S}_{t-j} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}$$
(1)

where μ is an (nx1) vector of constants or drift terms, the (nxn) matrix Π_k represents the matrix of autoregressive coefficients for k=1,2,...,j, and the innovation sequence is assumed to be an i.i.d. Gaussian process, i.e. $\varepsilon_1 \sim \mathcal{N}(0,\Omega)$.

Johansen (1988) and Johansen and Juselius (1990) show that, without loss of generality, any VAR of the form given by Equation (1) can be written as

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{2} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-2} + \dots + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{j-1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{j+j+1} + \boldsymbol{\mu} + \boldsymbol{\Pi} \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \quad t=1,2,\dots,T.$$
(2)

where, Δ is the difference operator, T is the number of observations per variable exclusive of the lags. Π is an (nxn) matrix of coefficients with $\Pi \equiv -(\mathbf{I}_N - \Pi_1 - \Pi_2 - ... - \Pi_j) =$ $-\Gamma(1)$, $\Gamma(1)$ is the autoregressive matrix polynomial $\Gamma(L) = \mathbf{I}_N - \Gamma_1 L - \Gamma_2 L^2 - ... - \Gamma_j L^j$ evaluated at L=1 where L is the lag operator, and the (nxn) matrices $\Gamma_s \equiv -[\Gamma_{s+1} + \Gamma_{s+2} + ... + \Gamma_j]$, for s=1,2,...,j-1, of unknown parameters.⁷

Equation (2) is just the traditional VAR in first differences except for the term ΠS_{t-1} . Within this parameterization, the short-run dynamics are described by the matrices Γ_s while all the information on the long-run relationships or cointegrating vectors among the *n* national stock market price indexes in the vector system S_t is given by the so-called long-run impact matrix Π . In this study, the appropriate lag order, *j*, will be determined using a sequential likelihood ratio statistic with an adjustment for small sample bias (see J. Hamilton, 1994, p. 297), while ensuring that the residuals are uncorrelated.⁸

Johansen's procedure is essentially one that finds the rank of the matrix Π . Johansen shows that the hypothesis of cointegration can be formulated as the hypothesis of reduced rank of the matrix Π . Specifically, Johansen shows that the number of distinct cointegrating vectors or stationary relationships which exists among the variables of the vector system S_r , will be given by the rank of the matrix Π , r. There are three possible cases:

(1) If r=0, then the vector system S_r is fully nonstationary. In this case the elements in the vector system S_r are not cointegrated and thus there is no long-run relationship among the six national stock market price indexes. If this were the case, then the traditional VAR in differences (Equation (2) without the term ΠS_{r-1}) is well-specified.

(2) If r=n, then the vector system S_r is fully stationary. This is the case when each series in the vector system is stationary.

(3) If the 0 < r < n, then there will be only r linear combinations of S_r that are stationary and thus there are r cointegrating relationships among the six national stock market indexes. In this case, there exists an $n \ge r$ matrix α such that $\Pi = \alpha \beta'$, where β is an $n \ge r$ matrix of full rank r such that $\beta'S$ is stationary even though S_r is nonstationary. Therefore, the cointegrating relations $\beta'S_r$ can be interpreted as stationary relationships among the nonstationary levels of the variables. The r columns of matrix β are the cointegrating vectors (\mathbf{b}_1 , \mathbf{b}_2 ,...., \mathbf{b}_r), which contain information on the equilibrium relationships that dictate the long-run movement of the variables in the system S_r.

Given that r cointegrating relationships are found among the variables in S_r . Equation (2) can be considered as a vector error-correction model and can be written as

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{2} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-2} + \dots + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{j-1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-j+1} + \boldsymbol{\mu} + \boldsymbol{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\beta}' \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \ t=1,2,\dots,T$$
(3)

or

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{2} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-2} + \dots + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{j-1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-j+1} + \boldsymbol{\mu} + \boldsymbol{\alpha} \mathbf{z}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \quad t=1,2,\dots,T.$$
(4)

In Equation (4), if $\mathbf{z}_{t-1} = \boldsymbol{\beta}' \mathbf{S}_{t-1} \neq \mathbf{0}$, then, it is interpreted as the long-run equilibrium error that describes the short-run deviations of the variables from the r distinct stationary or long-run equilibrium relationships.⁹ The (nxr) coefficients in the matrix $\alpha = (a_1, a_2)$a.) can be interpreted as the average rate of reversion or speed of adjustment of the variables in the vector system toward the long-run equilibrium relationships underlying the cointegrating vectors. These coefficients measure the current period's correction of the last period's deviation in order to maintain the long-run equilibrium relationship. A low magnitude indicates slow adjustment while a large coefficient indicates rapid adjustment.¹⁰ The intuition behind the error correction equations is that if the six stock market price indexes in the vector system are cointegrated, then the short-run changes in each country's stock market prices are due to the effects of the lagged changes in own and other countries' stock market prices, the previous period's equilibrium error, and random factors. The last period's equilibrium error enters the error-correction equations to capture the effect of short-term deviations from the long-run equilibrium. As such, the error-correction equations can be interpreted as the process by which the national stock market indexes in the cointegrated system respond to the long-run equilibrium error in order to eliminate it.

Johansen and Juselius (1990), Dickey et al. (1991) and DeFusco et al. (1996) suggest that the results of cointegration test are stronger and more robust if more than one significant cointegrating vector is found. For example, DeFusco et al. (1996) argue that cointegrating vectors can be conceptually interpreted as constraints that an economic system imposes on the movement of the variables in the long run. Thus, for an *n*-variable system, if there is only one cointegrating vector (or n-1 unit roots), then the system can

deviate in n-1 independent directions and is stable in only one direction (i.e. there is only one direction where the variance is finite).

This study will employ two alternative likelihood ratio tests of cointegration suggested by Johansen (1988) and Johansen and Juselius (1990). The first is the *trace* test statistic which tests the null hypothesis that there are at most r cointegrating relationships against the general alternative that there are n cointegrating relationships. An alternative likelihood ratio test statistic is the maximum eigenvalue test statistic, which tests the null hypothesis of r cointegrating relations against the alternative of at most r+1 cointegrating relations. A description of these tests is provided in Appendix B1.

In this study, a finding of a cointegrating relationship among the Philippine stock market index and the national stock market indexes of Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong. Singapore and the U.S. is interpreted as evidence that these equity markets are integrated.

2.3.2. Pre- and Post-Liberalization Subsample Analysis

Since liberalization of the domestic capital market helps promote its integration with other international stock markets, we expect a priori that the Philippine stock market will be more integrated in the post-liberalization period than the period prior to its market opening. Given that cointegration suggests integration, the change in the degree of integration of the Philippine stock market can be examined by comparing the number of cointegrating relationships or vectors in subsample periods. Because various policy changes and events relating to the internationalization and liberalization of the Philippine market came into effect during the period January 1980 to December 1995, it is quite difficult to pinpoint an exact date for the regime shift. However, Buckberg (1995), De Santis and Imrohoroglu (1995), and Kim and Singal (1993) identify October 1989 as the initial equity market opening up date for the Philippines. On this date, the first closed-end country fund devoted to Philippine securities was admitted in London's stock exchange. Henceforth, more major reforms to open up the domestic capital market have been implemented by the Philippine government as discussed in Chapter 1. As such, changes in the degree of integration of the Philippine stock market into the five other international stock markets will be investigated by examining the changes in the number of cointegrating relationships between two subsample periods: the preliberalization subsample covering January 1980 to September 1989 and the postliberalization subsample covering the period October 1989 to December 1995. A finding of more cointegrating vectors in the second subsample is then taken as an indication that the Philippine stock market has become more integrated with the other five international stock markets.

The approach used here is similar to that of Chou, Ng and Pi (1994) except that in this study, the break in the overall sample is determined solely by events relating to one stock market. However, there are limitations that make this approach imprecise.

First, it is difficult to isolate the impact of liberalization because there may be other confounding events that can potentially contribute to a change in the degree of integration, if ever there is one. Therefore, we cannot attribute any observed change solely to market opening. Secondly, cointegration is a long-run property of the data. Since the process of liberalization in the Philippine capital market since 1989 has been gradual and consequently the impact of liberalization may take time, the results obtained from a relatively limited post-liberalization subsample may not be entirely conclusive. Thirdly, recent studies have suggested that inferences based on the asymptotic critical values may be misleading in small samples. Cheung and Lai (1993), using Monte Carlo simulations, find that Johansen's cointegration tests are biased toward finding cointegration more often than what asymptotic theory suggests. Similarly, Gregory (1994) shows that for small samples and a high number of explanatory variables, the test size (frequency of rejecting the null hypothesis of no cointegration when it is true) of Johansen's cointegration tests is significantly higher than the test size of cointegration tests based on other methods. Specifically, he finds that as the VAR sample size (T)falls, or the number of variables (n) or lags (i) in the system increases, the tests are biased toward finding cointegration more often when the asymptotic critical values are used. As such, they suggested that the asymptotic critical values be adjusted upward. One adjustment method proposed by Reinsel and Ahn (1988, 1992) involves multiplying Johansen's test statistics by a scaling factor given by $(T-n_j)/T$ and to compare these adjusted values with their asymptotic critical values. Cheung and Lai (1993) show that an equivalent way is to multiply the asymptotic critical values by a scaling factor given by T/(T-nj). Cheung and Lai (1993) indeed find that the finite-sample critical values obtained using the Reinsel and Ahn method are a very significant improvement over the asymptotic critical values of Johansen's tests. Since the time series of national stock market indexes in both pre- and post-liberalization subsample periods are not relatively long, the finite sample critical values using the adjustment factor suggested by Reinsel and Ahn (1988) will be used in order to minimize the potential small-sample bias.

However imprecise it may be, there seems to be some valid reason to believe that this approach should be able to capture possible significant change in the long-run equilibrium relationship of the Philippine stock market with the other international stock markets. This is because the markets of the United States, Hong Kong, Singapore and Japan have been relatively more open during the entire sample period.¹¹ On the other hand, despite the opening up of its equity market in January 1991 (see Buckberg, 1995); and, Kim and Singal 1993), access to Taiwanese equity market for foreign investors remains heavily restricted (see, e.g., Euromoney, 1994, 1995; and, International Society of Securities Administrators, 1994). Most importantly, the market opening event in October 1989 is not the sole event that increased the access of foreign investors into the Philippine domestic equity market. We want to emphasize at the outset that we are not claiming that this is the sole reason for the change in degree of Philippine equity market integration, should there be any. Given that more reforms to liberalize and internationalize the domestic capital market and to reduce the barriers to international capital flows have been implemented by the Philippine government beyond this date, we

expect that these events can possibly have an impact on the degree of Philippine equity market integration as well.

2.3.3. Other Hypothesis Tests

Assuming that at least one cointegrating vector is found in the above analysis, the final step in Johansen's cointegration procedure involves the estimation of the errorcorrection equations given by Equation (3) or alternatively Equation (4), using the maximum likelihood method. A summary of the estimation procedure is provided in Appendix B2. Accordingly, it is possible to test the following hypotheses on the parameters of the estimated error-correction equations. Appendix B3 provides a description of the likelihood ratio test statistics used to test these hypotheses.

To illustrate these tests, consider the trivariate Philippine-Japan-US system with one cointegrating vector (r=1) and two lags (j=2). For this case, the error-correction equations for the stock market indexes of the Philippines (PHL). Japan (JPN) and the US are given by

$$\Delta S_{PHL} = \Gamma_{11} \Delta S_{PHL,i-1} + \Gamma_{12} \Delta S_{IPN,i-1} + \Gamma_{13} \Delta S_{US,i-1} + \mu_{PHL} + \alpha_1 (\beta_1 S_{PHL,i-1} + \beta_2 S_{IPN,i-1} + \beta_3 S_{US,i-1}) + \varepsilon_{PHL}$$

$$\Delta S_{IPNi} = \Gamma_{22} \Delta S_{PHL,i-1} + \Gamma_{22} \Delta S_{IPN,i-1} + \Gamma_{23} \Delta S_{US,i-1} + \mu_{IPN} + \alpha_2 (\beta_1 S_{PHL,i-1} + \beta_2 S_{IPN,i-1} + \beta_3 S_{US,i-1}) + \varepsilon_{IPNi}$$

$$\Delta S_{IPN} = \Gamma_{11} \Delta S_{PHL,i-1} + \Gamma_{12} \Delta S_{IPN,i-1} + \Gamma_{13} \Delta S_{US,i-1} + \mu_{IPN} + \alpha_2 (\beta_1 S_{PHL,i-1} + \beta_2 S_{IPN,i-1} + \beta_3 S_{US,i-1}) + \varepsilon_{IPNi}$$
(5)

Test of the significance of the estimates of the short run parameters in the matrix Γ_i .

The elements of the matrix Γ_i , Γ_{st} , summarize the short-run price dependence of the stocks traded in the national stock markets in the system. Each coefficient measures the impact on the short-run movements of a particular country's stock market index of lagged changes in own and other countries' stock market price indexes. For example, in the trivariate case above, Γ_{12} and Γ_{13} measure the impact of lagged changes in the stock market index of Japan and U.S. stock market index, respectively, on the current period's change in the Philippine stock market index. On the other hand, Γ_{11} measures own lagged changes on the current period's change in the Philippine stock market index. When the cross-price effects are found to be significant in a given country's errorcorrection equation, they indicate that the short run changes in a given country's stock market prices are influenced by independent or local information contained in the shortrun changes in the stock prices of the other national stock markets. The statistical significance of each of the coefficients of the lagged first differences that appear in each error-correction equation can be tested using the conventional *t*-test.

Long-Run Exclusion Test: Test of significance of the coefficients of the cointegrating vectors in the matrix β .

As was mentioned above, the cointegrating vectors contain information on the equilibrium relationships that dictate the long-run movement of the national stock market indexes in the system. Although there is no straightforward interpretation of the coefficients of the cointegrating vectors, their relative magnitudes can shed light on the importance of each of the national stock market indexes in obtaining the underlying long-run equilibrium relationships.

Consider the trivariate case. A finding that β_1 is not significantly different from zero is interpreted as evidence that the Philippine national stock market index is not important in obtaining the long-run relationships underlying the cointegrating vector in the system and that only the Japanese and U.S. stock market indexes are needed to get the cointegration relationship. Alternatively, a zero cointegration coefficient for the Philippine stock market index implies that the long-run movements of this stock market index is not influenced by the equilibrium relationship underlying the cointegrating vector that was found and that this vector is simply picking up the bivariate cointegration relationship between the Japanese and U.S. stock market indexes. The significance of the cointegration coefficient corresponding to a given national stock market index is determined by testing the null hypothesis that the coefficient is not significantly different from zero is determined by testing the null hypothesis that the coefficient is not significantly different from zero is a likelihood ratio test.

Weak Exogeneity Test: Tests of restrictions on the adjustment speed coefficients in the matrix α .

As was previously mentioned, the error-correction term z_{r-1} describes the shortrun deviations from the long-run equilibrium relationships underlying the significant cointegrating vectors while the coefficients in the matrix α can be interpreted as the average rate of reversion or speed of adjustment of the national stock market indexes in the system toward the long-run equilibrium relationships.

Consider the trivariate example above. Suppose that all coefficients of the cointegrating vector are statistically significant and so $z_{r-1}=\beta_1 S_{PHL,r-1}+\beta_2 S_{JPN,r-1}+\beta_3 S_{US,r-1}$. Now, α_1 is the rate of reversion of the Philippine stock market index toward the equilibrium relationship governing the long-run movements of the stock market price indexes of the Philippines, Japan and the U.S. If α_1 is not statistically significantly different from zero, the Philippine stock market index is said to be weakly exogenous with respect to the cointegrating vector; i.e., the Philippine stock market index is not influenced by the information on the long-run relationship underlying the cointegrating vector. However, if α_1 is statistically significant, then this implies that short-run changes in the Philippine stock market index partly reflect error-correcting price adjustments that maintain the long-run equilibrium relationship among the three national stock market indexes. In the Johansen framework, the test of weak exogeneity, which is

equivalent to the test of the null hypothesis that the coefficient of the error correction term z_{r-1} in a particular country's error correction equation is not significantly different from zero, is performed using a likelihood ratio test.

Another interpretation of a statistically significant α_1 is that current changes in the Philippine stock market price index are predictable from the previous period's linear combination of the three national stock market indexes, z_{t-1} . As was discussed in the theoretical framework, such predictability is not contradictory with market efficiency given that efficiency is defined by the absence of arbitrage profits. Moreover, Eckbo and Liu (1993) argue that predictability of returns is consistent with the general notion of market efficiency in a setting with time-varying expected returns. In a survey article, Fama (1991) argues that time-variation in expected returns may be a response to innovations which are common across different securities and markets. Among others, empirical studies by Keim and Stambaugh (1986), Fama and French (1989, 1990), Turtle (1991), Turtle, Buse and Korkie (1994), Whitelaw (1994), and Cheung et al. (1995) provide evidence of time-varying expected returns which are induced by predictable components of aggregate real economic activity. Along this line, it is therefore possible that the error-correction term, z_{t-1} , represents the changing market expectations.

2.4. EMPIRICAL RESULTS

2.4.1. Univariate Unit Root Tests

The initial condition for the system of stock market price index levels to be cointegrated is that each stock market price index series be nonstationary. For each country's stock market price index, we use the approaches of Dickey and Fuller (1979, 1981) [Augmented Dickey-Fuller Test (ADF)] and Phillips and Perron (1988) [Phillips-Perron Test (PP)] to test the null hypothesis that the series contains a single unit root. The ADF test assumes that the series follows an autoregressive process with Gaussian i.i.d. innovations. On the other hand, the PP test allows for a wide variety of heterogeneously distributed and weakly dependent disturbances which makes it is robust to the presence of both serial correlation and heteroscedasticity. The critical values of the test statistics of both approaches are, however, identical.

As mentioned above, both the ADF and PP tests are applied in this study. An examination of Figures C.1 through C.6 in Appendix C indicates that the national stock market indexes in the sample exhibit an upward trend. In addition, it is reasonable to expect the average stock market return to be positive. In order to account for the existence of trend and non-zero constant mean in each stock market index series and to properly embed the alternative hypothesis in the test equation, we follow the sequential unit root testing procedure described in Mills (1993, p. 58-59) for both the ADF and PP approaches. This procedure involves initially performing an F-test (labeled constant and trend).

Table 2.1 shows the results of the unit root tests conducted on the levels of the six national stock market indexes measured in U.S. dollars. The results of the ADF and PP tests which include both a constant and time trend suggest that for both subsamples and for all national stock market indexes, the null hypothesis of a unit root cannot be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance and that there is no evidence of a trend in the first difference series. Since quadratic trend is found to be insignificant, we then test the unit root null hypothesis against the alternative that the levels of a given stock market index is stationary around a linear trend. The results of the ADF and PP tests which include only a constant but no time trend indicate that the null of a unit root in the levels of all national stock market indexes cannot be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance in both subsample periods. Overall, these results suggest that, in both the pre-liberalization and post-liberalization subsample periods, all national stock market indexes are nonstationary.

2.4.2. Multivariate Cointegration Test Results

Given the preceding results, we then conducted Johansen's tests of cointegration for both subsamples. As an initial step, the unrestricted VAR in error-correction form (Equation (2)) was estimated for each subsample using various lag lengths j, beginning with a lag length of one. An unrestricted vector of constants was included in the estimation. Based on the sequential likelihood ratio test procedure, lag lengths of j=3for the pre-liberalization subsample and j=2 for the post-liberalization subsample were found to be sufficient. Table 2.2 summarizes the results of the multivariate and univariate diagnostic tests on the residuals of the estimated unrestricted VAR in error correction form for both subsamples.

For the pre-liberalization period, the results of the multivariate tests of autocorrelation indicate that for the entire system, the null hypotheses of zero first order autocorrelation and of zero fourth order autocorrelation cannot be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance. The evidence of serial correlation-free residuals are also found using the univariate Ljung-Box portmanteau test statistics. However, the multivariate normality test statistic indicates that for the entire system, the null hypothesis of normality can be rejected at the 0.05 level. Likewise, the univariate normality test statistic indicates that the 0.05 level. Likewise, the univariate normality test statistic indicates that the null hypothesis of normality can be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance for each of the six equations. The magnitude and significance of the coefficients on skewness and excess kurtosis suggest that nonnormality of the residuals arises mainly because the innovations are leptokurtic. However, a study by Gonzalo (1994) finds that for cointegration analysis involving more than two variables, the Johansen procedure provides results that are more robust to various deviations from classical assumptions (e.g. nonnormality of errors due to skewness and excess kurtosis) than other methods of estimating cointegration relationships.¹²

For the post-liberalization subsample, both multivariate and univariate tests of the null hypothesis of no serial correlation, first order and higher orders, suggest that the residuals are free of serial correlation. The univariate normality tests suggest that the null hypothesis of normality cannot be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance for three of the six equations, including that for the Philippines. However, the multivariate test indicates that for the entire system, the null hypothesis of normality can be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance. Since all skewness coefficients are not significantly different from zero for each equation, the rejection of normality of the residuals for three of the six equations can be attributed to excess kurtosis. Overall, the error term diagnostic test results suggest that the deviations from the Gaussian i.i.d. innovations assumption underlying the Johansen procedure are less serious in the post-liberalization subsample than in the pre-liberalization. Therefore, we expect the distortions in the test size due to nonnormal innovations to be less serious in the second subsample.

The results of performing the Johansen's cointegration tests for the two subsamples are shown in Table 2.3. Based on both the trace and maximum eigenvalue test statistics, the null hypothesis of no cointegration cannot be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance for the pre-liberalization subsample.¹³ In contrast. for the post-liberalization subsample, the null hypothesis of no cointegration is rejected at the 0.05 level of significance while the null hypothesis of at most 1 cointegration relationship is not rejected. The results for the post-liberalization subperiod point to the existence of one cointegrating vector. Considering that we have controlled for the small-sample bias in Johansen's cointegration tests and that the test size bias due to deviations from normality is possibly less serious in the second subsample, then, these results clearly indicate that there is one cointegration relation among the Philippine stock market index and the other five international stock market indexes during the period October 1989 to December 1995.

The results of the cointegration tests imply that the cointegration relation among the Philippine stock market index and those of the other five international stock markets has changed over the two subsample periods. In particular, these results are consistent with the Philippine stock market being cointegrated with the stock markets of Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, and the United States after, but not before, October 1989. A detailed analysis of the cointegrating relationship should provide additional evidence for this assertion. In turn, the cointegrating relationship implies an underlying equilibrium relationship among these national stock price indexes which dictates their common movement in the long run. However, following DeFusco et al. (1996), the existence of only one cointegrating vector, or equivalently five common unit roots, among the system of stock market indexes in this sample implies that the long-run relationships is stable in only one direction. That is, the system can deviate in five independent directions suggesting that the degree of cointegration relationship is weak.

The weak relationship may be explained by the existence of direct and indirect impediments to the flow of international capital that remain in the Philippine market. These include, among others, restrictions on foreign ownership in some sectors specified in the country's Foreign Investment Act negative list; some degree of political instability which discourages foreign investors from participating in the economy; the relative smallness of the equity market which can have negative implications on market liquidity; and, the few internationally cross-listed securities. Considering that cointegration and market integration are long-run concepts and that the effect of the liberalization takes time, we do not expect an immediate dramatic impact. This weak integration evidence is consistent with the findings of Buckberg (1995), Bekaert (1995) and Harvey (1995a, 1995b).

The finding of a cointegrating vector among the stock market price series in this study allows us to estimate a vector error-correction model in the form of Equation (3) or Equation (4). Since this formulation includes both levels and first differences, it allows us to examine both the short-run and long-run dynamics of the individual national stock market indexes in the system. In particular, we can gain insight on which countries are important to obtaining this long-run equilibrium relationship and whether this relationship plays an important role in explaining the short-run movement of each country's stock market prices. These insights should provide a clearer picture on the strength of the long-run relationship underlying the cointegrating vector. The details of the estimated error-correction model with the restriction of one cointegration vector imposed [Equation (4)] are summarized in part A of Table 2.4, including the short-run parameters, the normalized coefficients of the estimated cointegrating vector, and the coefficients of speed of adjustment toward the long-run equilibrium relationship underlying the cointegrating vector, and the coefficients of speed of adjustment toward the long-run equilibrium relationship underlying the cointegrating vector.

We first examine the long-run dynamics of the estimated cointegrating relationship. The equilibrium error relationship implied by the cointegrating vector is given by

$z_t = 1.000 \Delta PHL - 0.485 \Delta TWN + 0.767 \Delta JPN - 0.595 \Delta HK - 1.242 \Delta SIN + 0.293 \Delta US$ (6)

As mentioned earlier, there is no straightforward interpretation of the coefficients of the cointegrating vector. However, their relative magnitude can be used to determine which national stock market indexes are important in obtaining the long-run relationship underlying the cointegrating vector, or equivalently, which national stock market indexes' long run movements are significantly influenced by the underlying long-run equilibrium relationship. This is confirmed by performing a likelihood ratio test to test the statistical significance of each national stock market's cointegration coefficient. The null hypothesis is that the coefficient of a particular country's stock market index is zero in the cointegrating vector. This is equivalent to testing the restriction that only the remaining five stock market indexes are important in obtaining the long-run equilibrium relationship. Under the null, the likelihood ratio test statistic is distributed as $\chi^2(1)$. The results of these tests are shown in Table 2.5.

From part A of Table 2.5, we see that the null hypothesis of zero cointegration coefficient can be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance for all countries except Hong Kong and the U.S.. In the case of Hong Kong, the null hypothesis can only be rejected at the 0.10 level of significance. A test of the joint hypothesis that the cointegration coefficients are zero in the equations of Hong Kong and the U.S. yielded a likelihood

ratio test statistic of 5.15. Under the null hypothesis, this test statistic is distributed as $\chi^2(2)$ with critical value of 5.99 at the 0.05 level of significance. Thus, the joint null hypothesis cannot be rejected. These findings suggest that the equilibrium relationship underlying the cointegration vector exerts significant influence on the long-run movements of the stock market prices of the Philippines, Taiwan, Japan, and Singapore. However, the same equilibrium relationship only plays a minor influence on the long-run movement of the stock market prices of Hong Kong and appears unimportant to the U.S. stock market index. That the long-run relationship is not important to the U.S. market suggests that the cointegration relationship is confined to the Asian stock markets. This may be due to the geographical separation of the Asian markets and that of the U.S. market and may be suggestive of the notion of separated financial markets in the Pacific Basin (Asian versus Pacific). This finding is similar to the multivariate cointegration results of Chung and Liu (1994). They find that the Johansen's cointegration tests indicate that cointegrating relationships are shared by the stock markets of U.S., Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and South Korea. However, their results suggest that the U.S. stock market does not appear to belong to the "common" stock region of the four Asian countries since the cointegrating vector coefficient for the U.S. is not found to be significantly different from zero.

Next, we investigate the importance of the long-run relationship underlying the cointegrating vector to the short-run movements of the national stock markets in the sample. Part B of Table 2.4 shows the results of estimating a VAR in first differences with 2 lags using data for the post-liberalization subsample period. The coefficients on the lagged values of the first differences are generally insignificant. As discussed earlier, the VAR in first differences is similar to the vector error-correction model except for the lagged error-correction terms defined by \mathbf{z}_{t-1} , where $\mathbf{z}_{t-1} = \boldsymbol{\beta}' \mathbf{S}_{t-1}$. The estimates of the VAR in first differences are presented, as well, in order to determine the incremental impact of including the error-correction terms. The parameters are estimated using OLS to make it comparable to the estimates of the vector error-correction model. However, as pointed out earlier, given the finding of a cointegrating relationship among the six price series, the traditional VAR in first differences is a misspecified model (see Engle and Granger, 1987).

We find that only 2 out of the 36 coefficients on the lagged values of ΔPHL , ΔTWN , ΔJPN , ΔHK , ΔSIN , and ΔUS are significant at the 0.05 level. In particular, we see that own lagged changes and lagged changes in the non-Philippine stock market indexes do not significantly influence the current period's changes in the Philippine stock market index. Likewise, lagged changes in the Philippine stock market index do not significantly affect changes in any of the other countries' stock market indexes. The generally insignificant cross-price effects suggest that the independent or local information contained in individual country's stock market prices does not appear to influence the stock market indexes of the other countries. We now examine to what extent the information on the long-run equilibrium relationship, that is captured by the cointegrating relationship, helps explain the short-run movements in the stock market prices of the six countries.

We observe from part A of Table 2.4 that, similar to the results of the VAR in first differences, the coefficient estimates on the lagged values of ΔPHL , ΔTWN , ΔJPN , Δ HK, Δ SIN, and Δ US are generally insignificant with only 4 of the 32 coefficients significant at the 0.05 level. Note, however that the results suggest that the lagged stock market index return of Singapore has a significant effect on the short-run changes in the Philippine stock market when the error-correction term is included in the Philippine equation but it is insignificant under the traditional VAR in first differences. Meanwhile, based on the 't-values, the coefficient of adjustment speed in the equation of the Philippines is significant at the 0.05 level. This implies that short-run movements in the stock market prices are significantly influenced by information about the long-run underlying the estimated cointegration vector or a faster speed of relationship adjustment in the Philippine stock market index toward the long-run equilibrium relationship. However, based on the 't-values', the coefficients on the five remaining international stock markets are insignificant. Consequently, we perform a likelihood ratio test to test the null hypothesis that the adjustment speed coefficient is zero in each of the equations of the non-Philippine stock markets. If the adjustment speed coefficient is zero, this implies that short-run movements in the stock market prices of these countries are not influenced by the information about the long-run equilibrium relationship underlying the estimated cointegrating vector. The results are reported in part B of Table 2.5. We observe that for each of these stock market indexes, the null hypothesis of zero coefficient of speed of adjustment cannot be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance. These results imply that the long-run relationship does not influence the short-run movement of these stock market indexes. A likelihood ratio test of the joint hypotheses that the adjustment speed coefficients are zero in all of the equations of these five international stock markets yielded a test statistic of 9.85. Under the null, this test statistic is distributed as $\chi^2(5)$ with critical value of 11.10 at the 0.05 level of significance. On the other hand, the critical value at the 0.10 level of significance is 9.24, suggesting that the joint hypotheses can only be weakly rejected.

Next, a comparison of the two models' R^2 s reveals that adding the errorcorrection terms produces a substantial increase in the explained variation of Δ PHL from 0.127 to 0.300. This is true as well for Δ TWN and Δ JPN (from 0.099 to 0.138 and from 0.055 to 0.080, respectively). On the other hand, adding the error-correction terms results to modest increases in the explained variation of Δ HK, Δ SIN and Δ US (from 0.096 to 0.105, from 0.038 to 0.040, and from 0.061 to 0.073, respectively).

The significant coefficient of adjustment speed and the substantial increase in the explained variation as a result of adding the lagged long-run equilibrium error provide evidence on the important influence of the information on the long-run equilibrium relationship on the short-run movements of the Philippine stock market index. Moreover, there appears to be evidence that in the short-run, this long-run equilibrium information is most important to the Philippine stock market. In contrast, the overall evidence indicates that this same relationship plays only a minor role in explaining the short-run movements of the non-Philippine stock market indexes in the sample.

Given that cointegration implies market integration, the results of the cointegration tests and analysis of the significance of the long-run relationship underlying the cointegrating vector lead us to believe that the Philippine stock market has become integrated with the stock markets of its top sources of foreign investment and major trading partners during the subsample period October 1989 to December 1995. However, since there is only one significant cointegrating relationship which seems not to be vital to the Hong Kong and U.S. markets and because of the minor influence of the information on the long-run relationship on the short-run changes in the remaining international stock markets, the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market is taken to be weak. We also conducted a test of the joint hypotheses of zero adjustment coefficients for the equations of Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and the U.S. and zero cointegration coefficients for Hong Kong and the U.S. This yielded a likelihood ratio test statistic of 23.38. Under the null, this test statistic has a $\chi^2(7)$ distribution with critical value of 14.10 at the 0.05 level. Therefore, the joint hypotheses can be significantly rejected. The last result indicates that imposing these restrictions on the system might be unreasonable.

Considering that more policy changes which eased access by foreigners into the domestic market as well as some reforms that made investing abroad by Filipinos easier were initiated beyond 1989 and that liberalization helps promote market integration, it may be reasonable to deduce from the evidence that market liberalization reforms are partly responsible for its integration into the international stock markets. Similarly, this result implies that the barriers which existed prior to the opening up of the Philippine market may have been effective in restricting the mobility of international capital flows which in turn prevented the market from being integrated. More importantly, these results indicate that the impact of liberalization takes time and therefore its effect on market integration is not immediately substantial.

We would like to stress, however, that the finding of no cointegration among the Philippine stock market index and those of Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Taiwan and the U.S. prior to October 1989 does not necessarily imply that these non-Philippine stock market indexes are not integrated into the international stock markets in general. One argument that can be raised is that if the restrictiveness of barriers to international investment is what is preventing the Philippine stock market from being integrated with the other international stock markets, then it should be the case that the stock market indexes of countries which do not have strong restrictions and are freely open should be cointegrated prior to October 1989. However, since the purpose of this study is to examine the potential impact of the liberalization of the Philippine equity market on its major economic partners in the Asia-Pacific region, we did not pursue this issue at it is beyond our focus. Instead, existing literature involving the stock market of Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and the U.S. provide evidence toward this end. For example, Kasa (1992) finds a strong cointegration relationship among the equity markets in the U.S., Japan, England, Germany and Canada using data for the period 1974-1990. Corhay et al. (1995) find one cointegrating relationship among the stock markets of Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Australia and New Zealand are cointegrated using data for the period

1972 to 1992. Hung and Cheung (1995), using data for the period 1981 to 1991. find some cointegrating relationships among the equity markets of Hong Kong, Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, and Taiwan.

In summary, our results indicate that:

(1) The Philippine stock market is not cointegrated with the markets of its major trading partners and investing countries prior to liberalization. However, after its initial market opening, we find one significant cointegrating vector which appears not to include the U.S. market. These suggest that capital market liberalization has resulted in the integration of the Philippine stock market with the Asian markets.

(2) For the post-liberalization subperiod, the return on the Philippine stock market index is significantly related to deviations from the long-run equilibrium relationship underlying the cointegrating vector. This implies that the long-run equilibrium information underlying the cointegrating vector significantly influences the short-run movements of the Philippine stock market index during this period.

(3) For the post-liberalization subperiod, adding the error-correction term in the traditional VAR in returns model substantially increases the explanatory power for the returns on the Philippine stock market index. This implies that the deviations from the long-run equilibrium relationship between the Philippine stock market and the markets of its major economic partners provide incremental information on the movements of Philippine stock market returns. Analogously, useful incremental information is omitted when the long-run stock market price dynamics as reflected in the error-correction term is not incorporated in the model that is used to investigate the short-run dynamics of the Philippine stock market index.

2.5. CONCLUSION

In this study, we investigate the impact of liberalization and internationalization on the degree of integration of the Philippine stock market into the stock markets of its major economic partners in the Asia-Pacific region. We employ a measure of the degree of integration based on the concept of cointegration and its relationship with errorcorrection, as introduced by Engle and Granger (1987). Based on Johansen's maximum likelihood cointegration tests, the null hypothesis of no cointegration cannot be rejected in the subperiod January 1980 to September 1989 while a single cointegration vector was found in the subperiod October 1989 to December 1995. Given that cointegration implies market integration, these results indicate that the Philippine stock market has become integrated with the stock markets of its major economic partners after its initial market opening on October 1989. This finding can partially be attributed to the major reforms aimed at liberalizing and internationalizing the Philippine capital market that were instituted after October 1989. This is because liberalization and internationalization encourages international capital flows which in turn promotes capital market integration. However, the fact that only one cointegration vector was found to be significant and that the influence of the underlying long-run equilibrium relationship on the non-Philippine stock market indexes is minor imply a weak degree of integration of the Philippine stock market into the stock markets of Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and the United States. The weak integration of the Philippine stock market can possibly be explained by the fact that the market opening is not yet complete. There are barriers to international investment that continue to prevail in this country. These include, among others, remaining restrictions on foreign equity participation in some sectors of economic activity, some degree of political instability that can discourage participation in the domestic market by overseas investors, the relatively small equity market base, and the dearth of internationally cross-listed domestic securities. The weak evidence of integration in the post-liberalization subperiod also provides an indication that the impact of liberalization takes time and therefore its effect on market integration is not immediately substantial.

Given that cointegration suggests long-run co-movements of national stock market prices, we expect long-run horizon return correlations among the cointegrated international stock market indexes to be higher than the correlations reflected in shortrun stock market returns. In turn, this implies limited diversification benefits from investing in the stocks of the cointegrated markets. This is because the presence of common influences limits the amount of independent variation in the national stock market prices. However, since the above results indicate that the Philippine stock market is weakly integrated into the international stock markets in the sample, the potential long-run diversification benefits offered by Philippine equities to overseas investors is still significant.

Finally, our post-liberalization subperiod results indicate that the information contained in the long-run equilibrium relationship between the Philippine stock market and the markets of its major economic partners is helpful in explaining the short-run movements of the Philippine stock market index. This suggests that an appropriate model that seeks to explain the predictable component of Philippine stock market returns should take into account the existence of this cointegrating relationship.

| | Pre-Liben | Prc-Liberalization Subsample: Janua | unuary 1980 to September 1989 | er 1989 | Post-Libera | lization Subsample Perk | Post-Liberalization Subsample Period: October 1989 to December 1995 | entber 1995 |
|--------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|---|----------------------|
| Country | ADF | VDF Test | PP Test | cst | ADF | ADF Test | PP Test | lest |
| | constant and trend | constant no trend | constant and trend | constant no trend | constant and trend | constant no trend | constant and trend | constant no trend |
| | (ф) | (13) | (((((((())) | (Z (1 ")) | (ф) | (1,1) | ((\$)) | (Z(t [#])) |
| Philippines | 3.39 | 0.47 | 4.61 | 88.0 | 95't | -1.00 | 181 | -0.87 |
| Taiwan | 3.82 | 1.88 | 4.02 | 1.87 | 4.37 | -2.87 | 4.11 | -2.82 |
| Japan | 1.77 | 0.33 | 2.00 | 0.42 | 5.25 | -2.74 | 3.77 | -2.52 |
| Hong Kong | 1.48 | 1.31 | 1.71 | -1.37 | 2.26 | -1.07 | 2.27 | -1.07 |
| Singapore | 3.16 | -2.43 | 2.88 | -2.25 | 4.33 | -0.77 | 3.30 | -1.05 |
| U. S. | 3.15 | -0.42 | 4.08 | -0.23 | 4.60 | 0.09 | 3.74 | 0.25 |

| łe. |
|--------|
| 훕 |
| E |
| Ę. |
| 2 |
| 2 |
| E |
| ē |
| E |
| ÷. |
| ŝ |
| Ţ |
| |
| Σ |
| ঠ |
| See. |
| |
| 5 |
| ļ |
| f he l |
| Ē |
| 50 |
| vels |
| 2 |
| ž |
| Ē |
| š |
| Z |
| Ē |
| 2 |
| ¥. |
| 5 |
| 5 |
| Į, |
| 22 |
| ž |
| ÷ |
| e 2 |
| Ĩ. |
| F |
| |

The reported ADF test statistics, Φ , are *F*-statistics on the joint significance of β_1 and β_2 in the regression $\Delta S_{1,2} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 t + \beta_2 S_{1,2} + \Sigma_2 S_2 \Delta S_{1,2}$, while the ADF test statistics, τ_{μ} , are *t*-statistics on β_1 in the regression $\Delta S_a = \beta_a + \beta_1 S_{1,1} + \Sigma_{1,1}^2 \delta_3 \Delta S_{1,1}$. The critical values at the 0.05 level of significance are 6.47 and -2.89, respectively for the sample period January 1980 to September 1989 and 6.61 and -2.91, respectively for the sample period October 1989 to December 1995. The reported PP test statistics, Z(A), are F-statistics on the joint significance of B, and B, in the regression $\Delta S_{i,i} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 t + \beta_2 S_{i,i-1}$ corrected for serial correlation and/or heteroscedasticity using the Newey West (1987) method while the PP test statistics, $Z(r_0)$, are t-statistics on β_1 in the regression $\Delta x_{\pi} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 S_{1,-1}$ corrected for serial correlation and/or heteroscedasticity using the Newy West (1987) method. The critical values at the 0.05 level of significance are the same as those of the ADF test statistics.

^b All tests for the sample period January 1980 to September 1989 are conducted using p=3 lags and the tests for the sample period October 1989 to December 1995 are conducted using a truncation lag of 2, based on Diebold and Nerlove's (1990) suggestion of setting the number of lags equal to $1NT[7^{1/2}]$, where 7 is the sample size and 1NT is the integer part of the argument. Higher-order lags where tried as well but the results are similar. Test statistics using various lag orders were also computed but the results were similar.

"Superscript ** denotes rejection at the 0.05 level of significance of the null hypothesis of a unit root.

| 1 | Pre | Liberalization. | Prc-Liberalization Subsample: Junuar | uary 1980 to September 1989* | vber 1989* | Post- | Liberalization St | ubsample: Octobe | Post-Liberalization Subsample: October 1989 to December 1995 | S ^h |
|---------------|------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------|------------|-------------------|------------------------------|--|----------------------|
| I | | | Multivariate Test St | A Statistics | | | | Multivariate Test Statistics | st Statistics | |
| I | | 1.M(1) | 17W(4) | D-H Normality | | | L.M(1) | 1.M(4) | D-H Normality | |
| | | 30.51 | 38.34 | 44,94•• | | 1 | 35.81 | 33.29 | 29.45** | |
| I | | | Univariate Test | Test Statistics | | | Univ | Inivariate Test Statistics | CS | |
| Equation for: | (I) (I) | LB(4) | Skewness | Excess Kunosis | B-J Normality | (I) (I) | LB(4) | Skewness | Excess Kurtosis | B-J Normality |
| Philippines | 0.10 | 0.16 | -0.47** | 1.94.1 | 19.44** | 0.67 | 2.37 | -0.20 | 0.72 | 1.54 |
| Taiwan | 0.09 | 0.00 | -0.74++ | 2,90** | 45.17** | 0.02 | 1.82 | -0.55 | 3.36** | 32,00** |
| Japan | 0.10 | 2.92 | 0.33 | 0.68 | 3.71** | 0.09 | 61.1 | 0.23 | 0.28 | 0.69 |
| Hong Kong | 0.00 | 2.72 | ** † 5'@- | 1.17** | 10,87** | 0.00 | 5.51 | 0.31 | 1.00 | 3.35 |
| Singapore | 0.13 | 1.26 | -0.45 | 2.07** | 21,30** | 0.42 | 5.41 | -0.30 | ••65"] | 7.089+ |
| U.S. | 0.16 | 0.17 | -0.52++ | 2,14** | 24.02** | 0.01 | 2.13 | -0.24 | ••#5" | 101919 |

Table 2.2: Error Term Diagnostics^{1,h}

likelihood ratio procedure. The null hypothesis that system of variables S, is generated by a Gaussian VAR with *j* lags against the alternative of *j*+1 lags is given by 28. $(T - p)\left[\ln\left|\hat{\Sigma}_{-,j}\right| - \ln\left|\hat{\Sigma}_{-,j}\right|\right]$ where *T* is * The residuals are based on the estimates of the unrestricted VAR in error-correction form (Equation (2)) with lags j= 3 and an unrestricted constant. The lag length was determined using a sequential $\hat{\Sigma}_{i,j}$ is the ML estimate of the variance-covariance matrix of the VAR with a lags, s=j, j+1. This test statistic has a χ^2 the VAR sample size, p=1+[n(j+1)] is the correction for smull sample bias. distribution.

* The residuals are based on the estimates of the uncestricted VAR in error-correction form (Equation (2) with lags j=2 and an unrestricted constant with the lag kength determined using the sequential likelihood ratio procedure discussed in note b. - 1.M(1) and L.M(4) are multivariate Lagrange Multiplier tests for first- and fourth-order autocorrelation as proposed by Godfrey (1988). The null hypothesis is that the A-th order autocorrelation is zero in all of the equations in the VAR system. Both test statistics are distributed as χ^2 (36) with critical value of 51 at the 0.05 level of significance.

⁴ D-H Normality is the multivariate normality test suggested by Hausen and Juselius (1995). The null hypothesis is that the estimated residuals in all of the equations in the VAR system are randomly drawn from a multivariate normal distribution. This test statistic is distributed as χ^2 (12) with enticed value of 21 as the 0.05 fevel of significance.

• LB(1) and LB(4) are the univariate test statistics for testing first-order and fourth order autocorrelations, respectively, as proposed by Ljung and Box (1978). The null hypothesis is that the first k autocorrelations are zero in a given equation in the VAR system. These statistics are distributed as χ^4 (1) and χ^2 (4), respectively. The critical values at the 0.05 level of significance are 3.84 and 9.49, respectively. The tritical values at the 0.05 level of significance are 3.84 and 9.49, respectively. The tritical values at the 0.05 level of significance are 3.84 and 9.49, respectively. Tests for higher-order autocorrelation (beyond four) were conducted but none are significant. Only the first and fourth are reported for parsimony.

⁶ Skewness is the coefficient of skewness and Kurtosis is the coefficient of encess kurtosis as proposed by Kendall and Stuart (1958). The null hypothesis tested here is that each coefficient is zero. Both statistics have a standard normal distribution. * J-B Normality is the univariate normality test suggested by Jarque and Bera (1980). The null hypothesis is that the estimated residuals in a given equation in the VAR system are randomly drawn from a normal distribution. This test statistic is distributed as χ^2 (2) with critical value of 5.00 at the 0.05 level of significance.

^h The superscript ** denotes rejection at the 0.05 level of significance of the null hypothesis.

| | ġ | Pre-Liberalization Subsampl | ile: January 1980 to September 1989 | cpiember 1989 | Post | Posi-Liberalization Subsample: October 1989 to December 1945 | AIC: UCIODER 1989 10 13 | Jecember 1945 |
|----------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|---|--|------------------------------|--|---|---|
| - Null Hypothesis | Test Statistics ⁴ | | Small-Sumple Critical Value (0.05 level of significance) | Small-Sumple Critical Values (0.05 level of significance) | Test Statistics ^b | listics ^b | Small-Sample Critical Values (0.05 level of significance) ⁶ | Critical Values significance) ⁶ |
| | Tree | Maximum Riemvalue | Trave | Maximum Fierwahue | Thurse a | Maximum Risenvatue | Line | Maximum Pisenvalue |
| 0=/ | 107.55 | 41.03 | 111.80 | 46.75 | 133.77** | 65.4200 | 112.67 | 1.74 |
| Y | 66.52 | 29,99 | 81.37 | 39.73 | (8.35 | 33.71 | 82.00 | 0.04 |
| ž | 36.54 | 21.37 | 56.06 | 32.15 | 34.65 | 20.37 | 56.50 | 32.40 |
| Ŷ | 15.17 | 8.81 | 35.25 | 24.90 | 14.28 | 7.29 | 35.52 | 25.10 |
| Ţ | 6.35 | 5.81 | 18.30 | 16.71 | 6.99 | 6.81 | 18.44 | 16.8 |
| Ş | 0.54 | 0.54 | 4.47 | 1.47 | 0.18 | 0.18 | 1.50 | 2.4 |

Table 2.3: Johansen's Likelihond Ratho Tests Statistics for Cointegration among the National Stock Market Indexes for Two Subsamples

* The test statistics are based on the estimates of the uncerticated VAR in error-correction form [Equation (2)] with lags j=3 and an unrestricted constant. Eigenvalues are (0.2735, 0.1935, 0.0867, 0.0644, 0.0118).

^b The test statistics are based on the estimates of the unrestricted VAR in error-correction form [Fiquation (2)] with lags j=2 and an unrestricted constant. Bigenvalues are (0.5919, 0.3698, 0.2435, 0.0950, 0.0891, 0.0024). * The small-sample critical values are the asymptotic critical values from Osterwald-Lenum (1992, Table 1 Case 1) for a system of six variables and a constant in the VAR multiplied by 77(7-n/), based on the suggestion by Reinsel and Ahn (1988,1992). The correction factor, 77(7-n/), is 1.1875 for the subsample period January 1980 to September 1989 and 1.1967 for the subsample period October 1989 to December 1995.

⁴The superscript ** denotes rejection at the 0.05 level of significance of the null hypothesis of at most r cointegrating vectors against the alternative of six cointegrating vectors.

* The superscript ** denotes rejection at the 0.05 level of significance of the null hypothesis of r cointegrating vectors against the alternative of r+1 cointegrating vectors.

| 121 A 44101 511 511 411 4111 1241001 140000 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------|----------------|----------|----------|-----------|---------|---------|--------------------|----------|---------|
| | | | Dependent Var | icini Variable | | | | | Depend | Dependent Variable | | |
| | APHIL. | NWTA | AJPN | AHK | VISN | AUS | APHI. | ATWN | NPN | AHK | VISV | AUS |
| Short-nun Dynamics: | amics: | | | | | | | | | | | |
| APHIL(1-1) | 0.084 | -0.076 | -0.230 | -0.823 | 1.119 | 0.365 | 0.133 | 0.284 | 0.032 | -0.044 | -0.036 | 0.014 |
| | (0.58) | (-0.75) | (-1,42) | (-3,45)** | (3.07)** | (6.0) | (0.67) | (1.42) | (0.25) | (14)) | (11-0-) | (0.27) |
| ATWN(I-1) | 0.300 | 0.188 | -0.373 | -0.331 | 0.062 | 0.3165 | 0.032 | 0.129 | 0.076 | 0.007 | 0.004 | 0.049 |
| | (1.62) | (1.44) | (-1.78) | (-1.08) | (0.13) | (0.62) | (0.27) | (0:04) | (0.87) | (-0.89) | (0.07) | (1.38) |
| AJPN(1-1) | 0.024 | 0.046 | 0.041 | -0.123 | -0.346 | 0.300 | -0.274 | -0.348 | 0.029 | -0.286 | -0.068 | -0.016 |
| | (0.20) | (0.55) | (0.31) | (-0.63) | (-1.15) | (0.92) | (1.1.44) | (-1.55) | (0.20) | (-2.34) | (69)()~) | (-0.27) |
| AHK(1-1) | -0.048 | -0.022 | -0.290 | -0.249 | 0.617 | -0.081 | -0.119 | -0.452 | -0.063 | -0.217 | -0.161 | 0.0.00 |
| | (-0.47) | (16.0-) | (-2.42)** | (-1.46) | (2.37)** | (-0.29) | (-1.43) | (01-1-) | (10.31) | (-1.24) | (11-1) | (10:0-) |
| VSIN(I-1) | -0.034 | 0.010 | -0.070 | -0.149 | 0.199 | 0.170 | 209.0- | 0.272 | -0.450 | 0.562 | 0.220 | 0.007 |
| | (16-0-) | (0.17) | (-0.75) | (60'(-) | (0.95) | (0.75) | (-2.21)** | (0.55) | (-1.45) | (2,11)** | (0.1) | (0.06) |
| AUS(I-1) | 0.012 | 0.041 | -0.012 | -0.020 | 0.036 | -0.180 | 0.740 | 0.196 | 0.359 | -0.050 | 0.159 | -0.163 |
| | (0.24) | (1.18) | (-0.22) | (-0.24) | (0.29) | (((('1-) | (1.78) | (0.36) | (1.04) | (-0.17) | (0.67) | (-1.15) |
| constant | 0.034 | 0.197 | 0.259 | 0.213 | 0.278 | 0.109 | 0.582 | 900 | 0.010 | 0.016 | 0.009 | 0.010 |
| | (0.43) | (1.92) | (4.72)** | (2,66)** | (4.7H)** | (3.24)** | (1.26) | (-0.38) | (0.053) | (1.83) | (1.25) | (2.23)* |
| Long-nun Parameters; | uncters: | | | | | | | | | | • | • |
| | Vector of adj | Vector of adjustment speeds, or | 8 | | | | | | | | | |
| Z.1 | -0.365 | 0.202 | 0.100 | -0.053 | 0.020 | -0.028 | | | | | | |
| | (-4.25)** | (1.83) | (1,41) | (-0.86) | (0:40) | (-0.95) | | | | | | |
| | Cointegra | Cointegrating vector (normalized), § | rmalized) , B | | | | | | | | | |
| | 1.000 | -0.485 | 0.767 | -0.595 | -1.242 | 0.293 | | | | | | |
| ž | 0.300 | 0.138 | 0.080 | 0.105 | 0.040 | 0.073 | 0.127 | 0000 | 0.055 | 0.00K | 0.038 | 0.061 |

Table 2.4: Estimation Results: October 1989 to December 1995**

* Estimate (1-values) with the rank restriction r=1 imposed on the vector error-correction model (Equation (2)). The estimates for the subsample January 1989 to September 1989 are not reported since no significant cointegrating vector was found.

^b PHL, TWN, JPN, HK, SIN, and US are the levels of the (natural logarithm) national stock nurket price indexes measured in U.S. dollars for the Philippines, Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, and the United States, respectively.

 $^{\circ}$ Λ is the first-difference operator.

⁴ The coefficients of the cointegrating vector reported above are simply the coefficients of the corresponding eigenvector normalized by the eigenvector coefficient of the Philippine stock market index. In the Johansen framework, the short-run parameter estimates and test statistics as well as the cointegration test statistics are invariant to the choice of the normalizing variable. The eigenvector is (7.792, -3.780, 5.975, -4.634, -9.861, 2.282)

"The superscript ** denotes significance the 0.05 level.

Table 2.5: Tests of Restrictions on the Cointegrating Vector and the Vector of Adjustment Speed Coefficients Post-Liberalization Subsample: October 1989 to December 1995 **

(A) Test of Restrictions on the Cointegrating Vector . \$

Ho: The cointegration coefficient is zero in the error correction equation of the individual national stock market index.

| Equation for: | Likelihood Ratio Test Statistic |
|---------------|---------------------------------|
| Philippines | 19.87** |
| Taiwan | 8.43** |
| Japan | 11.01** |
| Hong Kong | 3.58*** |
| Singapore | 7.46** |
| U. Š. | 1.31 |

(B) Tests of Restrictions on the Vector of Adjustment Speed Coefficients. a

Ho: The adjustment speed coefficient is zero in the error correction equation of an individual national stock market index.

| Equation for: | Likelihood Ratio Test Statistic |
|---------------|---------------------------------|
| Taiwan | 2.54 |
| Japan | 1.80 |
| Hong Kong | 0.68 |
| Singapore | 0.13 |
| U. S. | 0.87 |

^a The likelihood ratio test statistics are based on Johansen (1988, 1991) and Johansen and Juselius (1990). Under the null hypothesis, both statistics have a χ^2 (1) distribution with critical values of 3.84 and 2.71 at the 0.05 and 0.10 levels of significance, respectively.

^b The superscript ****** denotes that the null hypothesis can be rejected at the 0.05 level of significance.

The superscript *** denotes that the null hypothesis can be rejected at the 0.10 level of significance.

Notes

1. See, e.g., Stulz (1981); Campbell and Hamao (1992); and, Bekaert and Harvey (1995).

2. Taiwan's stock market capitalization stood at US\$187.206 billion and market turnover was 174.9% as of 1995. In this same year, the capitalization of the developed and relatively open markets of Hong Kong and Singapore were US\$303.705 and US\$148.004 billion, respectively. Their corresponding market turnovers were 37.3% and 42.2%. (International Finance Corporation, 1996)

3. A competing hypothesis is that the series is stationary around a deterministic trend. If this is the case, the series is rendered stationary by detrending.

4. It can be shown that when the price indexes are translated into returns, the variance of the corresponding disturbance term, (e_t-e_{t-1}) , is greater than the variance of e_t whenever the autocorrelation of the original noise term, ρ_1 , is less than 0.5. The proof is as follows.

Let $Var(e_{t})=\gamma_{0}$ and $Cov(et-e_{t-1})=\gamma_{1}$. Then $Var(et-e_{t-1})=2(\gamma_{0}-\gamma_{1})=V$. Now $V>\gamma_{0}$ when $2(\gamma_{0}-\gamma_{1})>\gamma_{0}$. This holds when $\rho_{1}<0.5$ since $2(\gamma_{0}-\gamma_{1})>\gamma_{0}\Rightarrow \gamma_{0}>2\gamma_{1}\Rightarrow 1>2\rho_{1}$ as $\rho_{1}=(\gamma_{1}/\gamma_{0})$.

5. Although it would have been more appropriate to use the Philippine Stock Exchange Composite Index, the available data begins only in 1987. However, it may be reasonable to use the Commercial and Industrial index since the component stocks in this subindex account for approximately 92% of the total market capitalization of the stocks in the Composite Index (see Rodrigo, 1993). Moreover, the commercial-industrial sector accounted for 75% of market turnover in 1995 (see Euromoney, 1996). All of the indexes in the sample do not include dividends. It would be ideal to use indexes which include dividends since investors are concerned about total returns. However, due to limitations on dividend data, all analyses are performed on indexes whose component stock prices are not adjusted for dividends. DeFusco et al. (1996) theoretically show that, assuming the discounted cash flow model of asset prices is valid and if expected discount rates and dividend growth rates are stationary processes, then the results of the cointegration tests will be the same whether one uses price indexes excluding dividends or price indexes adjusted for dividends.

6. The cointegration estimation and testing procedures are performed using CATS-PC Version 1.00 and RATS Version 4.2. The estimation procedures in the succeeding chapters are carried out in RATS Version 4.2.

7. We estimate a model with a constant term in order to capture the upward trending behavior of the national stock market price indexes in the sample.

8. The Monte Carlo simulation results of Cheung and Lai (1993) indicate that serial correlation introduces a serious problem for the Johansen procedure. On the other hand, Cushman, Lee and Thorgeirsson (1996) point out that the normality assumption is not as serious as it appears. They argue that for nonnormal \boldsymbol{e}_r , the Johansen estimators become quasi-ML estimators. Moreover, the asymptotic results for the cointegration test statistics do not change, as long as the distribution for \boldsymbol{e}_r satisfies the conditions necessary to invoke the functional central limit theorem (e.g., i.i.d. with finite covariance matrix). Gonzalo (1994) finds that the Johansen procedure provides results that are more robust to deviations from normality than those obtained from other methods of estimating cointegrating relationships.

9. The economic interpretation of and intuition underlying the vector error-correction model follows Engle and Granger (1987, 1991), Johansen (1988, 1991), Johansen and Juselius (1990), and Hansen and Juselius (1995).

10. These results have an implication on the specification of VAR models whose variables are nonstationary in the levels. If the nonstationary time series in the vector system of the VAR are cointegrated, a VAR model in levels is inefficient and may lead to spurious regression results, while that in first differences is misspecified. (See Engle and Granger, 1987)

11. It should be noted that, starting from the late 1970s until the mid 1980s, the Japanese government instituted a wave of major reforms that liberalized the Japanese capital market (see, e.g., Korkie and Nakamura, 1997).

12. On the other hand, Cheung and Lai (1993), using a simple Monte Carlo experiment, examine the potential effects of nonnormal innovations, including nonsymmetric and leptokurtic ones, on the size of Johansen's cointegration tests. Among other things, they find that skewness and excess kurtosis produce a statistically significant effect on the test sizes of both the trace and maximum eigenvalue tests. However, they find that while both tests are reasonably robust to nonnormal disturbances, the trace test shows more robustness to both skewness and excess kurtosis in disturbances than the maximum eigenvalue test.

13. The analysis was also performed with a dummy variable for the international stock market crash of October 1987. The results are similar to the ones reported in this study in which a dummy variable is not included. A problem with including this dummy variable, however, is that it changes the limit distribution of the cointegration test statistics and therefore it is not appropriate to compare them with the critical values reported in Osterwald-Lenum (1992) which were simulated without such dummy variable.

14. Since their values are not uniquely defined, Johansen (1988) suggested normalizing the coefficients of the cointegrating vectors before any inferences about them can be made. An advantage of the Johansen procedure is that the results and implications are

invariant to the chosen normalizing variable. In this study, normalization is performed using the coefficient on the Philippine stock market index.
Bibliography

- Asia Pacific Securities Handbook 1994-1995, P. Jay (ed), Hong Kong: Philip Jay Publishing.
- Baffes, J., 1994, "Does Comovement Among Exchange Rates Imply Market Inefficiency?," Economics Letters 44:273-280.
- Balassa, B., 1991, Economic Policies in the Pacific Area Developing Countries, Great Britain: MacMillan Academic and Professional Ltd.
- Bautista, R., 1992, Development Policy in East Asia: Economic Growth and Poverty Allevation, Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies.
- Bekaert, G., 1995, "Market Integration and Investment Barriers in Emerging Equity Markets," World Bank Economic Review 9:75-107.
- Bossaerts, P., 1988, "Common Nonstationary Components of Asset Prices," Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 12:347-364.
- Buckberg, E., 1995, "Emerging Stock Markets and International Asset Pricing," World Bank Economic Review 9:51-74.
- Campbell, J. and Y. Hamao, 1992, "Predictable Stock Returns in the United States and Japan: A Study of Long-Term Capital Market Integration," Journal of Finance 47:43-69.
- Cheung, Y., J. He and L. Ng, 1995, "What are the Global Sources of Rational Variation in International Equity Returns?," Working Paper, City University of Hong Kong and University of California, Santa Cruz.
- Cheung, Y. and K. Lai, 1993, "Finite Sample Sizes of Johansen's Likelihood Ratio tests for Cointegration," Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 55:313-328.
- Cheung, Y. And L. Ng, June 1996, "International Evidence on the Stock Market and Aggregate Economic Activity," Working Paper No. 81, Department of Economics and Finance, Faculty of Business, City University of Hong Kong.
- Choi, I. and B. Chung, 1995, "Sampling Frequency and the Power of Tests for a Unit Root: A Simulation Study," Economics Letters 49:131-136.
- Chou, R., V. Ng and K. Pi, 1994, "Cointegration of International Stock Market Indices," IMF Working Paper 94/94, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.

- Chung, P. and D. Liu, 1994, "Common Stochastic Trends in Pacific Rim Stock Markets," Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance 34:241-259.
- Corhay, A., A. Tourani Rad, and J. Urbain, 1995, "Long Run Behaviour of Pacific-Basin Stock Prices," Applied Financial Economics 5:11-18.
- Cushman, D., S. Lee, and T. Thorgeirsson, 1996, "Maximum Likelihood Estimation of Cointegration in Exchange Rate Models for Seven Inflationary OECD Countries," Journal of International Money and Finance 15:337-368.
- DeFusco, R., J. Gepper, and G. Tsetsekos, 1996, "Long-Run Diversification Potential in Emerging Stock Markets," The Financial Review 31:343-363.
- de los Angeles, E., 1995, "Philippine Stock Exchange: After the Unification," Speech delivered at the 7th Annual Conference of the Pacific Basin Capital Markets held on July 6-8, 1995, Philippines.
- De Santis, G. and S. Imrohoroglu, 1995, "Stock Returns and Volatility in Emerging Financial Markets," Working Paper, Department of Finance and Business Economics, School of Business Administration, University of Southern California.
- Dickey, A. and W. Fuller, 1981, "Likelihood Ratio Test Statistics for Autoregressive Time Series with a Unit Root," Econometrica 49:1057-72.
 - _____, 1979, "Distribution of the Estimators for Autoregressive Time Series with a Unit Root," Journal of the American Statistical Association 74:427-31.
- Dickey, D., D. Jansen and D. Thorton, 1991, "A Primer on Cointegration with an Application to Money and Income," Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review 73:58-78.
- Diebold, F. and M. Nerlove, 1990, "Unit Roots in Economic Time Series: A Selective Survey," in G. Rhodes and T. Fomby (eds), Advances in Econometrics, Volume 8, Breenwich, CT: JAI Press:3-69.
- Doan, T., 1994, CATS-PC Version 1.00. Illinois: Estima.
- Doornik, J. and H. Hansen, 1994, "An Omnibus Test for Univariate and Multivariate Normality," Working Paper, Nuffield College, Oxford.
- Dwyer, G. and R. Hafer, 1993, "Are National Stock Markets Linked?," in International Financial Market Integration, S. Stansell (ed), Cambridge, Massachusetts: Blackwell Publishers:234-258.

- Dwyer, G. and M. Wallace, 1992, "Cointegration and Market Efficiency," Journal of International Money and Finance 11:318-327.
- Eckbo, B. and J. Liu, 1993, "Temporary Components of Stock Prices: New Univariate Results," Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 28:161-176.
- Engle, R., 1982, "Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity with Estimates of the Variance of United Kingdom Inflation," Econometrica 50:391-407.
- Engle, R. and C. Granger, 1991, "Introduction," in Long-Run Economic Relationships: Readings in Cointegration, R.F. Engle and C.W.J. Granger (eds). New York: Oxford University Press:1-16.

_____, 1987, "Co-integration and Error Correction: Representation, Estimation, and Testing," Econometrica 55:251-76.

Euromoney, 1996, The 1996 Guide to the Philippines, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.

_____, The 1995 Guide to Developments in the World's Equity and Bond Markets, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.

_____, 1994, The 1994 Guide to World Equity Markets, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.

Fama, E., 1991, "Efficient Capital Markets II," Journal of Finance 46:1575-1617.

- _____, 1990, "Stock Returns, Expected Returns, and Real Activity," Journal of Finance 45:1089-1107.
- Fama, E. and K. French, 1989, "Business Conditions and Expected Returns on Stocks and Bonds," Journal of Financial Economics 25:23-49.

Financial Times (London), various issues.

- Fisher, I., 1930, The Theory of Interest Rates, New York: Macmillan.
- Folkerts-Landau, D. and T. Ito, 1995, International Capital Markets: Developments, Prospects and Policy Issues, World Economic Surveys, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- Fuller, W., 1976, Introduction to Statistical Time Series, New York: Wiley & Sons.
- GATT, 1993, Trade Policy Review: The Philippines, Vols. I and II, Geneva: Generall Agreement on Tariffs and Trade.

- Godfrey, L., 1988, Misspecification Tests in Econometrics. The Lagrange Multiplier Principle and Other Approaches. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gonzalo , J., 1994, "Five Alternative Methods of Estimating Long-Run Equilibrium Relationships," Journal of Econometrics 60:203-233.
- Gregory, A., 1994, "Testing for Cointegration in Linear Quadratic Models," Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 12:347-360.
- Hakkio, C. and M. Rush, 1991, "Cointegration: How Short is the Long Run?," Journal of International Money and Finance 10:571-581.
- Hamilton, J., 1994, Time Series Analysis, United Kingdom: Princeton University Press.
- Hansen, H. and K. Juselius, 1995, CATS in RATS: Cointegration Analysis of Time Series. Illinois: Estima.
- Harris, F., T. McInish, G. Shoesmith and R. Wood, 1995, "Cointegration, Error Correction, and Price Discovery on Informationally Linked Security Markets." Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 30:563-579.
- Harvey, C., 1995a, "The Cross-Section of Volatility and Autocorrelation in Emerging Markets," Finanzmarkt und Portfolio Management 9:12-34.

_____, 1995b, "The Risk Exposure of Emerging Equity Markets," World Bank Economic Review 9:19-50.

_____, 1995c, "Predictable Risk and Returns in Emerging Markets." Review of Financial Studies 8:773-816.

_____, 1991, "The World Price of Covariance Risk", Journal of Finance 46:111-157.

- Harvey, C. and G. Bekaert, 1995, "Time-Varying World Market Integration," Journal of Finance 50:403-444.
- Hung, B. and Y. Cheung, 1995, "Interdependence of Asian Emerging Equity Markets," Journal of Business Finance & Accounting 22:281-288.
- International Finance Corporation, 1996, Emerging Stock Market Factbook, Washington, D.C.: International Finance Corporation.
- International Monetary Fund Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions Annual Reports, various issues.

- International Society of Securities Administrators, 1994 Handbook Fifth Edition. Zurich: International Society of Securities Administrators.
- Jarque, C. and A. Bera, 1980, "Efficient Tests for Normality, Homoscedasticity, and Serial Independence of Regression Residuals," Economics Letters 6:255-259.
- Johansen, S., 1991, "Estimation and Hypothesis Testing of Cointegration Vector in Gaussian Vector Autoregressive Models," Econometrica 59:1551-1580.

_____ 1988, "Statistical Analysis of Cointegrating Vectors," Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 12:231-254.

- Johansen, S. and K. Juselius, 1990, "Maximum Likelihood Estimation and Inference on Cointegration - With Application to the Demand for Money," Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 52:169-210.
- Kasa, K., 1992, "Common Stochastic Trends in International Stock Markets," Journal of Monetary Economics 29:95-124.
- Keim, D. and R. Stambaugh, 1986, "Predicting Returns in the Stock and Bond Markets," Journal of Financial Economics 17:357-390.
- Kendall, M. and A. Stuart, 1958, The Advanced Theory of Statistics, Vol.1, New York: Hafner.
- Kim, E. and V. Singal, 1993, "Opening Up of Stock Markets by Emerging Economies: Effect on Portfolio Flows and Volatility of Stock Prices," in Portfolio Investments in Developing Countries, S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228:383-403.
- Korkie, B. And M. Nakamura, 1997, "Block Holding and Keiretsu in Japan: The Effects of Capital Markets Liberalization Measures on the Stock Market," Journal of International Money and Finance 16:113-140.
- Ljung, G. and G. Box, 1978, "On a Measure of Lack of Fit in Time Series Models," Biometrika 67:297-303.
- Lo, A. and A. MacKinlay, 1988, "Stock Prices do not Follow Random Walks: Evidence from a Simple Specification Test," Review of Financial Studies 1:41-66.
- Ma, C., 1993, "Financial Market Integration and Cointegration Tests," in International Financial Market Integration, S. Stansell (ed), Massachusetts: Basil Blackwell Ltd.

- Mills, T., 1993, The Econometric Modelling of Financial Time Series, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Newey, W. and K. West, 1987, "A Simple Positive Semi-Definite Heteroskedasticity and Autocorrelation Consistent Covariance Matrix," Econometrica 55:703-708.
- Osterwald-Lenum, M., 1992, "A Note with Quantiles of the Asymptotic Distribution of the Maximum Likelihood Cointegration Rank Test Statistics," Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 54:461-472.
- Perron, P., 1991, "Test Consistency with Varying Sampling Frequency," Econometric Theory 7:341-368.
- Phillips, P. and P. Perron, 1988, "Testing for a Unit Root in Time Series Regression." Biometrica 75:277-301.
- Portable Encyclopedia for Doing Business with the Philippines, 1996, E. Hinkelman (ed), California: World Trade Press.
- Reinsel, G. and S.K. Ahn, 1992, "Vector Autoregressive Models with Unit Roots and Reduced Rank Structure: Estimation, Likelihood Ratio Test, and Forecasting." Journal of Time Series Analysis 13:353-375.

_____, 1988, "Asymptotic Properties of the Likelihood Ratio Test for Cointegration in the Non-Stationary Vector AR Model," Technical Report Wisconsin: Department of Statistics, University of Wisconsin.

- Richards, A., 1995, "Comovements in National Stock Market Returns: Evidence of Predictability, But not Cointegration," Journal of Monetary Economics 46:631-654.
- Ripley, D., 1973, "Systematic Elements in the Linkage of National Stock Market Indices," Review of Economics and Statistics 55:356-361.
- Rodrigo, F., 1993, "The Philippines," in The World's Emerging Stock Markets: Structure, Developments, Regulations and Opportunities, K. Park and A. Agtmael (eds), Chicago: Probus Publishing Company:181-196.
- Shenton, L. and K. Bowman, 1977, "A Bivariate Model for the distribution of $\sqrt{b_1}$ and b_2 ," Journal of American Statistical Association 72:206-211.
- Shiller, R. and P. Perron, 1985, "Testing the Random Walk Hypothesis: Power versus Frequency of Observation," Economics Letters 18:381-386.

- Stulz, R., 1981, "On the Effects of Barriers to International Investment." Journal of Finance 36:923-34.
- Taylor, M. and I. Tonks, 1989, "The Internationalisation of Stock Markets and the Abolition of U.K. Exchange Control," Review of Economics and Statistics 71:332-336.
- Turtle, H., 1991, Asset Pricing Models with Time Varying Moments, Unpublished Dissertation, Faculty of Business, University of Alberta.
- Turtle, H., A. Buse and B. Korkie, 1994, "Tests of Conditional Asset Pricing with Time-Varying Moments and Risk Prices," Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 29:15-29.

Wall Street Journal, various issues.

Whitelaw, R., 1994, "Time Variations and Covariations in the Expectation and Volatility of Stock Market Returns," Journal of Finance 49:515-541.

Chapter 3

U.S. Investors' Response to Philippine Capital Market Liberalization: Evidence from the First Philippine Fund

3.1. Purpose of the Study

This study investigates how U.S. investors view Philippine barriers to international investments and the recent steps taken by the Philippine government in liberalizing these restrictions. In particular, we use data on the First Philippine Fund (FPF), a closed-end country fund traded at the New York Stock Exchange, to provide evidence on how existing international investment restrictions have effectively segmented the Philippine capital market from the international capital markets. We test whether restrictions on international investments in the Philippines are effective and whether the announced relaxation of these restrictions are deemed important by U.S. investors by examining if announcements of *changes* in the investment restrictions in the Philippines are related to *changes* in the premiums and discounts of the FPF closed-end country fund.

3.1.1. The First Philippine Fund

One of the country funds designed for overseas investors wishing to gain access into the Philippine capital market is the First Philippine Fund (FPF). The FPF is the largest of five closed-end country funds investing in Philippine securities and the only one listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Launched in November 8, 1989, this nondiversified, publicly traded management investment company invests primarily in equity securities of Philippine companies.¹ As was mentioned in Chapter 1, prior to the implementation of the Philippine Foreign Investments Act of 1991, foreign equity participation was limited to 40 percent in most economic activities. Most companies that fall into these restricted areas generally classify their shares into two categories: "A" shares and "B" shares. "A" shares are reserved for Filipino nationals, while "B" shares can be purchased by both foreign and local investors.² Other than this ownership restriction, there are no distinctions between the rights, preferences and limitations of the two classes of shares. However, the FPF is the only country fund permitted by the Philippine government to invest in "A" shares of domestic companies that are otherwise available only to Philippine nationals. This feature makes the FPF an easily accessible alternative to direct investment in the restricted Philippine capital market.

3.1.2. Theoretical Framework and Previous Empirical Studies

Similar to their domestic counterparts, closed-end foreign country funds trade at premiums or discounts over their Net Asset Values (NAVs). However, in contrast to domestic closed-end funds, the foreign country fund's NAV is not determined in the same market as its share price. Its NAV is determined by the prices of the underlying securities traded on the foreign market. Given that country funds and their underlying assets are close substitutes, then, if capital markets are integrated internationally, a closed-end country fund's shares and its underlying assets should have similar risk. However, Eun and Janakiramanan (1986) and Hietala (1989) argue that barriers to international investment can cause the expected returns on assets of equal risk to differ across countries. Based on these models, non-zero country fund premiums imply some market segmentation.

Eun and Janakiramanan (1986) and Hietala (1989) assume quantitative limits on cross-ownership of assets as the form of international investment barrier. In their models, a foreign country has two classes of shares: (a) restricted shares that only the foreign country's nationals can buy and (b) unrestricted shares that can be purchased by both the foreign country's nationals and overseas investors. The foreign country's government imposes limits on the fraction of the unrestricted shares. They show that when these limits are binding, the unrestricted shares sell at a premium relative to the restricted shares with the premium depending on the covariance matrix of returns and investor preferences. The assets underlying the closed-end country funds are analogous to the restricted shares, while the country funds' shares themselves can be considered as the unrestricted shares. Thus, these models suggest that imposition of binding quantitative restrictions will increase the price-to-NAV ratio of the fund investing in that country above the level prevailing in the absence of such restrictions.³

An intuitive explanation of the preceding inferences is as follows. Suppose that a particular country legally prohibits foreign investors from directly purchasing its local equity securities. Assume that the only means by which a foreign investor can gain access to this country's equity market is through a closed-end fund, which is allowed to invest in the local securities. This fund will, most likely, have value to diversification-minded foreign investors and possibly sell at a premium over its NAV.⁴ Therefore, when the restrictions are relaxed and direct purchase of the securities underlying the fund becomes easier, the fund is likely to have lesser value for the foreign investor. Consequently, the demand for the fund's shares decreases and thus the fund's shares are likely to sell at a lesser premium than before. At the same time, it is possible that foreign investors shift their capital from the country fund to direct purchases of the host country's equities which in turn increases the NAV of the country fund. This reinforces the effect of reducing the premium or increasing discount on the country fund.⁵

In summary, the preceding models imply that the price-to-NAV ratios of country funds can be affected by barriers to international investments if these restrictions are effective. This allows us to test whether changes in investment restrictions are associated with changes in the country fund's premiums or discounts. In particular, the preceding models suggest that, *ceteris paribus*, an announcement of a tightening of existing barriers should increase the premium or reduce the discount on a closed end country fund investing in a country if this country's international investment restrictions are effective. Similarly, an announcement of a liberalization of the restrictions should reduce the premium or increase the discount on the fund. Tests of these hypotheses do not necessitate an underlying asset pricing model nor do they require measures of the effectiveness of the barriers to international investments. This is because when international capital markets are fully integrated, the shares of a closed-end country fund and its underlying assets should have similar risk. Consequently the fund's share price should be priced like domestic funds.

Using this theoretical framework, Bonser-Neal, Brauer, Neal and Wheatley (1990) examine whether a relation exists between announcements of changes in investment restrictions and changes in closed-end country funds' premiums and discounts using weekly data from May 1981 to January 1989 for five funds trading in New York. For four country funds in their sample, they find a significant decrease in the fund's premiums (or decrease in discounts) either in anticipation of or during the three weeks surrounding the announcement of a liberalization of investment restrictions. Overall, their results indicate that changes in country fund premiums are sensitive to announcements of changes in foreign country regulations that restrict investments. They find that across all country funds an announcement of a relaxation of investment restrictions is significantly associated with a 6.8% decline in the price-net asset value ratio during the event period. This suggests that government-imposed barriers to international investments have been effective in segmenting international capital markets. This is because announced changes in international investment restrictions, on average, would have had no impact on fund premiums if the restrictions had not been effective.

Although not conclusive, there is some evidence that country funds that invest in markets with difficult access have relatively high premiums. For example, Bonser-Neal et al. (1990) find that closed end country funds investing in markets which restrict foreign access have traded on average at premiums while funds investing in the less restricted markets have traded on average at discounts. However, they doubt if the relationship between the severity of barriers to international investments and the level of a country fund's premium is monotonic since some funds investing in countries which impose restrictions on foreign investment have traded on average at discounts. Likewise, Bodurtha, Kim and Lee (1995) find that, while most country funds in their sample trade at an average discount, some funds that operate in countries, which have very strict foreign ownership restrictions have traded at average premiums. Moreover, they find that funds investing in securities of countries with greater foreign ownership restrictions tend to have higher premiums or smaller discounts. However, they find that some funds investing in countries with strict foreign ownership restrictions, including the Philippines, exhibit discounts on average.

3.1.3. Scope and Limitations of the Study

We would like to emphasize at the outset that the focus of this study is only on how regulatory changes in Philippine international investment restrictions have affected the premiums and discounts of the FPF closed-end country fund. This paper does not seek to explain why the FPF closed-end country fund trades at a premium or discount nor does it investigate the determinants of this fund's premium or discount and the extent of international diversification benefits that the fund offers. Readers are referred to the studies of Chang, Eun and Kolodny (1995), Bodurtha et al. (1995), Hardouvelis, La Porta and Wizman (1994), Johnson, Schneeweis and Dinning (1993), and Diwan, Errunza and Senbet (1993) which address these issues.

As was mentioned in Chapter 1, there are other country funds devoted to investing in Philippine securities and which are traded in the London stock exchange. It would have been interesting to examine how European investors view the announced changes in the international investment restrictions in the Philippines as well. However, data on these country funds are not readily available.

3.2. DATA DESCRIPTION AND SAMPLE CHARACTERISTICS

The initial sample comprises weekly closing prices and NAVs of the FPF covering the period November 24, 1989 to December 29, 1995.⁶ Both fund share price and NAV are reported in US dollars and are collected from The Wall Street Journal. Data on the amount of dividends and capital gains distributions, including the announcement and ex-dividend dates, were obtained from Standard & Poors NYSE Stock Reports. Like other closed-end country funds, the FPF's NAV is valued in local currency as of Friday's close in the foreign country and translated into US dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that time. The fund's weekly (percentage) premiums over the net asset value are constructed as:

$$PD_{t} = \left[\frac{SP_{t} - NAV_{t}}{NAV_{t}}\right] \times 100$$

where PD_t = premium (discount) of the fund at the end of week t

 SP_{t} = stock price of the fund at end of week t

 NAV_{t} = net asset value of the fund at end of week t

The reported fund prices and net asset values are only approximately synchronous because a difference of 17 hours exist between exists between the Philippine stock exchange close and New York's close.

Figure 3.1 plots the fund's premium over the initial sample period. The vertical bars correspond to the weeks of April 5, 1991, November 27, 1992 and March 3, 1995. respectively, when the fund did not report its NAV. The procedure for estimating these missing values is discussed later in this section. The plot shows that during the first four

months after launch (from November 24, 1989 to March 23, 1990), the FPF wastrading at a premium after which the fund was and has since been selling at a discount over its NAV.

The FPF was launched in November 1989 when the Philippine market was booming amid hopes that the country was finally set to join the ranks of Asia's newly industrialized countries. More importantly, as discussed earlier, the FPF is the only country fund permitted by the Philippine government to invest in "A" shares of companies that are otherwise available only to Philippine nationals. This possibly explains the premium when the fund was launched. However, within several weeks of the launching of the fund, right wing factions of the military attempted to overthrow the Philippine government. This adversely affected the Philippine stock market causing the Manila Stock Exchange Composite Index to fall by 26% within one week after trading resumed. In response to the coup attempt, combined with the perception that prices of Philippine securities had been inflated by speculators in anticipation of the fund's entry into the market, the FPF adopted a policy of proceeding cautiously into the market. The fund remained primarily in cash (non-peso cash and cash equivalents as US Treasury bonds) such that total investments in Philippine common stocks stood at 0.3% of total net assets of the fund as of December 31, 1989, gradually increasing to 24.5% as of June 30, 1990, and then to 27.4% as of December 31, 1990.⁷ Clearly, changes in premium during the first four months had more to do with investor sentiment in the US than with the economic fundamentals in the Philippines."

Therefore, following Johnson et al. (1993), we exclude from the sample the fourmonth period immediately following the initial public offering of the FPF. By doing so, the fund's share price (and consequently the fund's percentage premium/discount) is thus not biased by initial marketing efforts and speculation by local holders of Philippine securities. Moreover, changes in the premium confounded by the effect of the December 1989 attempted coup is avoided. Consequently, the adjusted sample used for this study covers the period March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995.

Based on the adjusted sample, the missing observations on the NAV were estimated as follows (see Beveridge, 1992). First, the NAVs are adjusted to include dividends and capital gains distributed during the period.⁹ Secondly, autoregressive (AR) models were estimated for the NAV series immediately prior to the first missing observation. Similarly, AR models were estimated for the series of NAV immediately after the first missing observation up to the observation immediately before the second missing observation and for the series of NAV immediately after the second missing observation up to the observation immediately before the second missing observation up to the observation immediately before the third missing observation. Using the Schwarz Information Criterion (SIC), an AR(1) was found to be the best model in each case. In each case, the estimate of the AR(1) coefficient is significant and very close to 1 and the residual autocorrelations of the estimated model are all statistically insignificant at the 0.01 level. These suggest that the NAV series follows a random walk. To confirm this, each series was first differenced. The autocorrelations of each of the first difference series are all statistically insignificant. Therefore, the best estimate (minimum mean squared error) of each of the three missing values is obtained by taking a simple average of the NAV observations, with dividends and capital gains payments included, immediately before and after the missing value and then deducting the dividends and capital gains payments.

Figure 3.2 shows the FPF's weekly discount over the adjusted sample period March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995. On average, the FPF has traded at a discount of 19% over this sample period. The plot suggests a sizable variation in the fund's discount over time. The following section discusses the procedure for testing whether some of this variation can be explained by announcements of changes in the Philippines' international investment restrictions.

3.3. METHODOLOGY

3.3.1. Identification of Events

The criteria for selecting the events related to changes in barriers to international investment in the Philippines is as follows. Following Bonser-Neal et al. (1990), we consider two types of regulatory changes: (a) changes in restrictions that directly affect or signal changes in the ability of foreign investors to acquire the shares of Philippine companies or the ability of local investors to invest outside the Philippines (e.g., capital controls affecting direct investment and portfolio investment) and, (b) changes in restrictions that affect the ability of investors to obtain the currency required to purchase local or foreign assets (e.g., capital controls affecting nonresident accounts and resident foreign exchange accounts).¹⁰ An initial list of the events is obtained from the International Monetary Fund's Annual Report on Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions. If the announcement dates for the identified events are not in this source, then the announcement dates are collected from The Wall Street Journal. An event is dropped from the list if its announcement date could not be found. Likewise, events are dropped from the initial list if multiple announcements of changes in investment restrictions occurred within less than six weeks of each other. Five events, all of which happen to entail a liberalization of international investment restrictions, satisfied the preceding criteria. A description of these events is provided in Appendix D.

3.3.2. Tests of the Effects of Changes in International Investment Restrictions

This section describes the procedure for testing whether announcements of changes in the foreign investment restrictions in the Philippines are associated with changes in the FPF's premiums or discounts.

If the existing international investment barriers prior to the regulatory changes are effective, an announcement of a liberalization of investment restrictions should be associated with an increase in the discount of the FPF. The null hypothesis is that announcements of liberalization of international investment restrictions in the Philippines do not affect the FPF's discounts. The alternative hypothesis is that announcements of liberalization of international investment restrictions increase the discount of the fund. We only consider the impact of announcements related to a relaxation of investment restrictions since all of the events in the sample happen to involve some form of liberalization.

We test this hypothesis using the regression model:

$$\Delta P D_t = \beta_0 + \beta_1 D_{1t} + \beta_2 D_{2t} + \beta_3 D_{3t} + \varepsilon_t \tag{1}$$

where ΔPD_t is the change in the fund's discount in week t, $D_{1t}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a relaxation of the Philippines' investment restrictions and 0 otherwise, $D_{2t}=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a relaxation of the Philippines' investment restrictions and 0 otherwise. and $D_3=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a relaxation of the Philippines' investment restrictions and 0 otherwise.¹¹ A three-week window is used as the event period in order to reduce the potential for bias in the estimates of the coefficients in Equation (1) due to the effects of nonsynchronous trading, lagged reporting of the fund's price and NAV and possibly lagged reporting of the event itself. Table 3.1 shows that there are some positive and statistically significant noncontemporaneous cross-correlations between the fund's share price changes and changes in NAV. In particular, the statistically significant cross-correlation coefficient of 0.14 at lag -1 indicates that a change in the fund's share price over one week predicts the change in the fund's NAV over the next week. On the other hand, the crosscorrelation coefficient of 0.23 at lag 1 suggests that a change in the NAV over one week predicts the change in the fund's share price over the next week. These are consistent with reporting lags or nonsynchronous trading which cause recorded prices and NAVs to respond at different times to new information.¹²

The parameters β_1 , β_2 , and β_3 measure the effects on the FPF's discount changes of announced changes in international investment restrictions in the Philippines. The coefficient β_1 measures the average weekly change in the fund's discount prior to the announcement of regulatory changes; β_3 measures the average weekly change in the fund's discount after the announcement while β_2 measures the average weekly change in the fund's discount during the three-week period surrounding the announcement. These parameters are estimated using ordinary least squares and their statistical significance are determined based on Newey and West (1987) adjusted standard errors and t-statistics which are robust to serial correlation and heteroscedasticity.¹³ Holding all other things constant, the coefficient β_2 should not be significantly different from zero under the null hypothesis. On the other hand, under the alternative hypothesis, this coefficient should be negative and statistically significant if the barriers to international investments that existed before the announced liberalizations have effectively restricted foreign access to the Philippine capital market. Prior to estimating Equation (1), we adjust the fund's discount changes to remove any dividend/capital gains payment announcement effect and ex-dividend/capital gains effect. The details of the adjustment procedures are discussed in the Appendix B of Bonser-Neal et al. (1990).¹⁴

3.4. EMPIRICAL RESULTS

Table 3.2 shows the results of estimating Equation (1). The t-ratios reported in parentheses below the estimated coefficients are for one-tailed tests of the null hypothesis that $\beta_i \ge 0$ against the alternative that $\beta_i < 0$, i=1, 2 and 3.

The estimate of the coefficient β_2 indicates that, on average, an announcement of a relaxation of investment restrictions in the Philippines is associated with a 0.45% increase in the fund's discount. However, while the estimate of the coefficient β_2 is of the expected sign, the null hypothesis that the announcement of a liberalization of investment restrictions has no effect on the fund's discount during the three weeks surrounding the announcement cannot be rejected at the conventional levels of significance. This result suggests that U.S. investors did not react to the announced liberalizations during the event period.

Table 3.2 also reports the results of testing the null hypotheses that discounts do not increase during the weeks before and after the announcement period. The hypothesis that $\beta_1 \ge 0$ cannot be rejected at the conventional levels of significance. This indicates that U.S. investors did not react prior to the announcement period. Likewise, the hypothesis that $\beta_3 \ge 0$ cannot be rejected at the conventional levels of significance. suggesting that there is no delayed response to the announced regulatory changes.¹⁵

Overall, the results indicate that U.S. investors did not respond to the aggregate announcement of relaxations in international investment restrictions during the sample period. This finding suggests either that U.S. investors perceived the prior restrictions as ineffective or that they viewed the announced regulatory changes as unimportant (i.e. not a major relaxation of existing restrictions).

That the insignificant announcement effect suggests that the prior international investment restrictions in the Philippines have been viewed by U.S. investors as ineffective is somewhat surprising since prior to the major liberalization of the Philippine foreign investment policy in November 1991, foreign investors perceived the then existing restrictions as impediments to foreign investments. In particular, foreign investors have expressed that the foreign equity ownership restrictions of the Philippines is the most stringent among all ASEAN countries (see Unite, 1995). As was discussed in Chapter 1, foreign participation was limited to 40% of equity in most businesses in the Philippines prior to this policy change. Ownership restrictions are most often effective for these firms since most companies that fall into these restricted areas generally classify

their shares into two categories: "A" shares and "B" shares. That this restriction is effective is evidenced by the fact that the Central Bank of the Philippines can monitor stock purchases by foreigners as they are legally allowed only to purchase "B" shares. Moreover, the Central Bank requires that such acquisitions be registered in order to qualify for repatriation of dividends and the proceeds resulting from subsequent sale. On the other hand, before the liberalization of the banking sector, entry of foreign banks and equity ownership of domestic banks and financial institutions by foreigners were highly regulated by the Central Bank of the Philippines via the General Banking Act and other laws under the supervision of the Central Bank. Moreover, under prior foreign exchange regulations, repatriation of capital and remittance of dividends and interest require approval by the Central Bank and were staggered from three to nine years.

Previous studies using closed-end country funds to gauge the impact of capital market liberalization have concentrated on analyzing the effect of the aggregate announcements of such regulatory changes. It is possible that when such studies find insignificant announcement effects, it could have been because they did not differentiate between announcements which are more likely to be important to foreign investors wishing to directly participate in the domestic stock market and those which are not.¹⁶ Therefore, it is possible that a significant announcement effect is observed only if the restrictions are effective and at the same time U.S. investors perceive the announced liberalization of the restriction as important (i.e., a major relaxation). Consequently, the prior international investment restrictions in the Philippines may have been effective but the significant effect of important announcements on the FPF's discount changes are washed out by the insignificant effects of announcements which are deemed unimportant by investors. This possibly resulted to the overall announcement effect being insignificant when all announcements are considered collectively. We discount the possibility that the announced changes were fully anticipated since the preannouncement coefficient is found to be insignificant.

In order to test this hypothesis, we classify the events in the sample into three groups: (a) announcements related to a major relaxation of foreign equity participation limits via the Foreign Investment Act of 1991 (events dated 6/6/91 and 6/22/94), (b) announcements related to relaxation of foreign exchange restrictions (events dated 1/3/92 and 8/10/92), and (c) announcements related to the liberalization entry of foreign banks to operate in the Philippines which is not covered by the Foreign Investment Act of 1991 (event dated 10/14/94). Although both involve a major relaxation of foreign equity participation limits, the last category was treated separately from the first one because it applies more to direct equity investors, who seek a degree of control over the local company, than to individual portfolio investors.

The new regression model is:

$$\Delta PD_{t} = \alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}FIA_{1t} + \alpha_{2}FIA_{2t} + \alpha_{3}FIA_{3t} + \alpha_{4}FX_{1t} + \alpha_{5}FX_{2t} + \alpha_{6}FX_{3t} + \alpha_{7}BK_{1t} + \alpha_{8}BK_{2t} + \alpha_{9}BK_{3t} + u_{t}$$
(2)

where ΔPD_t is the change in the fund's premium in week t, $FIA_{1t}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a liberalization of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking and 0 otherwise, $FIA_{2}=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a liberalization of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking and 0 otherwise, and $FIA_3=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a liberalization of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking and 0 otherwise; $FX_{1t}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a liberalization of foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise, $FX_{2}=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a liberalization of foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise, and $FX_{3r}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise; $BK_{1}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of liberalization of entry of foreign banks and 0 otherwise, $BK_2=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of liberalization of entry of foreign banks and 0 otherwise, and $BK_{3t}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of liberalization of entry of foreign banks and 0 otherwise. Longer windows for the pre- and post-announcement periods were also considered but they produced similar results.

The coefficients α_2 , α_4 and α_6 measure the average weekly change in the fund's discount during the three-week period surrounding the announcement of regulatory changes in foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking. foreign exchange restrictions, and foreign banks entry restrictions, respectively. α_1 , α_4 and α_7 measure the average weekly effect on the fund's discount before the announcement of regulatory changes on foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking, foreign exchange restrictions and foreign banks entry restrictions in the fund's discount before the announcement of regulatory changes on foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking, foreign exchange restrictions and foreign banks entry restrictions, respectively. The coefficients α_3 , α_6 and α_9 capture the effects of changes in the fund's discount after the announcement of regulatory changes on foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking, foreign exchange restrictions and foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking, foreign exchange restrictions and foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking, foreign exchange restrictions and foreign equity participation limits on economic areas other than banking, foreign exchange restrictions and foreign banks entry restrictions, respectively.

Table 3.3 summarizes the results of estimating Equation (2). The t-ratios reported in parentheses below the estimated coefficients are for one-tailed tests of the null hypothesis that $\alpha_i \ge 0$ against the alternative that $\alpha_i < 0$, i=1 to 9.

The estimate of the coefficient α_2 indicates that during the three-week event period, an announcement of a liberalization of foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking is on average associated with a 1.53% increase in the fund's discount. The Newey-West adjusted t-ratio suggests that the null hypothesis that the announcement of a relaxation of foreign equity participation restrictions has no effect on the fund's discount during the three weeks surrounding the announcement can be rejected at the 1 percent level of significance. On the other hand, although the estimate of the coefficient corresponding to announcements of relaxation of foreign exchange restrictions, α_4 , is of the expected sign, it is statistically insignificant, suggesting that announcement of a liberalization of foreign exchange restrictions has no effect on the fund's discount during the three weeks surrounding the announcement. Meanwhile, the estimate of the coefficient corresponding to the announcement of the liberalization of entry of foreign banks in the Philippines, α_6 , is positive, contrary to what is expected. However, this estimated coefficient is statistically insignificant suggesting that the announcement of the liberalization of entry of foreign banks in the Philippines has no effect on the fund's discount.

For each group of announcements, the results of testing the null hypothesis that the fund's discounts do not increase during the weeks before the event period are also reported in Table 3.3. The hypothesis that $\alpha_1 \ge 0$, $\alpha_4 \ge 0$ or $\alpha_7 \ge 0$, cannot be rejected at the conventional levels of significance. These results suggest that changes in Philippine investment restrictions on each of the three groups of announcements have not been anticipated by U.S. investors. These results also indicate that the insignificant effects for announcements related to regulatory changes in foreign exchange restrictions and liberalization of entry of foreign banks is not a consequence of the announcements having been anticipated by U.S. investors. Likewise, the null hypotheses that the FPF's discounts do not fall during the weeks after the event period for each group of announcements are also tested. The null hypothesis that $\alpha_3 \ge 0$, $\alpha_6 \ge 0$, or $\alpha_9 \ge 0$ cannot be rejected at the conventional levels of significance indicating that there is no delayed response to each group of announcements.

The finding of a significant effect for announcements related to the relaxation of foreign equity participation in most areas of economic activity other than banking suggests that U.S. investors view these regulatory changes as important and the existing restrictions as effective. In fact, the passage of the Foreign Investment Act of 1991 which opened virtually all areas of economic activity to up to 100% foreign ownership is considered as the most resolute step taken by the Philippine government to reverse its once unfriendly attitude towards foreign investors.

On the other hand, the insignificant effects of announcements related to the liberalization of foreign exchange restrictions and relaxation of restrictions on entry of foreign banks suggest that U.S. investors perceive the announced changes as relatively unimportant. Prior to the announced foreign exchange liberalization which allowed full and immediate repatriation of foreign investment proceeds without need for prior approval by the Central Bank of the Philippines, full repatriation and remittance privileges for foreign investments were already allowed though on a staggered basis and subject to approval by the Central Bank. The announced liberalization of entry of foreign banks effected via a purchase of 60% of the voting stock of an existing domestic bank or through a new banking subsidiary incorporated in the Philippines may have been viewed by individual portfolio investors as unimportant. This is because banking liberalization mostly affects institutional investors who seek control of the domestic enterprise through direct investment than individual portfolio investors who seek

potential global diversification benefits via country funds. Bodhurta et al. (1995) document that as of December 1990, institutional ownership in the First Philippine Fund only constitute 12% of the total shares of the fund. Alternatively, the U.S. investors may have perceived this announcement to be of minor importance relative to the announced opening up of other sectors of economic activity.

The events in the sample were also classified simply into two groups: announcements related to the liberalization of foreign equity participation limits (Foreign Investment Act of 1991 and banking liberalization combined) and those related to a liberalization of foreign exchange restrictions. The results, reported in Table 3.4, are similar to those of the second model, though weaker in terms of statistical significance. On average, an announcement of relaxation of foreign equity limits in general are associated with a 0.93% increase in the discount of the FPF country fund during the three week period surrounding the announcement. This announcement effect is statistically significant at the 0.07 level, although weaker than when announcements related to the Foreign Investment Act of 1991 are classified in a separate group. On the other hand, the estimated coefficient corresponding to the announcement of relaxation of foreign exchange restrictions is positive, contrary to what is expected. However, this coefficient is statistically insignificant. The test of the hypothesis that the fund's discounts rise during the weeks prior to the announcement period can be rejected at the conventional levels of significance for each group of announcements. This implies that the announcements have not been anticipated by investors. Likewise, there are no indications of delayed response to the announced regulatory changes.

The finding that announcements related to the relaxation of foreign equity participation limits is significant suggests that the existing barriers in this category effectively restrict foreign investors access to the Philippine equity market. However, that the announcement effect is weakly significant when the banking liberalization is included in the announcements related to the Foreign Investment Act of 1991 suggests that the impact on the fund's discount is stronger only when the foreign equity ownership other than banking is relaxed.

3.5. CONCLUSION

In this study, we investigate the impact of liberalization of international investment restrictions in the Philippines on the discounts of the First Philippine Fund closed end country fund. We test whether announcements of changes in investment restrictions are associated with changes in the fund's premiums and discounts. If the barriers to international investments are effective, announced liberalizations of restrictions should reduce the premium or increase the discount of the country fund.

The overall results suggest that there is evidence supporting the hypothesis that changes in the FPF's discounts are associated with announcements of changes in international investment restrictions. However, although there are indications that the existing barriers are effective, a significant relationship appears to hold only when announcements are deemed important by U.S. investors. Specifically, the results suggest that announcements of liberalization of investment restrictions that limit foreign equity participation in areas of business other than banking and financial institutions is significantly associated with an increase in the fund's discount. On the other hand, the announcements related to the relaxation of foreign exchange restrictions (in particular the removal of restrictions on the ability of foreign banks to operate in the Philippines seem to be viewed by individual portfolio investors as relatively unimportant. There are no indications that the investors fully anticipated these announcements.

The findings of the study provide evidence that the Philippine barriers to international investments represented by foreign equity ownership limits in most economic activities have been effective and that announced liberalization of this restriction is deemed important by U.S. investors. The results also indicate that the foreign equity ownership restriction has been effective in segmenting the Philippine equity market. One implication of this evidence is that, all else constant, the foreign equity ownership restrictions raised the required return on Philippine equities. To the extent that Philippine companies finance new investment projects through the stock market, ownership restrictions increased the cost of capital for the domestic firms. Therefore, the finding that the FPF's discount increases with the liberalization of ownership restrictions implies a reduction in the cost of raising capital in the Philippine stock market.

| Table 3.1: Sample Cross-Correlations Between Fund Share Price Changes and Net Asset Value Changes of the FPF Closed-end | |
|---|--|
| Country Fund Computed Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995' | |

| | | | | | | Lag | | | | | | |
|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|---------|----------|---------|--------|---------|--------|--------|--------|
| -6 | -5 | -4 | -3 | -2 | -1 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| 0.07 | 0.03 | 0.01 | 0.06 | -0.02 | 0.14 | 0.54 | 0.23 | 0.04 | 0.2 | -0.01 | -0.08 | -0.05 |
| (1.26) | (0.55) | (0.10) | (1.05) | (0.30) | (2.48)* | (11.07)* | (4.08)* | (0.64) | (3,48)* | (0.25) | (1.42) | (0.89) |

* Figures in parentheses are t-ratios The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 level.

Table 3.2: Test of the Effect of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions on the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Discount Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995*

$\Delta PD_{i}=\beta_{0}+\beta_{1}D_{1i}+\beta_{2}D_{2i}+\beta_{3}D_{3i}+\epsilon_{i}$

where ΔPD_t is the change in the FPF's discount in week t

- $D_{1}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a loosening of the Philippines' investment restrictions and 0 otherwise
- $D_{2i}=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a loosening of the Philippines' investment restrictions and 0 otherwise

 $D_{3r}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a loosening of the Philippines' investment restrictions and 0 otherwise.

| Estimate | |
|----------|---|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| (0.33) | |
| -0.449 | |
| (-0.83) | |
| 0.05 | |
| (0.09) | |
| 0.0015 | |
| | -0.034 (-0.23) 0.188 (0.33) -0.449 (-0.83) 0.05 (0.09) |

* Figures in parentheses are t-ratios for tests of the hypotheses $\beta \ge 0$ against the alternative that $\beta < 0$, i=0, 1, 2, 3. based on OLS regression with standard errors computed using the Newey-West (1987) correction for heteroscedasticity and 3rd-order serial correlation.

Table 3.3: Tests of the Effect of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions by Category of Regulatory Change on the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Discount Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995

 $\Delta PD = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 FIA_{11} + \alpha_2 FIA_{22} + \alpha_3 FIA_{31} + \alpha_4 FX_{14} + \alpha_5 FX_{24} + \alpha_6 FX_{34} + \alpha_7 BK_{14} + \alpha_8 BK_{24} + \alpha_8 BK_{34} + \alpha_4 BK_{34}$

- where ΔPD_t is the change in the FPF's discount in week t
 - FIA₁=1 if *t* is between two and seven weeks before the armouncement of a loosening of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking and 0 otherwise
 - FIA2=1 if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking and 0 otherwise
 - $FIA_3 = 1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas other than banking and 0 otherwise:
 - $FX_{1r}=1$ if r is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise
 - $FX_2=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise
 - $FX_{3t}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise
 - $BK_{t,r}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of liberalization of entry of foreign banks and 0 otherwise
 - $BK_{2}=1$ if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of liberalization of entry of foreign banks and 0 otherwise

BK3,=1 if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of liberalization of entry of foreign banks and 0 otherwise.

| Parameter | Estimate |
|----------------|----------|
| 0% | -0.034 |
| | (-0.23) |
| α_{i} | 0.473 |
| | (0.44) |
| a: | -1.529 |
| | (-2.88)* |
| α, | 0.055 |
| | (0.07) |
| <i>α</i> ., | -0.325 |
| | (-0.48) |
| <u> </u> | 0.28 |
| | (0.36) |
| C 4 | 0.49 |
| | (0.69) |
| C 7 | 0.646 |
| | (0.66) |
| Ci. | 0.254 |
| | (0.47) |
| <i>Cli</i> p | -0.842 |
| | (-0.75) |
| R ^è | 0.0103 |

^a Figures in parentheses are t-ratios for tests of the hypotheses $\alpha \ge 0$ against the alternative that $\alpha_i < 0$, i=0, 1, 2, ..., 9. based on OLS regression with standard errors computed using the Newey-West (1987) correction for heteroscedasticity and 3rd-order serial correlation.

The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 level.

Table 3.4: Tests of the Effect of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions by Category of Regulatory Change on the FPF Closed-end Country Fund Discount Using Weekly Data from March 30, 1990 to December 29, 1995

 $\Delta PD = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 FIABK_{11} + \gamma_2 FIABK_{21} + \gamma_3 FIABK_{31} + \gamma_4 FX_{11} + \gamma_5 FX_{22} + \gamma_6 FX_{32} + \eta_1$

where ΔPD_t is the change in the FPF's discount in week t

- FIABK₁=1 if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a loosening of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas including banking and 0 otherwise
- FIABK_=1 if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas including banking and 0 otherwise
- FIABK₃=1 if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign equity participation limits in economic areas including and 0 otherwise:
- $FX_{L}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks before the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise
- FX₂=1 if t is between one week before and one week after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise
- $FX_{3}=1$ if t is between two and seven weeks after the announcement of a loosening of the foreign exchange restrictions and 0 otherwise

| Parameter | Estimate |
|------------|------------|
| × | -0.034 |
| | (-0.23) |
| Yi . | 0.531 |
| | (-0.67) |
| ř. | -0.934 |
| - | (-1.55)*** |
| ×. | -0.244 |
| - | (-0.36) |
| ¥. | -0.325 |
| 1 - | (-0.48) |
| 75 | 0.280 |
| - | (0.36) |
| K | 0.490 |
| | (0.69) |
| R | 0.0068 |

* Figures in parentheses are t-ratios for tests of the hypotheses $\chi \ge 0$ against the alternative that $\chi < 0$, i=0, 1,2,...,6, based on OLS regression with standard errors computed using the Newey-West (1987) correction for heteroscedasticity and 3rd-order serial correlation.

The superscript *** denotes significance at the 0.07 level.





Notes

1. Nondiversified means that the country fund is not limited by the US Investment Company Act of 1940 in the proportion of its assets that it may invest in the securities of a single issuer (Standard & Poor's, 1989).

2. It must be noted, however, that not all companies follow this "A" share/"B" share convention. Exceptions include (a) companies that are not involved in restricted areas of business and do not own land and (b) companies that float a sufficiently small percentage of their shares so that even if all those floated shares were purchased by foreigners it would not violate foreign ownership restriction (see Rodrigo, 1993).

3. In addition, the international asset pricing models of Black (1974) and Stulz (1981) provide implications on the relationship between barriers to international investments and country funds' price-to-NAV ratios. However, the models of Eun and Janakiramanan (1986) and Hietala (1989) seems to capture better the nature of investment restrictions in the Philippine equity market. Black (1974) and Stulz (1981) assume that international investment barriers take the form of a tax on holdings of foreign risky assets by domestic investors which make it costly to hold foreign securities relative to domestic securities. The restriction essentially places a limit on the amount of capital that domestic investors can export. Both models predict that the expected return on long positions on foreign assets will exceed the expected return on a domestic asset of the identical risk by the rate at which such holdings are taxed thereby ensuring that after-tax expected returns on the two assets are the same. The closed-end country funds, whose underlying shares are foreign risky assets, are analogous to long positions on foreign risky assets indirectly taken by domestic investors while the country funds' shares themselves can be considered as domestic assets of about the same risk. Therefore, these models suggest that international investment restrictions that make it costly for a domestic investor to hold foreign assets relative to domestic assets will increase the required return on the country funds' underlying assets relative to the required return on the funds' shares themselves. Consequently, the imposition of effective or binding restrictions in a country will increase the price-to-NAV ratio investing in that country by an amount related to the tax exacted.

4. Chang, Eun and Kolodny (1995), Johnson, Schneeweis and Dinning (1993), and Diwan, Errunza and Senbet (1993) provide evidence of international diversification benefits through investment in closed-end country funds, especially the funds devoted to emerging markets' securities.

5. Stylized facts seem to support this argument. For example, Mullin (1993) reports that during the mid-1980s, closed-end country funds were the primary, and in some cases only available, means through which foreign portfolio investors 'purchased' emerging market equities. However, the issuance of such funds peaked in 1990 at US\$3.4 billion and then declined to US\$1.2 billion in 1991. This decline is in contrast to the observed rapid increase of international placements and direct equity portfolio inflows during the

same period. He cites that an apparent reason for the dampened demand for closed-end country fund shares and acceleration of direct equity portfolio inflows can be attributed to capital market liberalization reforms instituted by several developing countries, which reduced the impediments to direct equity purchases by foreigners. To support this argument, Mullin (1993) provides an inventory of liberalization of restrictions on foreign access to the equity markets of developing countries including Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand and India which have occurred during the period 1989 to 1992.

6. Although the FPF was listed on November 8, 1989, it began trading only on November 15, 1989 (Standard & Poor's, 1990).

7. Note, however, that investments in Philippine equities represented 57.3% of net assets of the fund as of June 30, 1991 and at 96.2% as of June 30, 1995 (Standard & Poor's NYSE Stock Reports, 1991 and 1995).

8. Hardouvelis et al. (1994) examine the extent to which the noise-trader model of asset prices (De Long, Shleifer, Summers and Waldman, 1990) can explain the empirical regularities of the weekly price behavior of 35 country funds that traded on the New York and American stock exchanges between 1986 and 1993. A feature of the noise trader model is the variation in the demand of noise traders arising from shifts in sentiment or misperceptions of fundamental value. Among other things, they find that like their domestic counterparts, country funds are typically issued at a premium and that the premium declines by approximately 20% over the 24 weeks following the initial public offering. They argue that this is consistent with the predictions of the noise-trading model. One prediction of this model is that a new fund will be issued only when sentiment for the fund is high. The premium at the initial offering of a country fund is then explained by the ability of fund organizers to time the issuance of funds to coincide with positive investor sentiment (e.g., bullish investor sentiment for a country). On the other hand, the subsequent deterioration in the premium is explained by mean-reversion in investor sentiment.

9. Per closed-end fund reporting conventions, dividends and capital gains are deducted from reported NAV when the shares go ex-dividend and not on the dividend payment date.

10. Direct investments are investments which give the investor some degree of control over the funds invested (e.g. acquisitions of 10-25% of voting shares of a company) while portfolio investments are not afforded such control (e.g. purchases of bonds and equity ownership of less than 10-25% of voting shares) (see International Monetary Fund, 1977).

11. A similar model is employed by Bonser-Neal et al. (1990).

12. Bonser-Neal et al. (1990) and Bodurtha et al. (1995) argue that the positive crosscorrelations in the price and NAV of country funds could be an artifact of nonsynchronous SP and NAV measurements due to the timing differences between the foreign country stock market and the NYSE. As mentioned earlier, there is a 17-hour difference between the Philippine Stock Exchange close and New York's close. This might introduce a bias in the results if the event window is confined to the announcement week. The potential for bias can be illustrated as follows. As discussed in the Theoretical Framework, ceteris paribus, the introduction of binding restrictions will increase a country fund's price-to-NAV ratio above the level prevailing in the absence of such restrictions by approximately the amount the investor is willing to pay to avoid the restrictions. Say, the Philippine government announces a relaxation of its foreign investment restrictions. Since the removal of investment barriers that reduces the cost for the U.S. investor of directly holding Philippine equities will reduce the required return on the fund's underlying assets relative to the required return on the fund's shares, the price and NAV of the FPF rise in response to the announcement. If the prevailing restrictions prior to the announced liberalization are binding, the fund's price-NAV ratio will fall; i.e. the fund's premium decreases or the discount increases. However, if NAVs are reported with some lag, the fund's price will change before its NAV changes and the fund's premium will rise (discount will decrease) in the announcement week. The decrease in premium (or increase in discount) would only become evident the following week, when both the fund price and its NAV would have completely adjusted.

13. The sample autocorrelations of the first 6 lags of the changes in percentage discounts for the FPF are -0.19, -0.07, -0.12, -0.03, -0.03 and 0.01, respectively. The first- and third- order autocorrelation coefficients are found to be significant at the 0.05 level while coefficients at higher-order lags are all insignificant. These suggest that the residuals of regression model (1), as well as the other models considered in this study, are likely to be serially correlated. The pattern of the regression models residuals' autocorrelations confirms our initial diagnostics. It is also possible that, as a result of the various liberalization announcements, the fund's discount changes may not be homoscedastic. Consequently, we employ a heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent estimate of the variance-covariance matrix of the OLS estimates based on the procedure proposed by Newey and West (1987).

14. Four discount changes are adjusted because they cover dividend announcement and ex-dividend periods. The adjusted discount change series has about the same mean though slightly higher standard deviation than the unadjusted discount change series. The mean of the adjusted discount change series is -0.030 compared to -0.033 for the unadjusted series. The standard deviation of the adjusted discount change series is 3.035 compared to 2.998 for the unadjusted series. We also estimated Equation (1) using the unadjusted discount changes but there is a very minor difference in the results compared to those reported in this paper.

15. The results of using longer pre- and post- announcement windows are not very much different from those reported here.

16. For example, Bonser-Neal, et al. (1990) find the effect of aggregate announced regulatory changes to be insignificant in the case of the Taiwan Fund.

Bibliography

- Bailey, W. and J. Lim, 1992, "Evaluating the Diversification Benefits of the New Country Funds," Journal of Financial Management 18:74-80.
- Bailey, W. and R. Stulz, 1990, "Benefits of International Diversification: The Case of Pacific Basin Stock Markets," Journal of Portfolio Management 16:57-61.
- Bergstrom, C., K. Rydqvist and P. Sellin, 1993, "Asset Pricing with In- and Outflow Constraints: Theory and Empirical Evidence from Sweden," Journal of Business Finance and Accounting 20:865-879.
- Black, F., 1974, "International Capital Market Equilibrium with Investment Barriers," Journal of Financial Economics 45:444-454.
- Beveridge S., 1992, "Least Squares Estimation of Missing Values in Time Series," Communications in Statistics: Theory and Methods 21:3479-3496.
- Bodurtha, Jr., D. Kim and C. Lee, 1995, "Closed-end Country Funds and U.S. Market Sentiment," Review of Financial Studies 8:879-918.
- Bonser-Neal, C., G. Brauer, R. Neal and S. Wheatley, 1990, "International Investment Restrictions and Closed-End Country Fund Prices," Journal of Finance 45:523-547.
- Chang, E., C. Eun and R. Kolodny, 1995, "International Diversification Through Closed-End Country Funds," Journal of Banking and Finance 19:1237-1263.
- Demirgüç-Kunt, A. and H. Huizinga, 1992, "Barriers to Portfolio Investments in Emerging Stock Markets," Working Paper, World Bank Policy Research.
- De Long, J., A. Shleifer, L. Summers and R. Waldman, "Noise Trader Risk in Financial Markets," Journal of Political Economy 98:703-738.
- Diwan, I., V. Errunza and L. Senbet, 1993, "Country Funds for Emerging Economies," in Portfolio Investments in Developing Countries, S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228.
- Eun, C. and S. Janakiramanan, 1986, "A Model of International Asset Pricing with a Constraint on the Foreign Equity Ownership," Journal of Finance 41:897-914.
- GATT, 1993, Trade Policy Review: The Philippines, Vol. 1, Geneva: General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade.

- George, R., 1991, A Guide to Asian Stock Markets, 2nd edition. Hong Kong: Longman Group (Far East) Ltd.
- Gooptu, S., 1993, "Portfolio Investment Flows to Emerging Markets," in Portfolio Investments in Developing Countries, S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228.
- Hamilton, J., 1994, Time Series Analysis. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Hardouvelis, G., R. La Porta and T. Wizman, 1994, "What Moves the Discount on Country Equity Funds?," in J. Frankel (ed), The Internationalization of Equity Markets, Chicago: The University of Chicago Press:345-403.
- Hietala, P., 1989, "Asset Pricing in Partially Segmented Markets: Evidence from the Finnish Market," Journal of Finance 44:697-718.
- International Monetary Fund, 1977, Balance of Payments Manual, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.

and Exchange Restrictions, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.

- Johnson, G., T. Schneeweis and W. Dinning, 1993, "Closed-End Country Funds: Exchange Rate and Investment Risk," Financial Analysts Journal 49:74-82.
- Jun, K., 1993, "Effects of Capital Market Liberalization in Korea: Empirical Evidence and Policy Implications," in Portfolio Investments in Developing Countries. S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228:404-425.
- Lee, C., A. Shleifer, and R. Thaler, 1991, "Investor Sentiment and the Closed-end Fund Puzzle," Journal of Finance 46:75-109.
- Mills, T., 1993. Time Series Techniques for Economists, Great Britain: Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mullin, J., 1993, "Emerging Equity Markets in the Global Economy," Federal Reserve Bank of New York Quarterly Review 18:54-83.
- Newey, W. and K. West, 1987, "A Simple, Positive Semi-Definite, Heteroskedasticity and Autocorrelation Consistent Covariance Matrix," Econometrica 55:703-708.
- Rodrigo, F., 1993, "The Philippines," in A Probus Guide to World Markets: The World's Emerging Stock Markets: Structure, Developments, Regulations, and Opportunities, K. Park and A. Agtmael (eds), Chicago, Illinois: Probus Publishing Company:181-196.

- Rogers, J., 1994, "Entry Barriers and Price Movements between Major and Emerging Stock Markets," Journal of Macroeconomics 15:221-241.
- Shiller, R., 1989, Market Volatility. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Standard & Poor's, 1989-1996, NYSE Stock Reports.
- Stulz, R., 1981, "A Model of International Asset Pricing," Journal of Financial Economics 32:383-406.
- Unite, A., 1995, "Recent Developments in Foreign Direct Investments in the Philippines: Policy, Trends, and Issues," in Issues in Philippine Economic Development, T. Tullao, G. Largoza and C. Castillo (eds), Manila: De La Salle University Press, Inc.

Wall Street Journal, various issues.

Chapter 4

Philippine Capital Market Liberalization and International Transmission of Stock Market Movements

4.1. Purpose of the Study

This paper examines the short-run dynamic relationships among the stock markets of the Philippines and its major economic partners, namely, Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong Singapore, and the United States during the period 1980 to 1995. In particular, we investigate (a) whether there is transmission of returns and returns volatility from each of the foreign stock markets to the Philippine stock market and (b) the impact of the recent liberalization of the Philippine capital market on the responsiveness of the Philippine stock market to such spillovers. The analysis is performed in the multivariate framework using the multivariate Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity (MGARCH) family of statistical models.

4.1.1. Theoretical Framework and Previous Empirical Studies

There are several reasons why the returns and returns volatilities of the Philippines and those of Taiwan, Japan, Hong, Kong, Singapore and the United States may be related.¹ One possible reason for such interdependence arises from the linkage of the Philippine economy to these countries through international trade and foreign investment.² As mentioned in Chapter 2, these economies are the Philippines' major trading partners and sources of foreign investments so that any news about the economic fundamentals in these countries will most likely influence the Philippine market fundamentals. Consequently, if stock market movements in these markets are caused by the arrival of fundamental news, then such news originating from the foreign markets will eventually be reflected in the domestic stock prices as rational investors, stock brokers and portfolio managers in the Philippines respond to observed price changes in these other markets. Under this reasoning, we should observe return and return volatility spillovers among the Philippines and the foreign markets of interest whether or not there is cross-country stock trading.

Secondly, models of international asset pricing, e.g. Stulz (1981) and Errunza and Losq (1985), can allow for correlations of stock returns in different countries. Under these models, barriers to international investments that are imposed by countries may effectively segment these countries' capital markets from those of the open markets. Suppose developments in country A lead to changes in this country's asset prices. These models imply that countries whose capital markets are not segmented from that of country A will also experience asset price changes as asset returns equalize between country A and the other countries. Equalization of returns may be achieved via crosscountry investing or arbitrage activities since there are no effective barriers to international capital flows in integrated markets. On the other hand, countries whose capital markets are segmented from those of country A will not exhibit asset price changes since effective barriers to capital flows which segment these countries' markets can isolate these countries' capital markets from forces which tend to equalize returns across integrated markets. Based on this reason, we expect transmission of stock price movements from the other international markets in this study to the Philippine market since the cointegration results in Chapter 2 suggest that the Philippine equity market has become integrated with these international markets possibly as a result of recent liberalization and internationalization of the domestic capital market. The following studies also tend to support this reasoning.

Bailey (1990) examines the effect of U.S. money supply announcements on the U.S. stock market and 9 Pacific Rim stock markets, including the Philippines, Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, and Taiwan over the period October 1977 to September 1985. He finds that the stock market indexes of countries with relatively few barriers to portfolio investment flows, such as Hong Kong, Singapore and Japan, react in a manner similar to the U.S. stock market index. That is, unexpectedly high (low) M1 growth in the U.S. is associated with negative (positive) stock returns in these countries. On the other hand, the stock market indexes of the Philippines, Korea, Taiwan, and Thailand are uncorrelated with U.S. M1 shocks. He notes that during the period 1977 to 1985 Korea and Taiwan imposed severe capital flow barriers while the Philippines and Thailand have significant capital flow barriers. Moreover, he finds that the differing effect of U.S. M1 surprises across the Pacific Rim countries cannot be explained by differences in the levels of exports of these countries to the U.S.

Ng, Chang and Chou (1991) investigate the transmission of volatility from the U.S. stock market to the stock markets of Japan, Korea, Taiwan, and Thailand over the period January 1985 to December 1987. Using daily national stock market index returns data, they estimate a univariate GARCH(1,1) model for the conditional return volatility process with first-order moving average in the mean return equation and an ARCH-in mean term for the U.S. stock market. They estimate a similar model for each of the Asian markets except that their conditional return volatility equations include previous period's U.S. squared residuals as a measure of volatility spillovers from the U.S. market. Their results suggest volatility spillover from the U.S. to Japan and Thailand but not to Korea and Taiwan. Korea and Taiwan are the two markets with the most severe restriction on cross-country investing. In addition, they investigate the impact of institutional changes aimed at reducing foreign entry barriers to the equity markets of Japan and Thailand on volatility spillover from the U.S. market to these Asian stock markets. They find evidence of an increase in volatility spillover from the U.S. market to the stock markets of Japan and Thailand after changes which facilitated cross-country investing in these countries have been instituted. Altogether, they take their results as suggesting that cross-country trading itself is necessary for volatility spillover to occur and that simply receiving past information about the U.S. market is not enough to induce volatility spillover.

Chowdhury (1994) investigates the interdependencies among the daily returns on the stock market indexes of four Asian Newly Industrializing Economies (NIEs) and those of Japan and the U.S. over the period 1986 to 1990. Using variance decomposition and impulse response functions analysis based on the vector autoregression (VAR) model, he finds a significant transmission of stock price movements from the markets of Japan and the U.S. to the stock markets of Hong Kong and Singapore but not to those of Korea and Taiwan. He argues that a possible reason for this is that the stock markets of Taiwan and Korea have severe restrictions on cross-country investing, in contrast to the relatively open markets of Hong Kong and Singapore. Moreover, his results suggest a bi-directional price spillover between the U.S. and Japanese markets. None of the Asian markets, except Japan, have any impact on the U.S. stock market.

Rogers (1994) examines the relationship between international investment barriers and the international transmission of daily stock price changes (i.e. returns) among 10 international stock markets, including Japan, the U.S., Hong Kong, Singapore. Taiwan, Korea and Thailand. Using variance decomposition and impulse response functions analysis based on a VAR model, he finds that return spillovers occur only into markets with relatively weak barriers to international investments. In particular, he finds no returns spillovers from Japan and the U.S. to the markets which have the most restrictive barriers to international investments such as Taiwan and Korea. However, the countries with the least entry barriers as Hong Kong and Singapore show significant spillovers from Japan and the U.S.. He argues that the observed price spillovers are due to relatively low transaction costs in markets with least entry barriers and that in markets such as Taiwan and Korea, foreign entry barriers make transaction costs so high that it does not induce price spillovers.

Kim and Rogers (1995) examine the impact of the opening up of the Korean stock market to foreigners on its short-run relationships with the stock markets of Japan and the U.S.. To capture the mechanism of transmission of stock market movements, they estimate univariate GARCH (1,1)-in mean models using daily opening and closing prices of the major stock market indexes of these countries. Like Ng et al. (1991), the conditional mean and conditional variance equations for the U.S. and Japan are estimated as independent processes. The model for Korean stock market returns is similar to those of Japan and the U.S. except that both the conditional mean and conditional volatility equations have the once lagged squared residuals from the models of Japan and the U.S. as explanatory variables that measure volatility spillovers. Their results indicate that volatility spillovers significantly increased after market liberalization using close-to-open returns data.

A third possible reason for correlations of stock price movements across international markets is market contagion, a concept introduced by King and Wadhwani (1990). Under the market contagion scenario, rational agents attempt to infer information from price changes in other national stock markets. Consequently, stock prices in one country may be influenced by changes in the stock prices of another country beyond what is conceivable by informational linkages through economic fundamentals.
According to this hypothesis, stock price movements driven by overreaction, speculation, noise trading or even a 'mistake', e.g. failure of market mechanism, in one market may be transmittable to other markets.

On the other hand, the following reasons motivate our focus on volatility and the use of time-varying volatility in this study. First, there is a large body of evidence in the finance literature indicating that most financial time series exhibit volatility clustering. i.e., there is a tendency for large changes to be followed by large changes of either sign. and that periods of high volatility alternate with periods of relative calm (see, e.g., Bollerslev Chou and Kroner (1992) for a survey of the literature). These are consistent with time-varying conditional volatility. Therefore, if the volatility of price changes in the national stock market indexes included in this study vary over time in a related manner, the finding of significant relationships among international stock market returns may be an artifact of specification error.³ Second, Ross (1989) shows that it is the volatility of the asset price, not the absolute price change, that is related to the rate of information flow to a particular market. Similarly, the theoretical model of Kyle (1985) suggests that information is revealed in return movements that are reflected in the volatility of returns. Based on these models, the interdependence among the return volatility of each national stock market can be ascribed to the dissemination of information flow across these markets. One implication of this is that a finding of crossmarket interdependence in price changes may suggest only inconclusive evidence on how information flows to the international equity markets. Therefore, the use of timevarying conditional volatility of returns on the national stock market indexes considered in this study provides an alternative way of measuring the flow of information among these markets.

4.1.2. Scope and Limitations of the Study

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the issues of stock return and return volatility spillovers from international stock markets to the Philippine stock market as well as the impact of recent liberalizations in the Philippine capital market. While the study is descriptive in nature, we believe that it can provide further insight into the importance of information contained in the behavior of foreign stock market returns in the determination of return and volatility in emerging markets like the Philippines. Moreover, this study can provide additional evidence on the implications of capital market liberalization on the transmission of stock market movements among international stock markets.

This study differs from the earlier works involving Asian markets cited in the previous section in the following respects. First, we examine the international transmission of stock market movements among the national stock markets in the sample by studying joint spillovers of returns and returns volatility. Second, our methodology of studying the transmission mechanism is different in that we employ a multivariate generalized autoregressive conditional heteroscedastic (MGARCH) model. Compared to the studies which use univariate GARCH models (e.g. Kim et al., 1995 and Ng et al.,

1991), an advantage of simultaneously estimating the conditional volatility process of the six stock market indexes in the sample is that it allows for any potential interactions or multilateral volatility spillovers that may be occurring among these markets, especially in the case of the stock markets of the Philippines and the other Asian markets. This is also an improvement over the models that utilize the traditional VAR methodology which ignores the time-varying conditional volatility of returns and the international spillovers of these return volatilities that might be occurring at the same time.

We want to emphasize that the focus of our analysis is on the Philippine stock market. Accordingly, we examine the impact of capital market liberalization on the transmission of stock market movements from the foreign markets to the Philippines by dividing the overall sample into the pre- and post-liberalization subsample periods as in Chapter 2. Since the break in the sample is determined with respect to an event that is associated with only the Philippine market, we do not claim that any observed changes in the behavior of the conditional first and second moments of the returns of the other markets to be a result of the market liberalization in the Philippines.

4.2. DATA DESCRIPTION AND SAMPLE CHARACTERISTICS

The data consists of time series of closing stock market index values, in U.S. dollar terms, of the Philippines, Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, and the United States covering the period from the first week of January 1980 to the last week of December 1995. The national stock market indexes and exchange rates used in this study are the same as those in Chapter 2. These include the Philippine Stock Exchange Commercial and Industrial Index, the Taiwan Stock Exchange Weighted Price Index, the Tokyo Stock Exchange Price Index, the Hang Seng Index, the Stock Exchange of Singapore All-Shares, and the Standard and Poors' 500 Index. The sources of these data are found in Appendix A. Following Engle and Susmel (1993), we use weekly data to reduce if not eliminate the bias arising from nonsynchronous trading in the assets that comprise the stock market index and short-term correlations due to noise which are more pronounced in the case of daily data. U.S. dollar-denominated indexes are used in order to make the various national stock market index returns directly comparable and to account for exchange rate fluctuations or risk.

The national stock market indexes are transformed into weekly rates of return. Following Lo and MacKinlay (1988), we use closing stock market indexes on Wednesday to represent the weekly stock market prices for the Asian markets. On the other hand, we use Tuesday closing index values to denote weekly stock market prices for the U.S. market (as represented by the New York Stock Exchange). The first difference of the (natural) logarithm of the weekly closing values of each national stock market index series is used as a measure of return. The weekly indexes of the Asian markets and that of the U.S. are not matched by calendar date in order to adjust for real time differences that arise because the Asian stock markets and the New York Stock Exchange operate in different time zones. In terms of hourly time difference, the Philippines, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Singapore are 13 hours ahead of New York time (Eastern Standard Time) while Japan is 14 hours ahead of New York time. Table 4.1 shows the operating hours of the six national stock markets in terms of local hours and in terms of New York time. Figure 4.1 illustrates the operating hours of these markets based on New York time.

We can see from Figure 4.1 that while the Asian stock markets have periods of trading activity which overlap in both real time and calendar day, this is not the case for the U.S. market. The markets of the Philippines and Taiwan are the first to close. followed by Japan, then Hong Kong, and then Singapore. However, all the Asian markets are closed before the New York Stock Exchange opens until the time it closes on the same calendar day. This implies that on a given calendar day, the closing market values of the Asian markets are predetermined relative to the U.S. market. On the premise that the closing time of one market does not overlap with the opening time of the other market, one would expect that, on a given calendar date, the flow of information contained in returns and volatility is from the former to the latter. Therefore, the closing stock indexes values of the Asian markets cannot be influenced by the closing values of the U.S. stock market index which are recorded later on the same calendar date. Hence, if ever any of the Asian markets are influenced by developments in the U.S. stock market, the Asian markets would not be able to respond to new information on the U.S. market in the same calendar date. Instead, the response of Asian markets occurs with a one day lag. On the other hand, because the operating hours of the Asian markets precede those of the U.S. market, the U.S. market would be able to respond to new information on the Asian markets on the same calendar day.

However, if we want to examine contemporaneous spillover from the U.S. market to the Asian markets, the logical setup would be to use Tuesday as the representative weekly price for the U.S. stock market and Wednesday for the Asian stock markets. But then, in this set up, we would expect to find stronger (contemporaneous) weekly spillover from the U.S. market to the Asian markets and weaker transmission from the Asian markets to the U.S. market, if ever there is a bi-directional spillover between the U.S. and Asian markets. This is because the preceding setup allows for contemporaneous spillover from the U.S. market to the Asian markets for all 5 days and only 4 of the 5 days for the case of spillover from the Asian markets to the U.S. market. A similar argument can be made for lagged returns and volatility spillovers. One might argue that the above procedure introduces a bias in the results of the study. However, this might not really bias our results considering that previous studies generally find that the U.S. market appears to lead the Asian markets. For example, Chowdhury (1994) finds that none of the Asian markets in his sample, except Japan, have any impact on the U.S. stock market. Cheung and Mak (1992) examine the relationship between weekly returns on the national stock market indexes of eight Asian emerging markets, including the Philippines, and those of the developed markets of Japan and the U.S. over the period

1977 to 1988. Using the concept of causality introduced by Granger (1969, 1980), they find that a significant causal relationship between the U.S. market and most of the Asian emerging markets including the Philippines, with the U.S. market leading these emerging markets.

In addition, an empirical regularity of studies investigating transmission of stock market price movements among major stock markets of the world, which include Hong Kong, Singapore and Japan, is that the U.S. markets appear to lead the other markets as well. For example, Eun and Shim (1989) investigate the transmission of stock market movements among nine major markets, including Hong Kong, Japan and the U.S.. Using a vector autoregression (VAR) model for the nine market system, they find that, during the period 1980 to 1985, a substantial amount of multilateral interaction exists among the nine national stock markets with the U.S. stock market being the most influential. In particular, their results indicate that stock price changes in the U.S. market are transmitted to other markets whereas none of the other markets can significantly explain the U.S. market movements. Hamao, Masulis and Ng (1990) examine the short-run interdependence of stock price changes and price volatility across three major national stock markets, including the U.S. and Japan over the period April 1985 to March 1988. Using univariate GARCH models to explore these pricing relationships, they find, among other things, evidence of volatility spillovers from New York to Tokyo but not from Tokyo to New York. Theodossiou and Lee (1993) examine the transmission mechanism of returns and return volatility among the stock markets of five industrial countries, including Japan and the United States, using weekly stock market index return data over the period 1980 to 1991. They utilize a multivariate GARCH-in mean model to capture the mechanism by which innovations in stock returns in one market affect both the conditional market returns and conditional market volatility of the other market and to investigate the extent to which conditional volatility in the five national stock markets affects expected returns. Among other things, they find no return spillovers from the U.S. market to the Japanese market and vice-versa. However, their results indicate strongly significant volatility spillover from the U.S. to Japan but not the other way around.

Lee, Pettit and Swankoski (1990) examine the contemporaneous correlations of returns on the stock markets of Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Taiwan, Korea and the U.S. for the period 1980 to 1988. In order to account for the time zone difference between the U.S. and the Asian markets, they compute contemporaneous returns correlations with respect to the U.S. market by allowing the U.S. stock market index (Standard & Poors' 500) to lead the Asian markets by one day. They find that allowing the U.S. index to lead by one day causes the daily correlations with the U.S. market to increase, especially in the markets of Hong Kong, Japan, and Singapore. However, their results indicate that the tendency for the U.S. market to 'lead' these markets is not strong. Moreover, the correlations between the U.S. market and the relatively closed markets of Taiwan and Korea are not affected by this 'adjustment' as they find virtually no correlation on a daily basis between Korea and the U.S. and between Taiwan and the U.S. with and without the adjustment. Furthermore, they find that when weekly returns

are used, the 'leading' effect implied by the correlations with the U.S. market is eliminated.

4.2.1. Adjustments in Return Observations During and the Week After the Stock Market Crash of October 1987.

An examination of the weekly return series for each national stock market index reveals two extreme and influential observations - returns during the week of the October 1987 stock market crash and the returns the week after. Instead of eliminating these observations from the sample, we estimate their values net of the effect of the October crash.⁴

The procedure involves regressing the weekly return series of each stock market i covering the pre-liberalization subperiod January 1980 to September 1989, r_{it} , on its own lags, r_{it-j} , a dummy variable, *CRASH*₁, which takes a value of 1 during the week of the crash and zero otherwise and another dummy variable, *CRASH*₂, which takes a value of 1 the week after the crash and zero otherwise. That is, we run the regression:

$$\mathbf{r}_{it} = \mathbf{c}_i + \sum_{j=1}^{P} \boldsymbol{\phi}_{ij} \mathbf{r}_{i,t-j} + \mathbf{d}_1 CRASH\mathbf{1}_t + \mathbf{d}_2 CRASH\mathbf{2}_t + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{it}$$
(1)

The autoregressive or AR terms are included to take into account any serial correlation in the stock market index return data. The number of lags, p, is chosen such that the estimated coefficients on the AR terms, ϕ_{ij} , are significant and the residuals, ε_{it} , are serially uncorrelated. The significance of these coefficients are determined based on the standard errors which are robust to autocorrelation and heteroscedasticity and obtained using the Newey and West (1987) technique. Based on the procedure described, we find that p=0 for the stock market return series of Japan, p=1 for each of the stock market return series of Hong Kong and Singapore. The estimates of the coefficients of the two dummy variables are found to be significant in each estimated equation. The adjusted series, \hat{r}_{it} is then obtained by computing the fitted values as follows:

$$\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{it} = \hat{\mathbf{c}}_i + \sum_{j=1}^{P} \hat{\boldsymbol{\phi}}_{ij} \mathbf{r}_{i,t-j} + \hat{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{it}$$
⁽²⁾

where \hat{c}_i and $\hat{\phi}_{ij}$, are the estimated coefficients and $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ii}$ is the residual of the estimated Equation (1). This procedure results in adjusted values that are identical to the original return values for observations other than the returns during and the week after the crash of October 1987.⁵

4.2.2. Summary Statistics, Autocorrelations and Cross-Market Correlations of Weekly Returns and Squared Returns on the National Stock Market Indexes

As in Chapter 2, we identify October 1989 as the *initial* equity market opening up date for the Philippines. Consequently, we define the pre-liberalization subsample as the series of observations from the first week of January 1980 to the last week of September 1989 and the post-liberalization subsample as the series of observations from the first week of October 1989 to the last week of December 1995.

Table 4.2 summarizes the univariate summary statistics for the weekly returns on the six national stock market indexes for the pre- and post- liberalization subperiods. These summary statistics include the sample mean, variance, skewness and excess kurtosis coefficients. It can be observed that weekly mean returns are not significantly different from zero for most of the national stock markets, especially in the postliberalization subperiod. The coefficients of skewness and excess kurtosis indicate that, for each national stock market, the unconditional distribution of weekly returns is not normally distributed. There are some significant negative skewness, especially in the post-liberalization subperiod, and the null hypothesis of no excess kurtosis is rejected at the 1 percent level of significance for all returns series and for both subperiods. In particular, the significant excess kurtosis in all six stock market returns indicates that their weekly return series has a fat-tail distribution possibly arising from time-varying conditional volatility. This issue is further explored below.

4.2.3. Autocorrelation Analysis and ARCH Tests

Table 4.2 also reports the first-order sample autocorrelation functions and Ljung-Box (LB) portmanteau test statistics for up to 6 lags for both returns and squared returns series. For the returns series, the sample autocorrelations are generally small, especially in the post-liberalization subperiod. The LB statistics, which test for higher-order serial correlation, indicate that the null hypothesis of uncorrelated returns can be rejected at the 5 percent level of significance for Taiwan, Hong Kong and Singapore in the preliberalization period. However, except for the U.S. stock market returns, there is no evidence of higher-order serial correlation in the returns series for the Asian markets in the post-liberalization period. These results indicate that the serial correlation possibly induced by nonsynchronous trading of the component stocks in the national stock market indexes is not as serious for the post-liberalization subsample.

For the squared returns series, the first-order autocorrelations are generally significant, especially in the pre-liberalization period. Furthermore, the LB test statistics for up to 6 lags indicate that the null hypothesis of no serial correlation in squared returns can easily be rejected at the 1 percent level of significance for all markets and for both subperiods.

The significant autocorrelations for the squared returns series may be taken as evidence of nonlinear dependence in the returns series that arise possibly because of

time-varying conditional variance.⁶ One implication of this is that a model for the returns generating processes of the national stock markets in the sample should allow for higher-order dependence in the returns. One such class of models that closely approximates dependence in second-order moments is the autoregressive conditional heteroscedasticity (ARCH) model introduced by Engle (1982). Note that although the ARCH process itself captures nonlinear dependence, the conditional volatility is linear. For ARCH processes, the first and second moments are allowed to depend on its past values. We employ such models to describe the returns generating process for each national stock market in this study. Following Engle (1982), we use the squared returns as an approximation to each country's volatility and formally test for the presence of ARCH by regressing each squared return series on a constant and four lags. The test statistic is arrived at by multiplying the uncentered R^2 by the sample size. Under the null hypothesis of no ARCH, this statistic is distributed as $\gamma^2(4)$. The results of these tests, labeled ARCH(4), are reported in Table 4.3. Following Engle and Susmel (1993), we also conduct multivariate ARCH (MARCH) tests. The MARCH test is constructed in a similar manner as the univariate ARCH test except that it uses a multivariate information set. Each market's squared returns are regressed on own past squared returns and the past squared returns of the other markets. The results of these tests are reported in Table 4.3 and labeled as MARCH-1 and MARCH-2. MARCH-1 uses squared returns lagged once as regressors while MARCH-2 tests are the same tests but with two lags. The test statistic has a χ^2 distribution with degrees of freedom equal to the number of regressors used. The results of the univariate information ARCH tests indicate that for both subperiods, all of the markets in the sample show evidence of conditional heteroscedasticity. Likewise, the multivariate ARCH tests provide evidence of ARCH effects in all six national stock markets.

The preceding results indicate that all of the stock market returns series exhibit conditional heteroscedasticity and that a GARCH model might be an appropriate mechanism to characterize their behavior over time. We employ such models to describe the returns generating process for the national stock market indexes in the sample.

4.2.4. Cross-market Correlation Analysis

The early studies examining the international stock market linkages among developed countries and developing countries have used correlations between national stock market indexes returns as a measure of the degree of their interdependence. A low correlation between returns has been usually interpreted as indicative of potential benefits from international diversification.⁷ Some of the common findings in these studies are: (a) relatively higher stock market return correlations between major industrial countries, (b) relatively lower return correlations between the developing country markets and those of major industrial countries, and (c) even lower correlations between the stock market returns of developing countries.

The correlations between the weekly stock market returns of the Philippines and the returns on each of the other five national stock markets as well as the correlations between their squared returns are tabulated in Table 4.4. The intuition underlying the analysis of squared returns correlations is similar to the intuition behind ARCH. It may be the case that international stock markets are uncorrelated in returns but they might not be independent since it is possible that they are related through their volatilities.

Table 4.4 shows that for the pre-liberalization subperiod, the contemporaneous, lead and lag returns correlations between the Philippine stock market and the five other national stock markets are generally positive but closer to zero. In particular, contemporaneous correlation is significant only with respect to Hong Kong and Singapore implying that simultaneous price changes tend to occur only between the stock markets of the Philippines and Hong Kong and between the Philippines and Singapore. On the other hand, only the lagged returns on the stock market indexes of Singapore and the U.S. appear to have some power to forecast current Philippine stock market index returns given that lag 1 correlations with respect to Singapore and the U.S. are statistically significant at the 0.05 level. The leading cross-correlations, which suggest predictability from Philippine stock market returns to the foreign stock market returns, are all insignificant, except for the correlation with respect to the U.S. market. In contrast, the contemporaneous cross-market correlations during the post-liberalization subperiod are generally higher. Except for the correlation with respect to the stock market of Japan, the contemporaneous correlations are all significant. The highest return correlation coefficient, 0.349, is between the markets of the Philippines and Singapore. On the other hand, the lag effects of Taiwan and Hong Kong have become significant while that of the U.S. seems to have disappeared in the post-liberalization subperiod. As in the pre-liberalization subperiod, the leading cross-correlations between the Philippine stock market returns and those of the five other markets are not significantly different from zero.

Table 4.4 also reports the contemporaneous, lead and lag squared returns correlations between the Philippine stock market and each of the five remaining national stock market for both subperiods. As mentioned previously, these correlations represent a rough indicator of cross-market interdependence in volatility. For the pre-liberalization subperiod, both contemporaneous and lag cross-correlations between the squared returns of the Philippine market and the other national stock markets are generally small and are all not significantly different from zero. In contrast, these correlations are generally higher in the post-liberalization subperiod. Except for the correlation with respect to Japan, all contemporaneous squared correlations between the Philippine market and those of the foreign stock markets are significantly different from zero. On the other hand, the lag correlation with respect to Taiwan has become statistically significant as with the leading correlations between the Philippine market and those of the Taiwan, Singapore and the U.S.

The contemporaneous cross-correlations among the other five national stock market index returns and squared returns are reported in Table 4.5. These markets exhibit significant returns cross-correlations in both subperiods and these coefficients are generally higher in the post-liberalization subperiod. The squared returns correlations also suggest that the volatilities of price changes in these markets are related, more so in the post-liberalization subperiod. As mentioned earlier, we do not claim that the changes in the magnitude and significance of these correlations are a result of the Philippine capital market liberalization. However, these results confirm that interdependence in returns as well as volatilities also exist among these markets.

The preceding findings seem to suggest that the cross-market influences are manifested not only on stock market price changes but on the volatility of price changes as well. Furthermore, it appears that for the Philippine market, such cross-market influences, especially the volatility cross-effects, are more apparent in the postliberalization subperiod than in the pre-liberalization subperiod. This is consistent with the view that barriers to international investments in the Philippines might have effectively segmented the Philippine market from the international stock markets. Although these results are only preliminary, they indicate the importance of constructing an international stock market movement transmission mechanism that captures both returns and returns volatility spillovers.

4.3. METHODOLOGY

The foregoing analysis of the time series properties of the returns on the national stock market indexes of the Philippines, Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and the U.S. suggests that a model of the short-run dynamic relationships among these markets should be able to capture interdependencies in both returns and returns volatility as well as the time variation of the conditional volatility of returns. In order to address these, we consider a family of statistical models based on the ARCH methodology developed by Engle (1982) and generalized (GARCH) by Bollerslev (1986) which seek to describe the Briefly, these models posit that volatility can be dynamic behavior of volatility. decomposed into a forecastable component and an unpredictable component. The forecastable component is hypothesized to depend on past information that are available Bollerslev, Chou and Kroner (1992) provide a at a particular point in time. comprehensive literature review that documents the successful application of univariate versions of these models in financial time series, including stock returns. In particular, we utilize these models in their multivariate form as such formulation allows for intermarket interactions in the returns generating processes of the national stock markets Among others, the studies of Koutmos (1996), Karolyi (1995), in our study. Theodossiou and Lee (1993), Engle and Susmel (1993), Kroner and Lastrapes (1993) and Chan, Chan and Karolyi (1991) have successfully applied multivariate versions of ARCH and GARCH processes of asset returns.

4.3.1. The Multivariate GARCH (MGARCH) Model

Our analysis is based on the following multivariate GARCH models for the joint process followed by the weekly returns on the stock market indexes of the Philippines,

Taiwan, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore and the U.S.. We estimate these models for both the pre-liberalization and post-liberalization subperiods.

First, we assume that the national stock market index conditional mean returns follow a VAR process, as used in the previously cited studies on international transmission of stock market movements; i.e.,

$$\mathbf{r}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\mu} + \sum_{i=1}^{L} \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{i} \mathbf{r}_{i-i} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t} | I_{t-1} \sim N(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{H}_{t})$$
(3)

where $\mathbf{r}_{t} = [r_{1,t}, r_{2,t}, r_{3,t}, r_{4,t}, r_{5,t}, r_{6,t}]'$ is the vector of weekly returns on the stock market indexes of the U.S. (1), Philippines (2), Taiwan (3), Japan (4), Hong Kong (5), and Singapore (6); $\boldsymbol{\mu} = [\mu_1, \mu_2, ..., \mu_6]'$ is a vector of constants; $\boldsymbol{\Phi}_l$ is the matrix of autoregressive coefficients for the *l*-th lagged returns; and, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t} = [\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{1t}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{2t}, ..., \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{6t}]'$ is the vector of innovations. This multivariate specification allows us to determine the intermarket lagged returns spillover. Specifically, this structure enables us to measure the effect on a given country's stock market index returns of a change in its own lagged return and those of the other national stock markets. For example, the *ij*-th element of the matrix $\boldsymbol{\Phi}_l$, ϕ_{ij} , measures the impact on the current weekly returns on the stock market index of country *i* of a change in the stock returns on market *j* that occurred *l* weeks ago.

Conditional on this mean returns specification, the vector of innovations $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_r$ is multivariate normally distributed with a time-varying conditional variance-covariance matrix \mathbf{H}_r given past information I_{t-1} . This is in contrast with the traditional VAR where the vector of residuals $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_r$ is assumed to follow a white noise process with a variance-covariance matrix that is invariant over time; i.e., $\mathbf{H}_r = \mathbf{H}$.

Various formulations of H, have been put forward in the economic literature (see Engle and Kroner (1995) for examples). One of the more parsimonious multivariate GARCH specifications is the positive definite GARCH model due to Engle and Kroner (1995) (EK). In its general form, the EK model is constructed to allow H_t to be a linear function of its own P past values, $\mathbf{H}_{r,p}$, and the Q past values of the squared innovations, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i-q}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}'_{i-q}$. By construction, this specification allows lagged own-market and cross-market influences in each market's conditional variance and covariance through the squares and cross-products of both past period's conditional variances and innovations of all markets. Karolyi (1995) employed this specification in examining the international transmission of stock returns and volatility between the U.S. and Canadian markets. An important advantage of the EK model is that it guarantees the positive definiteness of the conditional covariance matrices. However, a multivariate GARCH parameterization with higher order lags, i.e., P and/or Q greater one, might not be feasible for our sixmarket system since such specification would require estimation of a large number of coefficients while our pre- and post-liberalization data set is relatively small. In fact, in the case where P=Q=1, 93 coefficients have to be estimated excluding the mean return

coefficients. Moreover, Diebold (1988) notes that GARCH effects tend to decrease by temporal aggregation as the distribution of returns tends toward normality. Considering that this study employs weekly observations, it might be reasonable to expect many of the coefficients on the higher order lags not to be strongly significant, if not insignificant. As such, we consider only the first-order processes where P=Q=1. We will maintain this parameterization for the other conditional variance specifications for the purpose of consistency.⁸ For P=Q=1, the EK model, denoted MGARCH(1,1)-EK, is written as:

$$\mathbf{H}_{t} = \mathbf{K}^{*} + \mathbf{F}^{\prime} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t-1} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t-1}^{\prime} \mathbf{F} + \mathbf{G}^{\prime} \mathbf{H}_{t-1} \mathbf{G}.$$
(4)

K*=K₀'**K**₀ is a (6 x 6) symmetric parameter matrix for the constants, where **K**₀ is restricted to be upper triangular. **F** and **G** are (6 x 6) unrestricted parameter matrices with elements f_{ij} and g_{ij} , respectively. The *lm*-th element of **H**_r is given by $h_{lm,r} = k + \sum_{i=1}^{6} \sum_{j=1}^{6} f_{il} f_{jm} \varepsilon_{i,r-1} \varepsilon_{j,r-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{6} \sum_{j=1}^{6} g_{il} g_{jm} h_{ij,r-1}$. A necessary and sufficient condition

for this type of multivariate GARCH process to be covariance stationary is that all the eigenvalues of $(F \otimes F) + (G \otimes G)$ are less than one in modulus, where \otimes denotes the Kroneker product.

A second multivariate GARCH specification that we consider, which is more parsimonious than the EK model, is the constant conditional correlation model previously used by Karolyi (1995) and Chan, Chan and Karolyi (1991). For P=Q=1, the constant conditional correlation model, denoted MGARCH(1,1)-CCK, specifies the conditional variances and conditional covariances as:

$$\mathbf{h}_{t} = \mathbf{c} + \mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t-1}^{2} + \mathbf{B}\mathbf{h}_{t-1}$$

and

$$h_{ij,t} = \rho_{ij} [h_{ii,t} h_{jj,t}]^{1/2}$$
, $-1 \le \rho_{ij} \le 1$, for $i,j=1,2,...,6$ and $i \ne j$

where $\mathbf{H}_{t} = [h_{ij,t}]$, $\mathbf{h}_{t} = [h_{11t}, h_{22t}, \dots, h_{66t}]'$, $\mathbf{c} = [c_1, c_2, \dots, c_6]'$ is a vector of constants, and A and B are (6 x 6) parameter matrices with elements a_{ij} and b_{ij} , respectively. In this representation, the conditional variance of the returns on each national stock market index is modeled as a linear function of the past period's conditional variance and squared innovation of this market as well as the past period's conditional variances and squared innovations of the remaining five markets. For example, the conditional variance of market *i* is given by $h_{ii,t} = c_i + \sum_{i=1}^{6} a_{ij} \varepsilon_{ji,t-1}^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{6} b_{ij} h_{jj,t-1}$. However, this model assumes that the conditional correlation between any two markets *i* and *j* is constant over time; i.e., $\rho_{ut} = \rho_{u} \forall t$. This is equivalent to an assumption that all the variations in the

(5)

conditional covariances over time are accounted for by changes in each of the corresponding two conditional variances. This representation guarantees that the matrix H_r is positive semidefinite.

The final specification for the conditional variance-covariance matrix that we consider is the constant conditional correlation model previously employed by Theodossiou and Lee (1993) in examining the mean and volatility spillovers among the stock markets of the U.S., Japan, U.K., Canada and Germany. This specification is the same as the MGARCH(1,1)-CCK model except that it restricts the parameter matrix **B** in the above equation to be diagonal, with *i*-th diagonal element b_{ii} . In this representation, which we denote by MGARCH(1,1)-CCTL, the conditional variance of the returns in each market is modeled as a linear function of this market's past period's conditional variance and squared innovation as well as the past period's squared innovations of the remaining five markets. Thus, this model allows cross-market influences in the conditional covariances only through the past period's squared innovations which are taken to represent the past volatility shocks in the other markets. the conditional variance of For example. market *i* is given by $h_{ii,r} = c_i + \sum_{i=1}^{6} a_{ij} \varepsilon_{ii,r-1}^2 + b_{ii} h_{ii,r-1}$. A necessary and sufficient condition for the constant conditional correlation type of multivariate GARCH process to be covariance stationary is that all the eigenvalues of $(\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B})$ lie inside the unit circle.

We also consider a more general specification of the returns process which allows expected stock market returns to be a function of contemporaneous own market return volatility. One motivation for this specification comes from the fact that most asset pricing models posit a relationship between a stock's expected return and risk, with some variable measuring risk. For example, the asset pricing models of Sharpe (1964), Lintner (1965) and Black(1972) postulate that a stock's expected excess return is a linear function of the covariance between its return and the return on a market portfolio. In turn, this implies that the expected excess return on a stock market portfolio is a linear function of its own variance. Campbell (1993) shows that this linear relationship between expected returns and volatility holds in an intertemporal setting if a log-linear approximation is used for the intertemporal budget constraint. In particular, we employ a multivariate extension of the ARCH-in Mean (ARCH-M) model introduced by Engle, Lilien and Robins (1987), which parameterizes the conditional mean return as an explicit function of the conditional variance. The ARCH-M model is apt in dealing with the issue of risk and expected return tradeoffs in a time series context with time-varying risk. Although there is a general consensus in finance literature that expected excess returns and risk are positively related within a given time period, Glosten, Jagannathan and Runkle (1993) argue that the sign for the covariance between a stock's conditional expected excess returns and its conditional variance could be negative or positive across time.⁹

Strictly speaking, a formal test of whether stock market-specific risk is rewarded requires a measure of conditional excess returns (i.e., expected market return less the risk

free rate). However, weekly data on the risk-free rate is not available for the Asian markets in our sample. Consequently, we interpret the significance of the coefficient of own-market risk term in the mean return equation as evidence for a relationship between the mean stock market index returns and a measure of conditional volatility of those returns.

Although Pagan and Schwert (1990) argue that the standard deviation form of the -in Mean term is possibly best for our returns series, we find that it is not a viable specification for the pre-liberalization subperiod. On the other hand, there is no general concensus in the finance literature as to which is the most appropriate form of the -in Mean term (see, e.g., Engle et al., 1987; French, Schwert and Stambaugh, 1987; and. Baillie and DeGennaro, 1990). Therefore, we choose the functional form based on best fit using the SIC. In particular, we consider alternative functional forms of the -in Mean term, which include the conditional standard deviation, conditional variance, and the logarithm of conditional standard deviation of the stock market index returns.

Using the conditional standard deviation, i.e., the square root of the conditional variance, as a measure of risk, we re-write Equation (1) as:

$$\mathbf{r}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\mu} + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{l} \mathbf{r}_{t-l} + \mathbf{D} \mathbf{h}_{t}^{1/2} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t} | I_{t-1} \sim N(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{H}_{t})$$
(6)

where **D** is a (6 x 6) diagonal parameter matrix with elements δ_{ii} and $\mathbf{h}_{t} = [h_{11t}, h_{22t}, \dots, h_{66t}]'$. The corresponding multivariate GARCH models conditional on this mean return specification are denoted as MGARCH(1,1)-M1-EK, MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCK and MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL. The models with conditional variance. \mathbf{h}_{t} , instead of $\mathbf{h}_{t}^{1/2}$ in Equation (6) are denoted as MGARCH(1,1)-M2-EK, MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCK and MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL. Finally, the models with the log of conditional standard deviation, log(\mathbf{h}_{t}), instead of $\mathbf{h}_{t}^{1/2}$ in Equation (6) are denoted as MGARCH(1,1)-M3-CCTL.

As was discussed in the Chapter 2, the traditional VAR model in first differences is valid only if the levels of the variables in the vector system are not cointegrated. Otherwise, if the variables are cointegrated in the levels, then error-correction terms should be included in the model in first differences in order to capture the long-run equilibrium relationship among the variables in the system. Since our results indicate that the Philippine stock market index is not cointegrated with the five other national stock market indexes in our sample during the pre-liberalization subperiod, then the traditional VAR in returns (first differences of the natural logarithm of the stock market indexes) is well specified for this period. However, since we found a significant cointegrating relationship among these stock market indexes in the post-liberalization subperiod, then we need to impose this long-run relationship in the MGARCH models for this subperiod.¹⁰ Given these previous findings, the mean return equations in the MGARCH models for the post-liberalization subperiod are modified to include the error-correction term based on the (unnormalized) cointegrating vector obtained in Chapter 2. The first specification of the mean returns processes given in Equation (3) for the post-liberalization subperiod is now:

$$\mathbf{r}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\mu} + \sum_{i=1}^{L} \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{i} \mathbf{r}_{t-i} + \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t} | I_{t-1} \sim N(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{H}_{t})$$
(7)

where $\alpha = [\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_6]$ is the vector of speeds of adjustment of the weekly national stock market price indexes to the long-run equilibrium relationship underlying the cointegrating vector given by [2.282, 7.792, -3.780, 5.975, -4.634, -9.681], $z_{t-1} = 2.282S_{1,t-1} + 7.792S_{2,t-1} - 3.780S_{3,t-1} + 5.975S_{4,t-1} - 4.634S_{5,t-1} - 9.681S_{6,t-1}$ is the long-run equilibrium error describing the short-run deviations of the stock market price indexes from the long-run equilibrium relationship, and $S_{i,t}$ is country *i*'s weekly stock market price index in levels. The specification of the mean returns processes given in Equation (6) is accordingly modified as:

$$\mathbf{r}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\mu} + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{l} \mathbf{r}_{t-l} + \boldsymbol{\alpha} z_{t-1} + \mathbf{D} \mathbf{h}_{t}^{1/2} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t} | I_{t-1} \sim N(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{H}_{t}).$$
(8)

As in the pre-liberalization subperiod, we also consider \mathbf{h}_r and $\log(\mathbf{h}_r)$, instead of $\mathbf{h}_r^{1/2}$, in Equation (8) as alternative specifications of the mean returns process for the post-liberalization subperiod.

4.3.2. Estimation and Model Selection Procedure

Before jointly estimating the parameters of the mean returns equations and conditional variance-covariance matrix of each of the MGARCH models, we first determine the optimal lag order, L, of the VAR process for the mean returns using the multivariate Schwarz Information Criterion (SIC). Using the chosen lag order, we then re-estimate the VAR using heteroscedasticity-consistent standard errors (Newey and West (1987). Robust standard errors are used since the preliminary statistics provide evidence on the presence of conditional heteroscedasticity in each stock market return series. The significance of the lagged returns regressors in each country's mean return equation are determined using these robust standard errors. For a parsimonious representation, only the lagged returns regressors, which are found to be significant at the 0.10 level, are eventually included in the joint estimation of the mean return and conditional variance parameters of all MGARCH models. Since the preliminary diagnostics indicate that volatility spillover rather than returns spillover is the more interesting issue for the Philippines, paring down the 'full' VAR specification to include only the potentially significant lagged returns regressors might not really be a major concern. For the post-liberalization subperiod, we also include the error-correction term z_{r-1} in the VAR. This error-correction term is likewise retained in the joint estimation of

the mean return and conditional variance-covariance parameters of the six national stock markets.

Under the assumption of conditional normality, the log-likelihood function for the MGARCH models is given by

$$L(\boldsymbol{\Theta}) = 3Tlog(2\pi) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left(log | \mathbf{H}_t | + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_t' \mathbf{H}_t^{-1} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_t \right)$$
(9)

where T denotes the sample size and Θ represents all the unknown parameters in ε , and H_{t} . The parameters of the mean returns and conditional variance equations of each of the MGARCH models considered in this study are jointly estimated by numerical maximization of the conditional log-likelihood function given in Equation (9) using the Berndt, Hall, Hall and Hausman (1974) algorithm.

Finally, for each subperiod, we use the SIC to choose the final MGARCH model that will be the basis of the mean return and volatility spillovers analysis. We also conduct a series of misspecification tests to assess the general validity of the chosen model for each subperiod.

4.4. EMPIRICAL RESULTS

4.4.1. Preliminary Results from the Vector Autoregression (VAR) Specification

As mentioned in the previous section, we first determine the optimal VAR lag order in the mean returns equations of the six national stock markets in the system. Based on theSIC, the optimal VAR lag length (i.e., at which SIC is minimum) is one for both the pre- and post-liberalization. Tables 4.6 and 4.7 report the estimates for the VAR(1) in returns for both subperiods.

An examination of the results for the pre-liberalization subperiod in Table 4.6 indicates that for the Philippine stock market returns equation, none of the coefficient estimates for the first-order lags are significant. This implies that there are no lagged own nor cross-market return spillovers from the other five markets to the Philippine market during this period. Lagged cross-market return spillovers seem to occur from the Philippines to the U.S. and from Singapore to Hong Kong, although these are significant only at the 0.10 level. On the other hand, own-lagged return coefficients are statistically significant only for the markets of Taiwan and Hong Kong. That past Philippine stock market returns affect U.S. stock market returns is quite surprising given the relatively small Philippine market. For the post-liberalization subperiod, all the lagged returns coefficients in the mean return equation are still insignificant indicating that past changes in the stock market prices of the other market do not influence the stock returns in this market. Moreover, the coefficient of the error-correction term is significant only in the Philippine mean return equation. The only cross-market return spillovers that

appear to be statistically significant, although quite weak, are those from the Philippines to Hong Kong and from Japan to the U.S. The only significant own-lagged returns coefficient is found for the U.S. market.

The preceding VAR results suggest that, in general, there is no transmission of short-run stock market price changes from the markets of the Philippines' major economic partners to the Philippine stock market. Furthermore, the liberalization of the Philippine capital market seems to have no impact on the responsiveness of the mean returns on the Philippine stock market index to changes in the stock prices of the other five markets. Finally, very little lagged cross-market returns spillovers occur in the other markets in both pre- and post- liberalization subperiods. However, this method ignores the potential cross-market spillovers of these volatilities that may be occurring at the same time. These are taken into account in the MGARCH models.

As discussed in the previous section, we use the VAR results to determine which lagged returns series to include in the joint estimation of the mean return and conditional variance parameters of the MGARCH models considered in this study. Tests of the null hypothesis that the coefficients of the lagged returns which were found to be insignificant are all zero were likewise conducted. The results of these tests, reported in Tables 4.6 and 4.7, indicate that the null hypothesis cannot be rejected at the conventional levels of significance for each country's mean return equation. Therefore, only the following lagged returns are included in the parsimonious representation of the mean returns processes of the six national stock market indexes. For the preliberalization subperiod, we include Philippine lagged returns for the U.S. mean equation, none for the mean return equations of the Philippines, Japan and Singapore, own lagged returns for the equation of Taiwan, and own lagged returns and lagged returns of the Singapore stock market index for the mean return equation of Hong Kong. For the post-liberalization subperiod, we include own lagged returns and lagged returns of the Japanese stock market index for the U.S. mean equation, Philippine lagged returns for the equation of Hong Kong, and none for the equations of the Philippines, Japan, Taiwan and Singapore. Otherwise, all parameters in the mean returns equations are restricted to be zero. In addition, the error-correction term representing the adjustment of these national stock market indexes to their long-run equilibrium relationship are included in the post-liberalization subperiod mean return equations.

4.4.2. Results from the Multivariate GARCH Specification

The twelve MGARCH versions considered in this study were estimated using the preceding mean returns parameterization. Allowing the specification of the -in Mean term to be free and selecting the model on the basis of best fit result in the MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL being chosen as the best model for the pre-liberalization subperiod and the MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL for the post-liberalization subperiod. As mentioned earlier, both of these models allow for own and cross-market volatility spillovers through past squared innovations and assumes that the conditional correlations between the returns of any two markets are constant over time. The only difference

between these two models is the specification of the -in Mean term that appears in the mean return equation of each national stock market. In the MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL model, the expected return on each national stock market in our study is specified as a linear function of its own contemporaneous conditional variance. The eigenvalues of this model are 0.9833, 0.9345, 0.8169, 0.7096, and 0.6004, which indicate that the process is covariance stationary. On the other hand, in the MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL model, the expected return on each market is specified as a linear function of its own contemporaneous condition. The eigenvalues of this model are 0.9717, 0.9567, 0.9474, 0.8915, 0.5511, and 0.5511, which is an indication that the process is covariance stationary.¹¹

The joint estimation results for the multivariate GARCH models, obtained under the auxiliary assumption of conditional normality, for the pre- and post-liberalization subperiods are reported in Tables 4.8 and 4.9, respectively. Each of these tables include the estimated coefficients and asymptotic t-values.¹²

Prior to discussing the results, we reiterate that since the break in the overall was determined solely by events relating to the Philippine market, we do not claim that any observed changes in the own- or cross-market influences in return and return volatility for the other markets are attributable to Philippine capital market liberalization.

Mean Return Spillovers

Since the analysis based on the traditional VAR methodology reveals that there is very little cross-market return spillovers occurring between six the national stock markets and that no return spillovers occur from the other five markets to the Philippine market in both pre- and post-liberalization subperiods, we simply focus on the differences in the mean equation parameter estimates between this methodology and those obtained using our chosen multivariate GARCH model.

It can be observed from Table 4.8 that, for the pre-liberalization subperiod, the lagged mean return spillover from the Philippine stock market to the U.S. stock market, measured by the coefficient $\phi_{PHL,US}$, has become more significant (from 0.10 to 0.05 level) after accounting for the GARCH-in mean effects and the potential cross-market volatility spillover that might be simultaneously occurring. That past Philippine stock returns significantly affect the U.S. market is quite surprising given the relatively small size of the Philippine stock market. On the other hand, the coefficient estimate of own-market lagged returns of Hong Kong, $\phi_{HK,HK}$, as well as the lagged mean return spillover from the Singapore market to the stock market of Hong Kong, $\phi_{SIN,HK}$, which were significant under the VAR specification, have become insignificant under the multivariate GARCH model. Moreover, the coefficients on own-conditional variance, δ_{ii} , in all mean return equations are statistically insignificant, providing no evidence for a relationship between mean market returns and market risk in each of the six national stock markets.

On the other hand, Table 4.9 shows that for the post-liberalization subperiod, the coefficient estimate measuring lagged return spillovers from the Philippine market to the stock market of Hong Kong, ϕ_{PHLHK} , has become insignificant under the multivariate GARCH specification. The lagged mean return spillover from the market of Japan to the U.S. market, $\phi_{IPN IIS}$, remains to be weakly significant (0.10 level) under the multivariate GARCH model. On the other hand, the estimates of the coefficients of short-run adjustments toward the cointegrating relationship among the six markets, are now statistically significant for the markets of the Philippines (α_{PHL}) and Singapore (α_{SIN}) under the multivariate GARCH parameterization. The evidence of short-run adjustments toward the cointegrating relationship in the Taiwan market is weak given that the estimate of the coefficient α_{TWV} is only significant at the 0.10 level. Given that the errorcorrection term is significant in only 2 of the equations, one may raise the issue that the misspecification induced by excluding the error-correction term, z_{t-1} , from Equation (8) is mild or not serious. However, the results of performing a likelihood ratio test of the null hypothesis that all the coefficients α are jointly zero in Table 4.9 suggests strongly that the error-correction term should be maintained.¹³

It is noticeable that the intercept for the Philippine mean return equation, μ_{PHL} , is negative. At first glance, this suggests that when volatility is close to zero then the returns on the Philippine stock market index will fall by about one-half of 1% per week. However, the average value of the error-correction series, z_{t-1} , over the postliberalization sample is -40.6. This implies that the error-correction mechanism raises Philippine returns by approximately half a percent per week on average and thus offsets the impact of a period of negligible volatility.

Turning to the estimates of the impact of conditional volatility on each market return series, we find that the positive coefficient estimate on the conditional standard deviation of Philippine stock market returns, $\delta_{PHL,PHL}$, is statistically significant during the post-liberalization subperiod. The coefficient estimate on the conditional standard deviation of returns on the U.S. and Hong Kong stock market indexes, $\delta_{US,US}$ and $\delta_{HK,HK}$. respectively, are also statistically significant, although these are of a negative sign. Given that the coefficient on the conditional standard deviation is an appropriate measure of market risk, the preceding results provide evidence for a significant time-varying riskreturn relationship in the Philippine stock market. This evidence of positive and significant conditional market volatility-conditional expected market return relationship is consistent with the findings of Campbell and Hentschel (1992) and French, Schwert and Stambaugh (1987) for the U.S. market. In contrast, De Santis et al. (1995) find this relationship to be negative, although statistically insignificant, in their univariate GARCH(1,1)-in Mean estimation of weekly returns on the Philippine stock market index over the period January 1989 to September 1994. However, they cite the lack of power of their univariate test as one possible reason for the strong rejection of the hypothesis that country-specific volatility affects expected returns. They point out that studies which use a multivariate analysis based on a similar approach, e.g., Bollerslev, Engle and Woolridge (1988), cannot reject the hypothesis that country-specific risk is priced. Therefore, it is possible that the different results obtained in this study is a result

of our multivariate framework which uses a relatively richer information set. On the other hand, the negative and statistically significant relationship between the conditional market volatility and conditional expected market returns of the U.S. and Hong Kong stock markets is similar to the results of the studies using U.S. stock market data by Fama and Schwert (1977), Campbell (1987), Pagan and Hong (1991), Breen, Glosten and Jagannathan (1989), Turner, Startz and Nelson (1989), and Nelson (1991).

The finding of no lagged return spillovers from the other markets to the Philippine stock market in both pre- and post- liberalization subperiods should not be misconstrued as indicating that the short-run dynamics of this market are independent of the stock price movements of the other five markets. Nor should we interpret the overall finding of very few mean return spillovers among the six national stock markets as suggestive that their short-run stock market movements are entirely independent. As mentioned earlier, it is possible that intermarket volatility spillovers may be occurring at the same time. One possible reason for the weak mean return spillover results is the rapid rate of transmission of stock market price changes (i.e., returns) between markets. For example, Eun and Shim (1989), Koch and Koch (1991), Chowdhury (1994), and Karolyi (1995) find that, using daily stock market returns series of industrialized countries, these intermarket responses are rapidly transmitted across markets and tend to be completed within one or two days. Therefore, such intermarket responses may not be apparent in our study since we employ weekly data. Theodossiou et al. (1993) also use weekly data for five major world stock markets and they find very few significant mean return spillovers among these markets.

Nevertheless, whether daily or weekly data are used, these results may not at all be surprising considering the arguments of Kyle (1985) and Ross (1989) that much of the information would be revealed in the volatility of an asset's price rather than the price change itself. Hence, a more interesting issue is whether volatility is correlated across the six national stock markets; i.e., whether volatility spillovers occur between these markets given that they adjust to new market information.

In summary, our return spillover analysis indicates that,

(1) Before accounting for ARCH effects, we find very little and weakly significant lagged return spillovers among the Philippine stock market and the five other national stock markets in both pre- and post-liberalization subperiods. In particular, we find no return spillovers from the foreign stock markets to the Philippine stock market.

(2) In general, we find no significant cross-market return spillovers after controlling for ARCH effects in both subperiods. One possible reason for this finding is the rapid rate of intermarket transmission of stock market price changes. Previous studies find that such intermarket returns spillovers tend to be completed within one or two days. Such intermarket responses may not be apparent in our study given that we employ weekly data.

Volatility Spillovers

Tables 4.8 and 4.9 also report the results of joint estimation of the conditional volatility processes for the six national stock markets for the pre- and post-liberalization subperiods, respectively. The parameter estimates of the conditional variance and conditional covariance equations of each market are shown in the second up to the seventh columns of these tables. It should be noted that in this multivariate GARCH parameterization, own- and cross-market past squared innovations are assumed to represent the own- and cross-market volatility spillover variables, respectively.

Pre-liberalization Subperiod. The overall results for the pre-liberalization subperiod indicate evidence for time-varying conditional volatility of returns on the six national stock markets. Table 4.8 shows that for the pre-liberalization subperiod, the estimated coefficients on the past period's own-market conditional variance, b_{ii} , are all statistically significant at the 0.01 level, except for that of Japan, suggesting high volatility persistence in these markets. Also, own-market lagged volatility spillovers, measured by the coefficients a_{ii} , are all statistically significant at the 0.01 level, except for that of 0.01 level, except for that of the U.S. market. However, the results indicate that, in general, there is no evidence of lagged volatility spillovers among the non-Philippine stock markets during the pre-liberalization subperiod. There is some evidence of volatility spillover from the stock market of Singapore to the U.S. market, although this is quite weak. The coefficient estimate of $a_{SIN,US}$, which captures this spillover effect, is significantly different from zero only at the 0.10 level.

Turning to the results involving the Philippine stock market, we find that lagged volatility spillover occurs from the stock markets of the U.S., Taiwan and Japan to the Philippine market, as indicated by the estimates of the coefficients $a_{US,PHL}$, $a_{TWN,PHL}$, and a_{JPN.PHL}, which are significant at least at the 0.05 level. The evidence of volatility spillover from the Hong Kong market to the Philippine market is weak given that the coefficient estimate of $a_{HK,PHL}$ is significantly different from zero only at the 0.10 level. The magnitude of volatility spillover from the U.S. market is largest (0.2627), followed by Taiwan (0.1221), then Japan (0.0996), and finally Hong Kong (-0.0068). In general, there is no evidence of volatility spillover from the Philippine market to the other markets. In particular, there is only weak evidence of lagged volatility spillover from the Philippine market to the U.S. market. This volatility spillover effect is captured by the coefficient a_{PHLUS}, which is significant only at the 0.10 level. The generally unidirectional volatility spillover to the Philippine market is expected given the small size of this national stock market. An interesting result for this subperiod is that the magnitude of lagged own-market volatility spillover for the Philippines, 0.6500, is definitely larger than the magnitudes of volatility spillover originating from the markets of the U.S., Taiwan, Japan and Hong Kong. In fact, this is also the largest own-market volatility coefficient among the six markets. One implication of this finding is that the influence of own past innovations on the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns is greater than the influence of volatility shocks in the foreign markets. This possibly reflects the effect of barriers to foreign capital flows that existed in the Philippine market

during the pre-liberalization subperiod. Such restrictions could have insulated the domestic stock market returns from international influences, making it responsive largely to local developments. Evidence for this argument is provided by the results in the post-liberalization subperiod.

The finding of some evidence of lagged volatility spillover to the Philippine market during the pre-liberalization supports the argument that international transmission of stock market movements can occur, even in the presence of impediments to cross-country investing, between countries with strong economic linkage. It should be recalled that the foreign countries in this study are the Philippines' major trading partners and investors. In particular, the U.S. has historically been the main economic partner of the Philippines and thus, the significant influence of innovations of the U.S. stock market on the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns might have been a result of the high degree of dependence of the Philippine economy on the U.S. economy. Consequently, any news about that affects the economic fundamentals in the U.S., which are reflected in the volatility of U.S. stock market returns, are most likely to influence the Philippine market fundamentals and consequently the volatility of Philippine stock market returns.

Post-Liberalization Subperiod. The results for the post-liberalization subperiod, shown in Table 4.9, also provide evidence of time-varying conditional volatility of returns for the six markets. For all six markets, the estimated coefficients on past own conditional volatility are all significantly different from zero at the 0.01 level. The estimates of the coefficients on own-market volatility spillover are all significantly different from zero at least at the 0.05 level, except those of the Philippines and Singapore. Lagged volatility spillovers among the non-Philippine stock markets occur from Taiwan to Singapore and from Singapore to Japan, as indicated by the estimates of the coefficients $a_{TWN,SIN}$ and $a_{SIN,JPN}$, which are significantly different from zero at the 0.05 level. There is weak evidence of volatility spillover from the stock market of Taiwan to the U.S. market, given that the coefficient estimate of $a_{TWN,US}$ is significantly different from zero only at the 0.10 level.

In general, the results involving the Philippine stock market suggest that significant volatility transmission occurs from all the five other markets to the Philippine market, although evidence of volatility spillover originating from the stock market of Taiwan is relatively weak. The estimates of the coefficients $a_{US,PHL}$, $a_{JPN,PHL}$, $a_{HK,PHL}$ and $a_{SIN,PHL}$, which capture the lagged volatility spillover from the U.S., Japan, Hong Kong and Singapore, respectively, are all significantly different from zero at the 0.01 level. However, the coefficient estimate of $a_{TWN,PHL}$, which measures volatility spillover originating from the stock market of Taiwan is significantly different only at the 0.10 level. As in the pre-liberalization subperiod, volatility spillover is generally unidirectional toward the Philippine market. The evidence of volatility spillover from the Philippine market to the markets of the U.S. and Hong Kong are quite weak given that the estimates of the coefficients $a_{PHL,US}$ and $a_{PHL,HK}$ are significantly different from zero only at the 0.10 level. In absolute terms, the magnitude of volatility spillover from

Singapore is largest (0.5231), followed by that from the U.S. market (-0.3284), then Hong Kong (-0.1641), then Japan (-0.0761), and finally, that from Taiwan (0.0694). These results, combined with the fact that the own-market volatility spillover for the Philippines has become insignificant during the post-liberalization subperiod, implies that conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns has become more responsive to information reflected in the past innovations of the foreign stock markets. This is in contrast with the pre-liberalization subperiod results in which local information contained in past own-market innovations had a greater influence on the conditional variance of Philippine stock market returns than the information reflected in past innovations of the foreign stock markets.

Furthermore, a comparison of Tables 4.8 and 4.9 reveals that the conditional correlations are, in general, slightly higher in the post-liberalization subperiod. However, the absolute increase in the conditional correlations is much more pronounced in the case of the conditional correlation of the Philippine stock market returns with the returns on each of the remaining five national stock markets. In fact, except for the conditional correlation with respect to Japan, all conditional correlations of the Philippine market with the other markets have become statistically significant in the post-liberalization subperiod. In particular, the highest absolute increase in conditional correlation of Philippine returns with foreign market returns (0.1974) is that with respect to Singapore, then that with respect to Hong Kong (0.1700), then Taiwan (0.1515), then the U.S. market (0.1474), while the lowest absolute increase (0.0780) is that with respect to Japan.

That the magnitude of volatility spillover from Singapore to the Philippines is largest and that the conditional correlation is strongest between the markets of the Philippines and Singapore may be due to the geographical proximity of these countries and the fact that both countries are members of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) and the ASEAN Free Trade Association (AFTA). As members, they have more economic policy coordination in terms of intra-regional trade and investment. In fact, while the U.S. has historically been the traditional major economic partner, there has been stronger emphasis on intra-ASEAN trade and investment activities among the ASEAN countries in recent years. This might explain why the volatility spillover originating from Singapore has become significant only during the post-liberalization subperiod. In addition, Singapore is the leading financial center in Southeast Asia. These factors translate to a greater economic linkage between the two countries and might have contributed to the greater responsiveness of the Philippine stock market to movements in the stock prices of the Singapore market. This also helps explain the finding that short-run adjustments to the long-run equilibrium relationship among the six markets are significant only in the case of the returns on the stock markets of the Philippines and Singapore.

The finding of stronger evidence of lagged volatility spillovers from the other national stock markets to the Philippine market during the post-liberalization subperiod possibly reflects the impact of the removal of barriers to international investments that occurred during this period. This is consistent with the results of Kim et al. (1995) and Ng et al. (1991). As was discussed in the Theoretical Framework, the removal of international investment barriers also promotes the international transmission of stock market movements. This is because capital market liberalization facilitates cross-country investing and arbitrage activities by both local and foreign investors which are necessary to bring about equalization of asset returns in these international markets. Moreover, this view implies that market liberalization increases the importance of the information contained in the volatility of international stock market returns on domestic stock market movements. These results are also consistent with the results in Chapter 2 which suggest that capital market liberalization increased the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market with the markets of its major economic partners. Consequently, this increased the sensitivity of the volatility of foreign equities.

In summary, our volatility spillover analysis indicates that:

(1) Significant lagged volatility spillovers occur from some foreign national stock markets to the Philippine stock market during the pre-liberalization subperiod. This is consistent with the view that international transmission of stock market movements can occur among countries with strong economic linkage, even in the presence of barriers to international investments. The strong economic linkage between economies potentially creates an informational link across their respective equity markets. News that is revealed in one country is perceived by investors as informative to the price fundamentals of equities in another country.

(2) Significant lagged volatility spillovers occur from all foreign national stock markets to the Philippine stock market during the post-liberalization subperiod. The stronger evidence of cross-market volatility transmission in this subperiod possibly reflects the impact of the removal of significant barriers to international capital flows in the Philippines. This is consistent with the view that capital market liberalization facilitates cross-border investing and arbitrage activities which, in turn, increases the sensitivity of domestic stock market movements to global developments.

(3) Volatility spillover is uni-directional toward the Philippine stock market in both preand post-liberalization subperiods. This is expected given that the Philippine equity market is small relative to those of the five foreign stock markets.

(4) The finding of significant lagged volatility spillovers to the Philippine market despite not detecting any significant lagged return spillovers from the foreign markets to this same market is consistent with the view that information is more likely to be revealed in the volatility of an asset's price than on its simple price changes.

It should be noted that although the maximum likelihood estimates of the volatility spillover coefficients in Tables 4.8 and 4.9 are indicative about how a shock in one market influences the future weekly volatility in the Philippine stock market, these

estimates do not provide the precise answer. Consider the post-liberalization results. Suppose that there is a shock in the U.S. market. Then, the impact of the U.S. disturbance will influence the weekly Philippine volatility through a direct effect in the Philippine conditional volatility equation and an indirect effect through the increased weekly volatility in the Hong Kong market. The dynamic reactions of a particular national stock market to own- and other-market return shocks is provided by the impulse response functions of conditional volatility. Specifically, the precise impact of a unit returns shock (the squared return innovation) originating from market j at date t on market i at date t+s can be obtained from the impulse response functions of conditional GARCH system is discussed below.

Impulse Responses of Conditional Stock Market Volatility

Following Lin (1997) and Engle, Ito and Lin (1990), the impulse response functions for conditional volatility of both MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL and MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL models for the six-national stock market system are given by

$$\mathbf{R}_{s,6} = \partial \mathbf{h}_{t+s|t} / \partial \mathbf{u}_{t}$$
(10)

where $\mathbf{R}_{s,6}$, a 6x6 matrix, measures the response of future volatility of the six-market system to a one-unit shock in \mathbf{u}_t ; $\mathbf{u}_t = [\varepsilon_{1t}^2, \varepsilon_{2t}^2, \cdots, \varepsilon_{6t}^2]'$; $\mathbf{h}_{t+s|t}$ is the prediction of \mathbf{h}_{t+s} conditional on the information set available at time t, ψ_t , where ψ_t , $= \{\varepsilon_{t-j}\}_{j=0}^{j=\infty}$; and, \mathbf{h}_t is as defined in Equation (5).

Now,

$$\mathbf{R}_{s,6} = \left[R_{s,ij} \right]_{6 \times 6} = \left[\frac{\partial h_{ii,t-su}}{\partial \varepsilon_{j,t}^2} \right]_{6 \times 6}$$
(11)

where $R_{s,ij}$ is the *s*-periods-ahead impulse response coefficient of conditional volatility of market *i* to the squared innovation of market *j* that occurs at time *t*, *i,j*=1,2,...,6. Following Lin (1997), we obtain the *s*-step impulse response functions of \mathbf{h}_t to \mathbf{u}_t as

$$R_{1.6}=A$$
, for $s=1$

and

$$\mathbf{R}_{s,6} = (\mathbf{B} + \mathbf{A})^{s-1} \mathbf{R}_{1,6}, \quad \text{for } s \ge 2$$

where A and B are 6×6 parameter matrices defined earlier. Because of the symmetry of the conditional volatility process employed in this study, the impulse responses of each national stock market return series' conditional volatility to a positive shock and to a

(12)

negative shock are equal. The standard errors of the impulse response coefficients can be computed based on the following procedure.

Lin (1997) shows that, $\operatorname{vec} \mathbf{R}_{x,6}$, evaluated at the maximum likelihood estimates. $\hat{\mathbf{\theta}}$, is asymptotically normally distributed with mean **0** and variance $T^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{x,6}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\mathbf{0}}\mathbf{G}'_{x,6}$, where $\boldsymbol{\theta}=[\mathbf{A},\mathbf{B}]_{6x12}$, vec is the vector operator that stacks the columns of the matrix, $T^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\theta}$ is the variance-covariance matrix of $\operatorname{vec}\hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$, and $\mathbf{G}_{x,6} = \nabla_{\operatorname{vec}\boldsymbol{\theta}}\operatorname{vec}\mathbf{R}_{x,6} = \partial\operatorname{vec}\mathbf{R}_{x,6}/\partial\operatorname{vec}\boldsymbol{\theta}$. Following the procedure of Lin (1997), we obtain

$$\mathbf{G}_{L6} = (\mathbf{I}_6 \otimes \mathbf{I}_6) \mathbf{A}_{\bullet}, \quad \text{for } s=1$$

and

 $\mathbf{G}_{s,6} = \left[\mathbf{I}_6 \otimes (\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B})\right] \mathbf{G}_{s-1,6} + \left(\mathbf{R}'_{s-1,6} \otimes \mathbf{I}_6\right) \left(\mathbf{A}_{\bullet} + \mathbf{B}_{\bullet}\right), \quad \text{for } s \ge 2$

where $A_0 = \nabla_{vec0} vecA = e_{1,2} \otimes I_{36}$, $B_0 = \nabla_{vec0} vecB = e_{2,2} \otimes I_{36}$, and $e_{m,2}$ is a 1x2 vector with one in th *m*-th element and zero elsewhere. The standard errors of the impulse response coefficients are computed as the square root of the appropriate diagonal elements of the matrix $T^{-1}G_{1,6}\Sigma_0G'_{1,6}$.

By applying the preceding expressions to our maximum likelihood estimates of the parameter matrices A and B, we can keep track of the impact of the weekly conditional volatility in one market on the weekly conditional volatility of the other markets over time and examine the speed at which the impulse response of the conditional volatility of a given market dies out. We only report the results for the Philippine stock market.

Tables 4.10 and 4.11 report the *s*-weeks ahead impulse response coefficients and their corresponding *t*-ratios for the pre- and post-liberalization subperiods, respectively, over a 52-week horizon. Figures 4.2.1 through 4.2.6 show the plots of the time paths of the impulse response functions of conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns to a one-unit shock (i.e., squared innovation) in its own-market returns and in the stock market returns of each of its major economic partners for the pre-liberalization subperiod. Figures 4.3.1 through 4.3.6 show the corresponding plots for the post-liberalization subperiod. Each plot shows how weekly volatility in the Philippine stock market. For each plot, the horizontal axis represents the number of weeks which have transpired from the week of the shock in a particular market. On the other hand, the vertical axis measures the conditional volatility increment from the initial impact.

The impulse response curves in Figures 4.2.1 through 4.2.6, plotted based on the coefficients reported in Table 4.10, indicate that innovations in own-market returns and returns on the stock market indexes of the U.S., Taiwan and Japan have a significant

(13)

short-run dynamic effect on the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns. In particular, it can be observed that own-market return innovation has the largest initial (1-week ahead) impact on the predicted conditional variance of Philippine stock market returns, relative to the impact of return innovations originating from the foreign stock markets. An examination of the speed at which the impact of an initial return shock in each market on Philippine conditional variance dies out reveals some interesting results. Based on the standard errors and corresponding t-ratios of the impulse response coefficients, as reported in Table 4.10, the impact of an initial shock in own-market returns on Philippine conditional volatility remains significant up to 4 weeks into the future, using a 0.05 level of significance cut-off point. On the other hand, the dynamic impact of an initial U.S. market return innovation on Philippine conditional volatility remains significant up to 6 weeks into the future. The impact of an initial innovation in Taiwan stock market returns becomes statistically insignificant only after 7 weeks. The dynamic effect of an initial innovation in the Japanese stock market returns lasts up to 4 weeks. On the other hand, Figures 4.2.5 and 4.2.6 suggest that the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns has relatively trivial dynamic response to the return innovations of Hong Kong and Singapore stock markets. Table 4.10 shows that the initial impact of a unit return innovation in the Hong Kong market is significant only at the 0.10 level and does not display any significant incremental effect after 1 week. Meanwhile, a unit return shock in the stock market of Singapore does not have any significant impact on the future conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns. The results also suggest that although own-market return innovation has the largest initial impact on Philippine conditional volatility, a return shock in the stock markets of Taiwan and the U.S. tend to be more persistent, with the effect of a shock in the Taiwan market being the most persistent.¹⁴

The results for the post-liberalization subperiod reveal some interesting observations. It can be seen from Figures 4.3.1 through 4.3.6 and Table 4.11 that the conditional variance of Philippine stock market returns exhibit significant dynamic response to a return innovation in all five foreign markets, but not with respect to its own-market return shock. The initial impact of a return shock in the foreign stock markets on Philippine conditional variance are all larger than the initial effect of ownmarket return innovation. For this subperiod, the largest initial impact on the predicted conditional variance of Philippine stock market returns is displayed by an innovation in the stock market returns of Singapore, followed by that of the U.S., then Hong Kong, then Japan, and finally Taiwan. An inspection of Table 4.11 indicates that the effect of the initial return shock in the Singapore market on future Philippine conditional volatility remains significant up to 3 weeks, using a 0.05 level of significance cut-off point. On the other hand, the impact of a one-unit shock in the U.S. stock market returns becomes insignificant after 1 week. An initial market return shock originating from Hong Kong dies out after 2 weeks. Finally, while the one-week ahead impact of a unit innovation in the stock market return of Taiwan is only weakly significant and is the lowest among the five foreign markets in terms of magnitude, its effect on future Philippine stock market return conditional volatility remains significant at the 0.05 level up to 6 weeks into the future. As in the pre-liberalization subperiod, the Taiwan stock

market return shock has the most persistent effect on Philippine conditional volatility during the post-liberalization subperiod.

The results of the analysis of the impulse response of the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns reinforce the findings and conclusions arrived at in the previous section. Significant volatility spillover effects occur from the stock markets of the major economic partners of the Philippines to the Philippine stock market, with the evidence apparently stronger during the post-liberalization subperiod. In addition, the impulse response analysis provides important information on the dynamic reaction of the conditional volatility of Philippine returns beyond that which can be inferred from the estimated coefficients reported in Tables 8 and 9. In particular, the preceding results indicate that the volatility spillover effect from the foreign markets display a dynamic impact on the future conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns. For the foreign markets for which the volatility spillover effect is statistically significant, the impact of an initial return shock originating from the foreign stock market on Philippine conditional volatility generally persists from 1 up to 7 weeks into the future. Compared to the empirical findings on the impulse response of domestic stock market conditional mean returns (e.g., Hamao et al., 1990; and, Karolyi, 1995), our results suggest that the impact of foreign stock market return innovations on domestic market conditional volatility is more persistent. There is no way of comparing our results with previous studies on international transmission of stock market movements since these studies did not examine the impulse responses of conditional volatility. However, evidence from studies which examined volatility transmission among foreign exchange markets indicate that a shock to conditional volatility appears to be quite persistent. For example, Engle et al. (1990) find that the impulse response functions of conditional volatility of the exchange rates in their sample die out only after approximately two weeks. On the other hand, Lin (1997) finds that, for the set of exchange rates in his sample, the impulse response functions generally do not die out, suggesting a persistent effect of exchange rate shock on conditional volatility.

Moreover, two important findings emerge from this dynamic analysis. First, a comparison of the two subperiod results indicate that all of the cross-market impulse responses of Philippine conditional volatility are generally larger than its own-market impulse response in the post-liberalization subperiod than those in the pre-liberalization subperiod. For the pre-liberalization subperiod, the impact of own-market return innovations on future Philippine conditional volatility are larger in magnitude than the impulse response to a foreign market return shock. This suggests that the degree of dependence of Philippine stock market return volatility on the market return volatility of its major economic partners has increased during the post-liberalization subperiod, possibly as a result of the capital market liberalization reforms instituted over this time interval. Secondly, a return shock to Philippine volatility emanating from its own-market and from the foreign stock markets is generally less persistent during the post-liberalization subperiod (i.e., shocks take longer to die out during the pre-liberalization subperiod than during the post-liberalization subperiod.).

It is interesting to note that the post-liberalization subperiod results indicate a fundamental difference between the dynamic impacts on Philippine conditional volatility of stock market innovations from the U.S., Japan and Hong Kong and those originating from Taiwan and Singapore. On the one hand, Philippine conditional volatility exhibits a positive dynamic response to innovations originating from Taiwan and Singapore markets. This implies that an increase in volatility in these markets brings about an increase in future volatility of Philippine stock market returns. On the other hand, the volatility spillover from the U.S., Japan and Hong Kong to the Philippine stock market in week t, either due to good or bad news, reduces volatility in the Philippine stock market in subsequent weeks, t+s. This latter finding appears to be counterintuitive.

Intuitively, we would expect a positive relationship in conditional volatilities of national stock markets whose economies are related through trade and investment and/or whose capital markets are integrated. This is because, as discussed in the Theoretical Framework section, countries with strong economic linkages and which are integrated with international capital markets are likely to be exposed to factors that cause common movements in international asset prices. Consequently, we expect such markets to react to news, possibly revealed in return volatility, in a similar fashion. Moreover, Ito, Engle and Lin (1992) argue that linkage of real economies through world-wide news, stochastic policy coordination, gradual dissemination of private information into asset prices. or market failures such as fad, bubbles or bandwagons (contagion effect argument of King and Wadhwani, 1990) can result into volatility clustering of stock returns across markets. This results in a positive correlation, contemporaneous as well as lagged, of return volatilities between stock markets. It should be recalled that the five foreign countries in this study are the Philippines' major economic partners. Also, our post-liberalization subperiod results in Chapter 2 indicate evidence of integration of the Philippine stock market with the stock markets of these countries. Therefore, it is quite surprising to find that, over time, an inverse relationship exists between Philippine volatility and the volatility of stock market returns of the U.S., Japan and Hong Kong. Similar effects have been found in the MGARCH models of Engle et al. (1990) and Lin (1997) in the foreign exchange market. However, these authors did not expound on why spillover effects are negative for some of the markets in their study.

French (1980) and French and Roll (1986) argue that trading activity causes volatility. Volatility appears to be caused by information revealed through trading. Moreover, several studies provide evidence for a positive relationship between trading (volume) and volatility in the (domestic) stock market (see, e.g., Karpoff 1987; Schwert 1989; Lamoureux and Lastrapes, 1991; Gallant, Rossi and Tauchen, 1992). Gallant et al. (1992) also find evidence that large stock market price movements are followed by high trading volume. Given these findings, we conjecture that not only does trading cause volatility but that volatility encourages trading. In addition, we hypothesize that foreign investors from countries with relatively large stock markets will move some of their portfolio investments back to their home markets, when these markets become more volatile. Moreover, it is possible that the local investors re-channel some of their

investments to these foreign stock markets as well. Consequently, if the portfolio equity investments of these investors represent a significant proportion of the total domestic stock market funds and if the local market is relatively small, then their withdrawal of trading will reduce future return volatility of the local stock market. That is, the withdrawal of trading effect overwhelms any positive linkages of the local market return volatility and the return volatilities of these foreign markets. These may explain the negative impulse response of Philippine stock market return conditional volatility to stock return innovations emanating from the markets of the U.S., Japan and Hong Kong.

Stylized facts seem to support our premise. As mentioned in Chapter 1, the Philippine stock market is still considered as relatively thin compared to those of its Asian neighbors. Furthermore, portfolio equity investments by foreigners represent majority of funds in the Philippine stock market especially in recent years. Official statistics as to the breakdown of percentage share of total foreign portfolio equity investments in the Philippine stock market by nationality is not available. The only statistics we were able to obtain are those with respect to cumulative registered foreign direct investment, which includes equity investments undertaken to acquire a lasting interest in domestic corporations and projects. As of end of 1992, the U.S. accounted for 47.41% of the total inward direct foreign equity investment stock, followed by Japan with 21.04%, and then Hong Kong with 6.58%. On the other hand, Taiwan and Singapore accounted for 0.90% and 0.95%, respectively, of total inward foreign direct investments.¹⁵ A Wall Street Journal (October 5, 1992) account states that of the U\$693 million new foreign investments during the first 8 months of 1992, US\$490 million went to purchase of listed securities. Moreover, U.S. investors are reported to account for 22% of these new investment. In addition, Tiglao (1991) reports that the New Yorkbased First Philippine Fund was the biggest single market investor in the Philippine stock market in 1991. Therefore, we speculate that the inward direct foreign investment figures mirror as well the ranking of portfolio equity investments by nationality of foreigner investors. On the other hand, evidence on growing interest of Philippine residents to invest abroad are reflected on the growth of outward investments. Tiglao (1995) reports that during the first half of the 1990s Philippine residents have become much larger investors in overseas markets than before. In particular, overseas investments by Filipinos and other residents grew from \$115 million in 1992 to \$1.1 billion in 1993 and further to \$1.3 billion in 1994. A large portion of these outward flows involve investments of Manila's biggest major corporations in overseas equity markets. A reason cited for this growth in outward portfolio investment is the liberalization of foreign exchange regulations. As mentioned in Chapter 1, strict limits on the amount of foreign exchange that Filipinos could bring outside of the country have been imposed by the Philippine government up until the end of 1991. However, the limits were eventually relaxed in 1992 when Philippine residents were allowed to purchase from the banking system up to US\$1 million annually for investments overseas, without prior Central Bank approval. This limit was further increased to \$6 million in 1993. Therefore, given the relatively small size of the Philippine stock market, a reduction in investment activity by these investors is expected to reduce overall market trading activity and therefore domestic market return volatility.

On the other hand, a reason for the positive impact of a shock in the returns on the stock markets of Singapore and Taiwan on future Philippine conditional possibly is because their percentage share of total foreign portfolio equity investment is relatively small. Consequently, withdrawal of trading in Philippine equities by investors from these countries have little or no effect on overall level of trading activity in the domestic market. As such, the positive linkages of Philippine stock market return volatility with those of Taiwan and Singapore more than offset the withdrawal of trading effect. Moreover, as mentioned in Chapter 2, access to Taiwan's stock market for foreign investors remain heavily restricted during the 1987 to 1995 period. For example, Taiwan regulations bar direct sales to individual foreign investors. Nonresidents are allowed to invest only in gualified foreign institutional investors (Euromoney, 1994). On the other hand, even Singapore, which is generally rated as a freely open market (International Finance Corporation, 1996) maintains restrictions on foreign ownership in strategic companies, such as local banks, Singapore International Airline, Singapore Petroleum Company, and listed firms in the state defense complexes, Singapore Technologies. Foreign share holdings in these entities are limited to 20 to 49 percent of issued capital (Euromoney, 1994). Moreover, although it is considered as a mature market, the size of the stock market of Singapore is a lot smaller than that of the developing market of Taiwan and the developed and mature market of Hong Kong.¹⁶ Therefore, it is unlikely that foreign investors, as well as Filipino investors, will concentrate their portfolio equity investments in this market.

In contrast, the results of the pre-liberalization subperiod analysis indicate a positive dynamic response of Philippine conditional volatility to innovations originating from the U.S., Taiwan and Japan. This finding is consistent with our preceding hypotheses. During this subperiod, significant barriers governed capital inflows into and out of the Philippines. For example, withdrawal of investments from the local stock market is much more difficult given the more restrictive foreign exchange regulations that governed outward flows of capital. Although the law prevailing during the preliberalization subperiod guaranteed full repatriation of cash investments in securities certified by the Central Bank and traded on the Philippine stock market, foreign investors were required to hold the securities for a minimum of 90 days before the proceeds become eligible for repatriation (International Monetary Fund, 1987), subject to prior Central Bank approval. The minimum holding period was removed only in 1989 (International Monetary Fund, 1990). Furthermore, it was not until 1992 when the Philippine government simplified the procedures for capital repatriation and dividend remittance of investments made by foreigners. Since January 1992, the law merely required foreign investors to register all investments in securities listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange with the Central Bank or with a duly designated custodian bank. Authorized agent banks were allowed to sell and remit the equivalent foreign exchange, without prior approval by the Central Bank. Lamberte and Llanto (1994) report that under previous regulations, brokers have pointed out that settlement of transactions related to foreign investment in Central Bank approved securities took about 4 to 6 months. However, under the new rules and regulation such transactions can be settled in 3 to 4 days. Given this regime of restrictions to outward flows of capital, it would have

been difficult for foreign investors, as well as Philippine residents, to adjust their portfolio of Philippine equities in a desire to redirect investment activity towards the foreign equity markets.¹⁷

Model Misspecification Tests

We also perform an assessment of the general validity of the estimated multivariate GARCH parameterization in each subperiod using alternative misspecification tests. Li and McLeod (1983) propose residual-based diagnostic type tests using the Ljung-Box (LB) portmanteau statistics. These tests are conducted on the first and second conditional moments of the estimated GARCH specification for each national stock market index in the sample. In particular, the LB tests for up to 6th order serial correlation, LB(6), are performed on the standardized residuals $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ir}/\sqrt{h_{iir}}$, squared standardized residuals $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ir}/\sqrt{h_{iir}}$. If the GARCH parameterization adequately describes the heteroscedasticity, the standardized residuals, squared standardized residuals and the cross-products of the standardized residuals and the uncorrelated.¹⁸

The results of the LB tests for the pre- and post- liberalization subperiods are reported in Table 4.12. For the pre-liberalization subperiod, the LB(6) statistics for the standardized residuals are all statistically insignificant. Likewise, the LB(6) statistics as applied to the squared standardized are all statistically insignificant. For the cross-products of standardized residuals, the LB(6) statistics are all insignificant, except for the case between Hong Kong and the Philippines.

For the post-liberalization subperiod, the LB(6) statistics for the standardized residuals are all below their 5 percent critical values, except for the Philippines. On the other hand, the LB(6) statistics as applied to the squared standardized residuals are all insignificant. For the cross-products of standardized residuals, the LB(6) statistics are all insignificant except for two cases, both involving the Philippines (with Hong Kong and Singapore, respectively). Although not reported, these statistics become insignificant at higher order lags for the LB tests.

Bollerslev (1990) suggests a more direct test of the conditional variance and covariance parameterizations. An assumption of the multivariate GARCH specification is that the estimates of the conditional variance and conditional covariance reflect all relevant past information I_{t-1} ; i.e., if the model is correctly specified, then $E[\varepsilon_{it}\varepsilon_{jt}|I_{t-1}]=h_{ijt}$ for i.j=US, PHL, TWN, JPN, HK, SIN. This test involves the inclusion of past residuals in the information set I_{t-1} . For i=j, the test is performed by regressing $(\hat{\varepsilon}_{i,t-1}^2 - 1)$ on \hat{h}_{iit}^{-1} and $\hat{\varepsilon}_{i,t-1}^2 \hat{h}_{iit}^{-1}, \dots, \hat{\varepsilon}_{i,t-5}^2 \hat{h}_{iit}^{-1}$ and testing whether all of the estimated coefficients are significantly different from zero via a conventional *F*-test. For $i\neq j$, $(\hat{\varepsilon}_{it}\hat{\varepsilon}_{jt} - 1)$ is

regressed on \hat{h}_{ijt}^{-1} , $\hat{\varepsilon}_{i,j-1}^2 \hat{h}_{ijt}^{-1}$, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{j,j-1}^2 \hat{h}_{ijt}^{-1}$, and $\hat{\varepsilon}_{i,j-1} \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,j-1} \hat{h}_{iit}^{-1}$, ..., $\hat{\varepsilon}_{i,j-5} \hat{\varepsilon}_{j,j-5} \hat{h}_{iit}^{-1}$. The null hypothesis that the estimated coefficients are all zero in the previous regressions should not be rejected under the assumption that the GARCH specification adequately describes the heteroscedasticity.

Table 4.13 summarizes the results of the *F*-tests for both the pre- and postliberalization subperiods. For the pre-liberalization subperiod, the *F*-test results indicate that only 1 out of 21 statistics is significant at the 0.05 level, involving the cross-product of the residuals of Taiwan and the Philippines. On the other hand, the results of the *F*tests for the post-liberalization subperiod indicate that only 2 out of 21 *F*-test statistics are significant at the 0.05 level, both cases involving Singapore.

Overall, the results of the misspecification tests discussed above do not indicate any serious evidence against the simple and parsimonious multivariate GARCH(1,1)-in Mean model with constant conditional correlation. This is true for both the pre- and post-liberalization subperiods.

4.5. CONCLUSION

In this study, we investigate the transmission of stock returns and volatility of returns among the markets of the Philippines and its major trading partners and investing countries, using weekly data before and after the liberalization of barriers to international investments in the Philippine capital market. In particular, we examine whether spillovers of returns and returns volatility occur from the foreign markets to the Philippine market using the multivariate GARCH-in Mean model assuming constant conditional correlation. More importantly, we try to determine whether or not the opening up of the Philippine capital market to greater foreign investor participation has an impact on the responsiveness of this market's stock returns to the national stock market movements of its major trading partners and investors.

Overall, our evidence for the six national stock markets in the study indicates that (1) weekly returns on each national stock market index exhibit time-varying volatility and (2) lagged cross-market mean return spillovers occur among some of these countries. For the post-liberalization subperiod, there is also some evidence of a timevarying expected market return-market risk relationship in the stock markets of the Philippine, U.S. and Hong Kong markets, with risk measured by the conditional standard deviation of returns. This possibly implies that country-specific risks are priced. Moreover, the post-liberalization subperiod results indicate that weekly returns of the stock market indexes of the Philippines and Singapore are significantly affected by the cointegrating relationship governing the six national stock markets. The overall results of the model misspecification tests do not indicate any serious evidence against the simple and parsimonious multivariate GARCH(1,1)-in Mean with constant conditional correlation parameterization employed in this study. The results of our analysis for the Philippine market suggest that there are no lagged mean return spillovers from the other markets to the Philippine market in both the pre- and post-liberalization subperiods. However, we find significant lagged volatility spillovers from the foreign markets to the Philippine stock market and that the evidence of such volatility transmission appears to be stronger in the post-liberalization subperiod. Specifically, while significant volatility spillovers occur only from the markets of the U.S., Taiwan and Japan to the Philippine market during the pre-liberalization subperiod, the post-liberalization subperiod results indicate that past innovations in the stock markets returns of all the other five markets significantly influence the future or predicted conditional variance of Philippine stock market returns. Results of the impulse response analysis indicate that the impact of an initial return shock originating from the foreign stock market on Philippine conditional volatility generally persists from 1 up to 7 weeks into the future. An innovation in the stock market return of Taiwan seems to have the most persistent effect on the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns, with the impact lasting up to 7 weeks after the initial shock.

Moreover, we find that during the post-liberalization subperiod, the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns seems to have become more responsive to information contained in past innovations in the foreign stock market returns relative to information contained in its own past innovations. During this subperiod, past innovations in the Singapore market have the greatest impact on the volatility of Philippine stock market returns, with past innovations originating from the U.S. market having the second largest influence. In contrast, while some cross-market volatility spillovers are observed during the pre-liberalization subperiod, own-market return innovations exhibit the largest impact on Philippine conditional volatility.

The preceding findings are supportive of the view that the presence of barriers to international investments effectively segment the domestic market from the relatively open foreign capital markets, thereby insulating it from international developments that can possibly affect the short-run dynamics of this market's assets returns. By liberalizing such restrictions, new information contained in international stock market movements become an important influence on the behavior of domestic stock market returns relative to local information. The stronger evidence of volatility spillovers during the postliberalization subperiod is consistent with the finding of an increase in the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market with international equity markets in Chapter 2. However, our finding of lagged volatility spillover from some of the foreign markets to the Philippine market during the pre-liberalization subperiod also supports the view that cross-market transmission of stock market movements can occur in the absence of cross-country investing provided that a strong economic linkage exists between these countries. This is because such relationship also links the economic fundamentals of these countries' asset prices. Moreover, our finding of cross-market volatility spillovers despite the absence of mean return spillovers to the Philippine stock market is consistent with the view that information is most likely to be revealed on the volatility of asset prices than on its simple price changes.

| Country | Operating Hours (Local Time) | Operating Hours (New York time) | Market Closing Time Differences (Hours ahead of New York closing, in New York time) |
|----------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|---|
| Japan (Tokyo) [*] | Mon-Fri: 0900-1100; | 1900-2100 ^c | +15 |
| | 1230-1500 | 2330-0200 | |
| Singapore | Mon-Fri: 0900-1230; | 2000-2330° | +13 |
| | 1400-1700 | 0100-0400 | |
| Taiwan ^b | Mon-Fri: 0900-1200 | 2000-2300° | +17 |
| Philippines | Mon-Fri: 0930-1200 | 2030-2300° | +17 |
| Hong Kong | Mon-Fri: 1000-1230; | 2100-2330° | +13.5 |
| | 1430-1530 | 0130-0230 | |
| United States (New York) | Mon-Fri: 0930-1600 | 0930-1600 | |

Table 4.1: National Stock Markets Operating Hours

^a Japan: The Tokyo Stock Exchange was open for half day sessions other than the third Saturday of the month until July 1983, other than the second Saturday of the month from August 1983 to July 1986, and other than the second and third Saturday of each month from August 1986 until the end of January 1989. The Exchange is now closed on all Saturdays.

^b Taiwan: Saturday: 0900-1100

^c Previous day in New York time

Sources: Emerging Stock Markets Factbook 1995, International Finance Corporation Emerging Markets Data Base, Capital Markets Department: Stock Exchanges of the World, International Securities Regulation, Oceana Publications, 1995; Doing Business in the USA (1995), Philippines (1994), Taiwan (1994), Singapore (1995), Hong Kong (1993), Singapore (1995), Japan (1991), Ernst & Young

| | | | Pre-Libera January 1980 (508 obser | ralization [*] 10-September ervations) | | | | Ŭ | Post-Liberalization October 1989-December (325 observations) | Post-Liberalization October 1989-December 1995 (325 observations) | | |
|--------------------------|-------------|----------|--|---|-----------|------------------|-------------|----------|--|---|-----------|------------------|
| Stantistics ^b | Philippines | Taiwan | lapan | Hong Kong | Singapore | United States | Philippines | Taiwan | Japan | Hone Kone | Singapore | United States |
| Mcan | 0.0031 | +6900.0 | +8700.0 | 0.0022 | 0.0032++ | +00:00.0 | 0.0018 | -0.0022 | -0.006 | 0.00.09** | 0.0020 | 0.0017 |
| Variance | 0.0014 | 0.0017 | 0.0008 | 0.0021 | 0000 | 0.0005 | 0.0022 | 0.0032 | 0.0012 | 0.0010 | 0.0006 | 0.0003 |
| Skewness | -0.201 | 0.007 | 0.052 | -0.6.30- | -0.125 | 0.005 | 0.225 | -0.337 | -0.110 | -0.7NS+ | -0.8.00- | 615-0- |
| Kunowis | •764.6 | 3.036* | 11911 | 2.932+ | 0.847* | 0.995+ | 1.470* | 3.243* | 1.984 | 1.765+ | 4 282.0 | -671-1 |
| Autocorrelations; | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Returns | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ā | 0.061 | 0.176* | 0.045 | 0.087++ | 0.073 | -0.095++ | 0.144 | 0.020 | -0.008 | CC0.0- | 0.079 | -0.114** |
| LB(6) | 11.810 | 26.659+ | 5.134 | 16.912** | 13.344** | 6.246 | 9.818 | 7.328 | 11.185 | 6.361 | 5.859 | 16.97 |
| Squared Returns | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ď | 0.187* | •856.0 | 0.219+ | 0.208* | 0.165+ | 0.120* | 0.136* | 0.201+ | 0.155* | 0.068 | 0.041 | 0.079 |
| (F)(0) | 26.798* | +166°27% | 25,459+ | 40.037+ | 14 0.47+ | 17 944+ | 16 1610 | 111 6010 | AN 1210 | 35 4146 | 44 6760 | The under |

Table 4.2: Summary Statistics for Weekly Returns on the National Stock Market Indexes

Statistics are based on the return series adjusted for the effect of the October 1987 stock market crash.

^b 1.B(6) denotes the 1 jurg-Box test statistic to test the significance of the autocorrelation of the first 6 lags. p₁ denotes the autocorrelation coefficient at lag 1. Different lag lengths have no qualitative effect on the test results.

The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 kevel. The superscript ** denotes significance at the 0.05 kevel.

Table 4.3: ARCH Tests**

| | Pre-Liberalization January 1980-September | | | Post-Liberalization October 1989-December 1995 | | |
|---------------|--|---------|----------|---|-----------------|---------|
| Country | ARCH(4) | MARCH-1 | MARCH-2 | ARCH(4) | MARCH-I | MARCH-2 |
| Philippines | 10.077** | 33.558* | 45.A72* | 31.263* | 22.797* | 46.371* |
| Taiwan | 22.612* | 23.504* | 26.242* | 19.999* | 22.427* | 61.045* |
| Japan | 131.706* | 66.822* | 100.360* | 53.269* | 29.177 * | 54.390* |
| Hong Kong | 25.344* | 33.596* | 40.369* | 39.060* | 10.705*** | 34.141* |
| Singapore | 39.731 * | 26.882* | 54.503* | 19.849* | 8.680 | 26.467* |
| United States | 22.714* | 21.067* | 25,466** | 43.270* | 14.618** | 66.630* |

* ARCH(4) is the ARCH test statistic with a univariate information set. The regressors are four lags of own-squared returns. This test statistic is distributed as $\chi^2(4)$. The critical values at the 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10 levels of significance are 13.3, 9.49, and 7.78, respectively.

^b MARCH-i is the ARCH test statistic with a multivariate information set. The regressors are lagged one own squared returns and lagged one squared returns on the stock market indexes of each of the other markets. This test statistic is distributed as $\chi^2(6)$. The critical values at the 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10 levels of significance are 16.8, 12.6, and 10.6, respectively.

⁶ MARCH-2 is the same as MARCH-1 albeit with two lags. This test statistic is distributed as $\chi^2(12)$. The critical values at the 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10 levels of significance are 26.2, 21.0, and 18.5, respectively.

The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 level. The superscript ** denotes significance at the 0.05 level. The superscript *** denotes significance at the 0.10 level.
| | Prc-Libe January 1980- | Pre-Liberalization [*] uary 1980-Septentber 1989 | Post-L October 199 | Post-Liberalization October 1999. December 1995 |
|--|---------------------------|--|-----------------------|--|
| with National Stock Market Index Returns of | Returns | Sourced Returns | Returns | Coursed Batume |
| Taiwan: | | | 210121 | or remains |
| p.i | -0.022 | 0.003 | 0.086 | 0.1570 |
| Ē | 0.038 | -0.023 | 0.2 100 | 075C U |
| ā | 0.033 | 0.067 | 0.1740 | 0.1710 |
| Japan: | | | | |
| p. | -0.026 | 0.051 | 0.038 | 0.012 |
| £ | -0.028 | 0.028 | 0.086 | 6.00 |
| đ | 0.029 | 0.069 | -0.039 | 1000- |
| Hong Kong: | | | | |
| P. 1 | -0.039 | -0.022 | 0.094 | 0.064 |
| £ | 0.092++ | 0.006 | 0.270* | 0.200 |
| ď | 0.061 | -0.041 | 0.129** | -0.012 |
| Singapore: | | | | |
| p. | 0.043 | -0.058 | 0.089 | 0.11700 |
| e E | 0.097** | -0.030 | 0.349* | 0.115* |
| þ | 0.092** | -0.002 | 0.129** | 0.104 |
| United States: | | | | |
| ρ.ι | -0.088** | 0.015 | 0.016 | 0.210* |
| ٤ | 0.051 | 110'0- | 0.262+ | 0.248* |
| <u>pı</u> | 0.102++ | 0.013 | 0.074 | 0.056 |

Table 4.4: Cross-Correlations of Philippine Stock Market Index Returns and Squared Returns

NOCK HENKCI CI è 5 Ļ ^b p, denotes cross correlation coefficient at lag *j*. p₁ indicates cross-correlation between past period's returns) on the foreign stock market index and current period's returns (squared returns) on the Philippine stock market index. p₀ indicates contemporaneous cross-correlation between the foreign stock market index returns) and the Philippine stock market index returns) and the Philippine stock market index returns (squared returns) or the philippine stock market index contemporated returns (squared returns) p₁ indicates contemporated returns (squared returns) p₁ indicates cross-correlation between the foreign stock market index returns (squared returns) p₁ indicates cross-correlation between the returns (squared returns) p₁ indicates cross-correlation between future foreign stock market index returns (squared returns).

The superscript • denotes significance at the 0.01 level. The superscript •• denotes significance at the 0.05 level.

| I | | 4 January | Pre-Liberalization January 1980-September 1989 | 989 | | | Octol | Post-Liberalization October 1989-December 1995 | 995 | |
|--|-----------------|---------------------------|---|--|--|-----------------|---------------------------|---|---|--|
| Keturis: Taiwan Japan Hong Kong Singapore U.S. | Taiwan 1.000 | Japan 0.123** 1.000 | Hong Kong 0.118° 0.152° 1.000 | Singapore 0.115* 0.199* 1.000 | U.S. 0.092** 0.295* 0.274* 0.286* 1.000 | Taiwan 1.000 | Japan 0.097 • 1.000 | Hong Kong 0.2280 0.1260 1.000 | Singapore 0.303+ 0.378+ 0.464+ | U.S. 0,175* 0,203* 0,213* 0,414* |
| Squared Returns: Taiwan Japan Hong Kong Singapore U, S. | Taiwan 1.000 | nægel 0.001 1.000 | Hong Kong 0.002 -0.038 1.000 | Singapore 0.026 0.023 0.1000 1.000 | U.S. 0.008 0.042• 0.069 0.19%• | Taiwan I.000 | Japan 0.2000 1.000 | Hong Kong 0.160° 0.033 1.000 | Singapore 6.594* 6.415* 1.000 | U.S. 0.465° 0.1940 0.1940 0.469° |

Table 4.5: Contemporaneous Cross-Correlations of Stock Market Returns and Squared Returns

i i

The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 level. The superscript ** denotes significance at the 0.05 level.

Table 4.6: Estimates of the VAR Model in Returns: Pre-Liberalization - January 1980 To September 1989'

| | | | Coun | tr y (i) | | |
|---------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| Parameter | United States (US) | Philippines (PHL) | Taiwan (TWN) | Japan (JPN) | Hong Kong (HK) | Singapore (SIN) |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | <u>(6)</u> |
| μ | 0.0034 | 0.0023 | 0.0059 | 0.9946 | 0.0028 | 0.0028 |
| | (3.53)* | (1.39) | (3.06)* | (3.61)* | (1.32) | (2.04)** |
| ØU3.1 | -0.0821 | 0.1319 | -0.0126 | 0.0185 | -0.0711 | 0.0210 |
| | (-1.50) | (1.46) | (-0.13) | (0.28) | (-0.72) | (0.28) |
| ФРНL. | -0.8445 | 0.0496 | -0.0330 | -0.0167 | -0.0454 | 0.0271 |
| | (-1.67)*** | (0.65) | (-0.70) | (-0.45) | (-0.99) | (0.93) |
| ØTWN.s | -0.0198 | 0.0158 | 0.1814 | 0.0027 | -0.0649 | -0.0256 |
| | (-0.83) | (0.32) | (2.44)** | (0.09) | (-1.50) | (-0.79) |
| ØJPN. | 0.0235 | -0.0096 | -0.0478 | 0.0446 | 0.0744 | 0.0182 |
| | (0.65) | (-0.13) | (-0.69) | (0.70) | (1.11) | (0.38) |
| ØHK. | 0.0022 | 0.0129 | -0.0182 | 0.0053 | 0.1288 | 0.0400 |
| | (0.07) | (0.33) | (-0.34) | (0.15) | (1.82)*** | (1.05) |
| ØSEN 1 | -0.0303 | 0.0651 | 0.0386 | -0.0281 | -0.1151 | 0.0419 |
| | (-0.76) | (1.00) | (0.60) | (-0.55) | (-1.65)*** | (0.70) |
| χ^2 Tests of | 4.8525 | 8.9870 | 1.5956 | 1.1402 | 4.6058 | 4.6062 |
| Exclusion | (0.43) | (0.17) | (0.90) | (0.98) | (0.33) | (0.60) |
| Restrictions ^b | | | | | | |

 $r_{ii} = \mu_i + \phi_{US_i} r_{US_i-i} + \phi_{PHL_i} r_{PHL_i-i} + \phi_{TWN_i-i} + \phi_{PN_i} r_{PN_i-i} + \phi_{HK_i} r_{HK_i-i} + \phi_{SN_i} r_{SN_i-i} + \varepsilon_{ii}$

* Figures in parentheses are t-ratios based on OLS regressions with standard errors computed using the Newey-West (1987) correction for heteroscedasticity and/or autocorrelation.

^b χ^2 statistics (*p*-values in parentheses) denote tests of the null hypothesis that the coefficients of the lagged stock market returns regressors found to be insignificant in each market's equation are all zero.

The superscript * denotes significance at 0.01 level. The superscript ** denotes significance at 0.05 level. The superscript *** denotes significance at 0.10 level.

Table 4.7: Estimates of the VAR Model in Returns: Post-Liberalization - October 1989 To December 1995*

| | | | Cour | try (i) | | |
|--|------------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|
| Parameter | United States (US) (1) | Philippines (PHL) (2) | Taiwan (TWN) (3) | Japan (JPN) (4) | Hong Kong (HK) (5) | Singapore (SIN) (6) |
| μ. | -0.0490 | -0.3061 | 0.0253 | -0.0014 | -0.0064 | 0.0530 |
| - | (-1.48) | (-3.26)* | (0.22) | (-0.03) | (-0.11) | (1.06) |
| 64 | -0.0013 | -0.0076 | 0.0007 | -0.00003 | -0.0003 | 0.0013 |
| | (-1.55) | (-3.26)* | (0.25) | (-0.02) | (-0.18) | (1.03) |
| ¢us. | -0.1457 | -0.0178 | -0.1264 | -0.0674 | -0.1133 | 0.0214 |
| | (-2.23)** | (-0.10) | (-0.47) | (-0.55) | (-0.98) | (0.23) |
| ØPHL. | 0.0207 | 0.0872 | 0.0752 | 0.0221 | 0.0761 | 0.0355 |
| | (0.80) | (1.25) | (0.79) | (0.46) | (1.76)*** | (1.00) |
| OTWN. | -0.0274 | 0.0876 | -0.0216 | 0.0292 | -0.0110 | -0.0083 |
| , | (-1.40) | (1. 60) | (-0.25) | (0.83) | (-0.33) | (-0.26) |
| ØJPNA | 0.0498 | -0.0961 | 0.14208 | -0.0244 | 0.0390 | 0.0320 |
| | (1.89)*** | (-1.33) | (1.19) | (-0.32) | (0.70) | (0.78) |
| ØHK. | -0.0316 | 0.0490 | 0.05.82 | -0.0569 | -0.0671 | 0.0292 |
| , | (-1.11) | (0.64) | (0.61) | (-0.85) | (-0.97) | (0.64) |
| ØSEN 1 | 0.0430 | 0.1387 | 0.1570 | 0.0852 | 0.0595 | 0.0222 |
| | (0.96) | (0.91) | (0.91) | (0.85) | (0.62) | (0.31) |
| r ² Tests of | 4.2898 | 10.1540 | 5.4881 | 2.6196 | 3.1206 | 4.6057 |
| Exclusion Restrictions ^b | (0.37) | (0.12) | (0.48) | (0.86) | (0.68) | (0.60) |

 $r_{Li} = \mu_i + \phi_{US_i} r_{US_i-1} + \phi_{PHL_i} r_{PHL_i-1} + \phi_{TWNC_i} r_{TWNC_i-1} + \phi_{JPNC_i-1} + \phi_{HK_i} r_{HK_i-1} + \phi_{SNC_i} r_{SNC_i-1} + \alpha_i z_{i-1} + \varepsilon_{Li}$ where $z_{-1} = 2.282S_{US+1} + 7.792S_{PHL+1} - 3.780S_{TWN+1} + 5.975S_{PNL+1} - 4.634S_{HE-1} - 9.681S_{SEN+1}$

* Figures in parentheses are t-ratios based on OLS regressions with standard errors computed using the Newey-West (1987) correction for heteroscedasticity and/or autocorrelation.

 b χ^{2} statistics (*p*-values in parentheses) denote tests of the null hypothesis that the coefficients of the lagged stock market returns regressors found to be insignificant in each market's equation are all zero.

The superscript * denotes significance at 0.01 level. The superscript ** denotes significance at 0.05 level. The superscript *** denotes significance at 0.10 level.

Table 4.8: Maximum Likelihood Estimates of the Multivariate GARCH-in Mean Model with Constant Conditional Correlation. MGARCH(1,1)-M2-CCTL: Pre-Liberalization - January 1980 to September 1989*

 $r_{US,i} = \mu_{US} + \phi_{PHLUS} r_{PHLi-i} + \delta_{US,US} h_{US,US,i} + \varepsilon_{US,i}$

 $r_{PHL} = \mu_{PHL} + \delta_{PHL} P_{HL} h_{PHL} + \varepsilon_{PHL}$

 $r_{\text{TWN},t} = \mu_{\text{TWN}} + \phi_{\text{TWN},\text{TWN}} r_{\text{TWN},t-1} + \delta_{\text{TWN},\text{TWN}} h_{\text{TWN},\text{TWN},t} + \varepsilon_{\text{TWN},t}$

 $r_{JPN,t} = \mu_{JPN} + \delta_{JPN,JPN} h_{JPN,JPN,t} + \varepsilon_{JPN,t}$

 $r_{HK,t} = \mu_{HK} + \phi_{HK,HK} r_{HK,t-1} + \phi_{SIN,HK} r_{SIN,t-1} + \delta_{HK,HK} h_{HK,HK,t} + \varepsilon_{HK,t}$

 $r_{SDK_i} = \mu_{SDV} + \delta_{SDV,SDV} h_{SDV,SDV,i} + \varepsilon_{SDV,i}$

 $h_{u,r} = c_i + a_{US,r} \mathcal{E}_{US,r-1}^2 + a_{PHL,r} \mathcal{E}_{PHL,r-1}^2 + a_{TWN,r} \mathcal{E}_{TWN,r-1}^2 + a_{JPN,r} \mathcal{E}_{PPN,r-1}^2 + a_{HK,r} \mathcal{E}_{HK,r-1}^2 + a_{SN,r} \mathcal{E}_{SN,r-1}^2 + b_u h_{u,r-1} \text{ and } h_{u,r-1} = a_{SN,r} \mathcal{E}_{SN,r-1}^2 + b_u h_{u,r-1} + a_{SN,r-1} + b_u h_{u,r-1} + b_u h_{u,r-1}$

 $h_{u,i} = \rho_q \left[h_{u,i} h_{u,i} \right]^{I/2}$, $-1 \le \rho_q \le 1$ and $i \ne j$, for i,j=US. PHL. TWN. JPN. HK. SIN

where US = United States, PHL = Philippines, TWN = Taiwan, JPN = Japan, HK = Hong Kong, and SIN = Singapore

| Parameters | | | Coun | try (i) | | |
|-------------------|-----------------------|-------------|-------------------|----------|-----------|----------------|
| Conditional | United States | Philippines | Taiwan | Japan | Hong Kong | Singapore |
| Mean Returns | (US) | (PHL) | (TWN) | (JPN) | (HK) | (SIN) |
| μ | 0.0014 | -0.0014 | -0.0002 | -0.0004 | 0.0018 | 0.0041 |
| | (0.57) | (-0.88) | (-0.10) | (-0.10) | (0.44) | (1.03) |
| ØUS. | • | • | - | - | - | - |
| Фрн <u>L</u> | -0.0600 | - | - | - | - | - |
| YFNLI | (-2.20)** | | | | | |
| ØTWN.a | - | - | 0.0999 | - | - | - |
| ****** | | | (2.11)** | | | |
| ØJPNA | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| 412552 ФНКл | - | - | - | - | 0.1100 | |
| VALI | | | | | (1.66) | |
| A | | _ | _ | | -0.0952 | - |
| ØSEN 1 | - | - | - | - | (-1.50) | - |
| δ. | 3.4235 | 0.6659 | 2.3622 | 6.6274 | 1.8036 | -0.6223 |
| Ott | (0.60) | (0.49) | (1.50) | (1.07) | (0.78) | (-0.13) |
| Conditional Varia | | (0.49) | (1.30) | (1.07) | (0.70) | (-0.13) |
| | 0.00006 | 0.00006 | 0.00005 | 0.00038 | 0.00039 | 0.00026 |
| Ce | | | | | (2.94)* | |
| | (1.47) | (1.60) | (1.38) | (3.57)* | | (2.68)* |
| b., | 0.5953 | 0.2834 | 0.8141 | 0.1859 | 0.5808 | 0.4821 |
| | (4.30)* | (5.02)* | (17 .97)* | (1.00) | (7.02)* | (3.63)* |
| ølz, | 0.0527 | 0.2627 | 0.0303 | -0.0091 | 0.2160 | 0.0397 |
| | (1.19) | (4.36)* | (0.70) | (-0.14) | (1.64) | (0.54) |
| aphl. | 0.0114 | 0.6500 | 0.0028 | 0.0279 | -0.0059 | -0.0021 |
| | (1.64) | (5.03)* | (0.58) | (1.40) | (-0.48) | (-0.19) |
| arwn., | 0.0116 | 0.1221 | 0.1552 | 0.0027 | -0.0143 | -0.0008 |
| | (1.29) | (7,20)* | (3.54)* | (0.19) | (-1.02) | (-0.10) |
| arena | -0.0045 | 0.0996 | -0.0058 | 0.1702 | -0.0163 | -0.0135 |
| | (-0.23) | (2.44)** | (-0.30) | (2.67)* | (-0.55) | (-0.37) |
| IHR. | 0.0139 | -0.0068 | -0.0025 | 0.0129 | 0.2203 | 0.0023 |
| | (1.86) | (-1.88) | (-0.56) | (0.76) | (4.77)* | (0.21) |
| asev. | 0.0463 | -0.0176 | -0.0139 | 0.0453 | -0.0615 | 0.2079 |
| | (1.80) | (-1.54) | (-0.87) | (1.23) | (-1.50) | (3.63)* |
| Conditional Corre | elation (ρ_{ij}) | | | | | |
| ທີ່ | •• | | | | | |
| PHIL | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| TWN | • | 0.0274 | - | - | • | - |
| | | (0.45) | | | | |
| JPN | • | -0.0087 | 0.1431 | - | - | - |
| | | (-0.13) | (2.80)* | | | |
| нк | - | 0.0706 | 0.1492 | 0.1545 | - | - |
| | - | (1.05) | (2.69)* | (2.57)** | | |
| SIN | _ | 0.1041 | 0.1531 | 0.1900 | 0_3574 | |
| 54. | • | (1.77) | (3.11)* | (3.48)* | (7.85)* | - |
| US | | 0.0561 | 0.1268 | 0.2740 | 0.2865 | 0.3933 |
| 03 | • | | | | | |
| | | (0.94) | (2.46)** | (6.15)* | (5.90)* | <u>(8.73)*</u> |

* Figures in parentheses are asymptotic t-values: * denotes significance at 0.01 level: ** denotes significance at 0.05 level

Table 4.9: Maximum Likelihood Estimates of the Multivariate GARCH-in Mean Model with Constant Conditional Correlation, MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL: Post-Liberalization - October 1989 to December 1995*

 $r_{US,i} = \mu_{US} + \phi_{US,US} r_{US,i-1} + \phi_{JPN,US} r_{JPN,i-1} + \alpha_{US} r_{i-1} + \delta_{US,US} \sqrt{h_{US,US,i}} + \varepsilon_{US,i}$

 $r_{PHL_s} = \mu_{PHL} + \alpha_{PHL_{s-1}} + \delta_{PHL_{s-1}} \sqrt{h_{PHL_{s-1}}} + \varepsilon_{PHL_s}$

 $r_{\text{TWN},i} = \mu_{\text{TWN}} + \alpha_{\text{TWN},i-1} + \delta_{\text{TWN},\text{TWN}} \sqrt{h_{\text{TWN},\text{TWN},i}} + \varepsilon_{\text{TWN},i}$

 $r_{IPN,s} = \mu_{JPN} + \alpha_{JPN,-1} + \delta_{JPN,JPN} \sqrt{h_{JPN,JPN,s}} + \varepsilon_{JPN,s}$

 $r_{HK,i} = \mu_{HK} + \phi_{PHL,HK} r_{PHL,i-1} + \alpha_{HK} z_{i-1} + \delta_{HK,HK} \sqrt{h_{HK,HK,i}} + \varepsilon_{HK,i}$

 $r_{SBN,i} = \mu_{SBN} + \alpha_{SBN,z_{i-1}} + \delta_{SBN,SBN} \sqrt{h_{SBN,SBN,i}} + \varepsilon_{SBN,i}$

 $h_{u,t} = c_t + a_{US,t} \varepsilon_{US,t-1}^2 + a_{PHL,t} \varepsilon_{PHL,t-1}^2 + a_{TWN,t} \varepsilon_{TWN,t-1}^2 + a_{IPN,t} \varepsilon_{IPN,t-1}^2 + a_{HK,t} \varepsilon_{HK,t-1}^2 + a_{SN,t} \varepsilon_{SN,t-1}^2 + b_u h_{u,t-1} \text{ and } b_{HK,t-1}^2 + b_u h_{u,t-1}^2 + b_u$

 $h_{ij,i} = \rho_{ij} \left[h_{ij,i} h_{jj,i} \right]^{1/2}$, $-1 \le \rho_{ij} \le 1$ and $i \ne j$, for i, j = US. PHL, TWN. JPN, HK, SIN

where US = United States, PHL = Philippines, TWN = Taiwan, JPN = Japan, HK = Hong Kong, and SIN = Singapore

| Parameters | | | Cout | nry (i) | | |
|-------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|
| Conditional | United States | Philippines | Taiwan | Japan | Hong Kong | Singapore |
| Mean Returns | (US) | (PHL) | (TWN) | (JPN) | (HK) | (SIN) |
| ц | -0.0155 | -0.5221 | 0.1881 | 0.0442 | 0.0544 | 0.0983 |
| | (-0.55) | (-6.52)* | (1.75) | (0.56) | (0.91) | (2.09)** |
| ୟ | -0.0006 | -0.0123 | 0.0047 | 0.0013 | 0.0009 | 0.0024 |
| | (-0.86) | (-6_34)* | (1.81) | (0.68) | (0.63) | (2.14)** |
| Pusi | -0.1401 | • | - | - | • | - |
| Y CLI | (-2,23)** | | | | | |
| \$ PHL_1 | - | - | - | - | 0.0044 | - |
| Y FALL | | | | | (0.16) | |
| ØTWN A | - | - | • | - | • | - |
| Фляна Фляна | 0.0464 | - | - | - | | - |
| WJPN. | (1.80) | | | | | |
| • | - | - | - | _ | | - |
| Фнк. | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Øsen i S | -0.4658 | 0.5976 | 0.0336 | 0.3041 | -0.4543 | 0.0378 |
| δ_{u} | | | | (1.43) | | (0.13) |
| Conditional Marta | (-2.21)** | (3.67)* | (0.20) | (1.+3) | (-2.72)* | (0.13) |
| Conditional Varia | | A 000m | 0.00007 | 0.00004 | 0.0003 | 0 00000 |
| С, | 0.000005 | 0.0007 | 0.00007 | 0.00004 | 0.0002 | 0.00027 |
| | (0.19) | (4.49)* | (0.83) | (0.63) | (2.98)* | (2.83)* |
| b _n | 0.9964 | 0.5296 | 0.7554 | 0.7057 | 0.7805 | 0.5121 |
| | (79.75)* | (5.61)* | (8.58)* | (9.46)* | (10.74)* | (2.95)* |
| ausi | -0.0330 | -0.3284 | 0.0558 | 0.0988 | -0.0737 | 0.0195 |
| | (-2.34)** | (-3.98)* | (0.12) | (0.77) | (0.54) | (0.17) |
| aphl. | 0.0034 | 0.0249 | 0.0299 | 0.0167 | -0.0189 | -0.0185 |
| | (1.73) | (0.71) | (0.71) | (0.70) | (-1.88) | (-1.58) |
| atwn. | 8100.0 | 0.0694 | 0.1891 | 0.0057 | 0.0024 | 0.0357 |
| | (1.69) | (1.81) | (2.68)* | (0.54) | (0.44) | (2.09)** |
| a jpn. | 0.0007 | -0.0761 | 0.0077 | 0.2616 | -0.0194 | -0.0056 |
| | (0.59) | (-3.64)* | (0.18) | (3.70)* | (-1.45) | (-0.41) |
| a _{HK.i} | -0.000013 | -0.1641 | 0.0067 | 0.0271 | 0.1057 | 0.0353 |
| | (-0.01) | (-4.85)* | (0.13) | (0.93) | (2.17)** | (1.17) |
| aspir | -0.0094 | 0.5231 | -0.0176 | -0.1320 | -0.0011 | 0.0414 |
| | (-1.12) | (2.61)* | (-0.11) | (-1.97)** | (-0.03) | (0.48) |
| Conditional Corre | lation (p _p) | • • | | · · | | |
| (ເ) | | | | | | |
| PHL. | • | - | - | - | - | - |
| TWN | - | 0.1789 | - | - | - | - |
| | | (2.20)** | | | | |
| IPN | • | 0.0867 | 0.1621 | - | - | - |
| | - | (1.16) | (1.59)** | | | |
| нк | _ | 0.2406 | 0.2152 | 0.1570 | - | - |
| 1175 | • | (3.68)* | (3.14)* | (2.23)** | - | - |
| SIN | | 0.3015 | 0.2102 | 0.3934 | 0.4622 | _ |
| 2111 | • | | | | | - |
| 10 | | (4.0 7)* | (3.39)* | (6.58)* | (10.04)* | A 378/ |
| US | - | 0.2035 (2.78)* | 0.0115 (0.16) | 0.1996 (3.12)* | 0.3458 (5.67)* | 0.3356 (5.35)* |

* Figures in parentheses are asymptotic t-values: * denotes significance at 0.01 level: ** denotes significance at 0.05 level

| - | fic | | | k in originating from | Contraction of the local division of the loc | |
|-------------|------------------|------------------|----------|-----------------------|--|--------------------|
| weeks ahead | US | PHL | TWN | JPN | HK | SIN |
| I | 0.2627 | 0.6500 | 0.1221 | 0.0996 | -0.0068 | -0.0176 |
| • | (4.36)* | (5.03)* | (7.20)* | (2.44)** | (-1.88) | (-1.54) |
| 2 | 0.2597 | 0.6130 | 0.1363 | 0.1064 | -0.0033 | -0.0047 |
| - | (3.88)* | (3.59)* | (5_32)* | (2.38)** | (-0.75) | (-0.31) |
| 3 | 0.2564 | 8.5794 | 0.1490 | 0.1061 | -0.0008 | 0.0040 |
| | (3.23)* | (2.67)* | (4,02)* | (2.24)** | (-0.15) | (0.20) |
| 4 | 0.2521 | 0.5486 | 0.1602 | 0.1984 | 0.0011 | 0.0097 |
| | (2.69)* | (2.16)** | (3.22)* | (2.94)** | (0.17) | (0.42) |
| 5 | 0.2469 | 0.5201 | 0.1703 | 0.0941 | 0.0024 | 0.0132 |
| | (2.28)** | (1.81) | (2.72)* | (1.83) | (0.34) | (0.51) |
| 6 | 0.2412 | 0.4937 | 0.1793 | 0.0880 | 0.0034 | 0.0151 |
| | (1.96)** | (1.56) | (2.36)** | (1.63) | (0.44) | (0.53) |
| 7 | 0.2350 | 0.4689 | 0.1873 | 0.0823 | 0.0042 | 0.0158 |
| | (1.72) | (1.37) | (2.10)** | (1.45) | (0.49) | (0.52) |
| 8 | 0.2285 | 0.4458 | 0.1944 | 0.0770 | 0.0046 | 0.0156 |
| | (1.53) | (1.22) | (1.89) | (1.30) | (0.51) | (0.49) |
| 9 | 0.2220 | 0.4242 | 0.2007 | 0.0722 | 0.0049 | 0.0148 |
| | (1.38) | (1.11) | (1.73) | (1.16) | (0.51) | (0.45) |
| 10 | 0.2155 | 0.4039 | 0.2063 | 0.0678 | 0.0051 | 0.0136 |
| | (1.25) | (1.01) | (1.60) | (1.05) | (0.50) | (0.40) |
| 11 | 0.2090 | 0.3848 | 0.2112 | 0.0636 | 0.0051 | 0.0122 |
| | (1.15) | (0.93) | (1.49) | (0.96) | (0.48) | (0.35) |
| 12 | 0.2027 | 0.3669 | 0.2154 | 0.0598 | 0.0050 | 0.0107 |
| | (1.06) | (0.86) | (1.39) | (0.88) | (0.45) | (0.30) |
| 13 | 0.1966 | 0.3500 | 0.2191 | 0.0563 | 0.0048 | 0.0091 |
| | (0.99) | (0.80) | (1.31) | (0.81) | (0.43) | (0.25) |
| 14 | 0.1906 | 0.3341 | 0.2222 | 0.0530 | 0.0046 | 0.0075 |
| | (0.92) | (0.75) | (1.24) | (0.74) | (0.40) | (0.20) |
| 15 | 0.1848 | 0.3192 | 0.2248 | 0.0500 | 0.0044 | 0.0059 |
| | (0.87) | (0.71) | (1.18) | (0.69) | (0.37) | (0.16) |
| 16 | 0.1792 | 0.3052 | 0.2270 | 0.0471 | 0.0041 | 0.0044 |
| | (0.82) | (0.67) | (1.12) | (0.64) | (0.34) | (0.12) |
| 17 | 0.1738 | 0.2919 | 0.2288 | 0.0445 | 0.0038 | 0.0029 |
| • | (0.77) | (0.63) | (1.07) | (0.60) | (0.31) | (0.08) |
| 18 | 0.1686 | 0.2794 | 0.2301 | 0.0420 | 0.0035 | 0.0015 |
| | (0.74) | (0.60) | (1.02) | (0.57) | (0.28) | (0.04) |
| 19 | 0.1637 | 0.2677 | 0.2311 | 0.0397 | 0.0032 | 0.0003 |
| •• | (0.70) | (0.57) | (0.98) | (0.53) | (0.25) | (0.01) |
| 20 | 0.1589 | 0.2566 | 0.2318 | 0.0375 | 0.0029 | -0.0009 |
| 20 | (0.67) | (0.55) | (0.94) | (0.50) | (0.23) | (-0.02) |
| 21 | 0.1543 | 0.2461 | 0.2321 | 0.0355 | 0.0026 | -0.0020 |
| | (0.65) | (0.53) | (0.91) | (0.48) | (0.20) | (-0.05) |
| 22 | 0.1499 | 0.2362 | 0.2322 | 0.0336 | 0.0023 | -0.0031 |
| <u></u> | (0.62) | (0.51) | (0.88) | (0.45) | | |
| 23 | 0.1457 | 0.2268 | 0.2320 | 0.0318 | (0.18) 0.0020 | (-0.08) -0.0040 |
| نن | (0.60) | (0.49) | (0.85) | | | |
| 24 | 0.1416 | 0.2180 | | (0.43) | (0.16) | (-0.11) |
| 249 | | | 0.2316 | 0.0301 | 0.0017 | -0.0049 |
| 75 | (0.58) 0.1378 | (0.47) 0.2096 | (0.82) | (0.41) | (0.13) | (-0.13) |
| 25 | | | 0.2310 | 0.0285 | 0.0015 | -0.0057 |
| 36 | (0.56) | (0.45) | (0.80) | (0.39) | (0.11) | (-0.15) |
| 26 | 0.1341 | 0.2017 | 0.2301 | 0.0271 | 0.0012 | -0.0064 |
| | (0.54) | (0.44) | (0.77) | (0.37) | (0.10) | (-0.17) |

| Table 4.10: | Impulse Response Coefficients for Conditional Volatility of Philippine Stock Market Returns |
|-------------|---|
| | Pre-Liberalization: January 1980 to September 1989 |

| | | | one-unit returns shot | k in originating from | n | |
|---------------|--------|--------|-----------------------|-----------------------|---------|---------|
| s-weeks ahead | US | PHL | TWN | JPN | HK | SIN |
| 27 | 0.1305 | 0.1942 | 0.2291 | 0.0257 | 0.0010 | -0.0070 |
| | (0.53) | (0.43) | (0.75) | (0.36) | (0.08) | (0.19) |
| 28 | 0.1271 | 0.1871 | 0.2279 | 0.0244 | 0.0008 | -0.0076 |
| | (0.51) | (0.41) | (0.73) | (0.34) | (0.06) | (-0.21) |
| 29 | 0.1238 | 0.1804 | 0.2266 | 0.0232 | 0.0006 | -0.0082 |
| | (0.50) | (0.40) | (0.71) | (0.33) | (0.05) | (-0.22) |
| 30 | 0.1206 | 0.1740 | 0.2251 | 0.0220 | 0.0004 | -0.0087 |
| | (0.49) | (0.39) | (0.69) | (0.31) | (0.03) | (-0.24) |
| 31 | 0.1176 | 0.1680 | 0.2235 | 0.0210 | 0.0002 | -0.0091 |
| | (0.47) | (0.38) | (0.67) | (0.30) | (0.02) | (-0.25) |
| 32 | 0.1146 | 0.1622 | 0.2217 | 0.0199 | 0.0000 | -0.0095 |
| | (0.46) | (0.37) | (0.66) | (0.29) | (0.00) | (-0.26) |
| 33 | 0.1118 | 0.1568 | 0.2199 | 0.0190 | -0.0001 | -0.0099 |
| | (0.45) | (0.36) | (0.64) | (0.28) | (-0.01) | (-0.27) |
| 34 | 0.1091 | 0.1516 | 0.2180 | 0.0181 | -0.0003 | -0.0102 |
| 24 | (0.44) | (0.35) | (0.63) | (0.27) | (-0.02) | (-0.28) |
| 35 | 0.1065 | 0.1467 | 0.2160 | 0.0173 | -0.0004 | -0.0104 |
| | (0.43) | (0.35) | (0.61) | (0.26) | (-0.03) | (-0.29) |
| 36 | 0.1040 | 0.1420 | 0.2139 | 0.0165 | -0.0005 | -0.0107 |
| 30 | (0.43) | (0.34) | (0.60) | (0.25) | (-0.04) | (-0.30) |
| 37 | 0.1016 | 0.1375 | 0.2118 | 0.0157 | -0.0006 | -0.0109 |
| 37 | (0.42) | (0.33) | (0.59) | (0.25) | (-0.05) | (-0.31) |
| 70 | 0.0992 | 0.1333 | 0.2096 | 0.0150 | -0.0007 | -0.0111 |
| 38 | | | | | (-0.06) | (-0.32) |
| 20 | (0.41) | (0.33) | (0.58) | (0.24) | -0.9008 | -0.0112 |
| 39 | 0.0970 | 0.1292 | 0.2074 | 0.0144 | | |
| | (0.40) | (0.32) | (0.56) | (0.23) | (-0.07) | (-0.32) |
| 40 | 0.0948 | 0.1254 | 0.2051 | 0.0138 | -0.0009 | -0.0114 |
| | (0.40) | (0.32) | (0.55) | (0.23) | (-0.08) | (-0.33) |
| 41 | 0.0927 | 0.1217 | 0.2027 | 0.0132 | -0.0010 | -0.0115 |
| | (0.39) | (0.31) | (0.54) | (0.22) | (-0.09) | (-0.33) |
| 42 | 0.0906 | 0.1182 | 0.2004 | 0.0126 | -0.0010 | -0.0116 |
| | (0.38) | (0.30) | (0.54) | (0.21) | (-0.09) | (-0.34) |
| 43 | 0.0887 | 0.1148 | 0.1980 | 0.0121 | -0.0011 | -0.0116 |
| | (0.37) | (0.29) | (0.53) | (0.20) | (-0.10) | (-0.34) |
| 44 | 0.0867 | 0.1116 | 0.1956 | 0.011 6 | -0.0012 | -0.0117 |
| | (0.37) | (0.29) | (0.52) | (0.20) | (-0.10) | (-0.34) |
| 45 | 0.0849 | 0.1085 | 0.1931 | 0.0111 | -0.0012 | -0.0117 |
| | (0.36) | (0.28) | (0.51) | (0.19) | (-0.11) | (-0.34) |
| 46 | 0.0831 | 0.1056 | 0.1907 | 0.0107 | -0.0013 | -0.0117 |
| | (0.35) | (0.28) | (0.50) | (0.18) | (-0.11) | (-0.34) |
| 47 | 0.0814 | 0.1027 | 0.1883 | 0.0103 | -0.0013 | -0.0117 |
| | (0.35) | (0.27) | (0.50) | (0.18) | (-0.12) | (-0.34) |
| 48 | 0.0797 | 0.1000 | 0.1858 | 0.0099 | -0.0013 | -0.0117 |
| | (0.34) | (0.26) | (0.49) | (0.17) | (-0.12) | (-0.35) |
| 49 | 0.0780 | 0.0974 | 0.1833 | 0.0095 | -0.0014 | -0.0117 |
| - | (0.34) | (0.26) | (0.48) | (0.17) | (-0.13) | (-0.35) |
| 50 | 0.0765 | 0.0949 | 0.1809 | 0.0092 | -0.0014 | -0.0116 |
| | (0.33) | (0.25) | (0.48) | (0.16) | (-0.13) | (-0.35) |
| 51 | 0.0749 | 0.0926 | 0.1784 | 0.0088 | -0.0014 | -0.0117 |
| <i></i> | (0.33) | (0.25) | (0.47) | (0.16) | (-0.13) | (-0.35) |
| 52 | 0.0734 | 0.0902 | 0.1760 | 0.0085 | -0.0014 | -0.0116 |
| خل | (0.32) | (0.25) | (0.46) | (0.15) | (-0.14) | (-0.35) |

Table 4.10 continued

* Figures in parentheses are asymptotic t-values.

The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 level... The superscript ** denotes significance at the 0.05 level.

| | | | one-unit returns sho | k in originating from | <u>n</u> | |
|---------------|-------------------|---------|----------------------|-----------------------|----------|----------|
| r-weeks ahead | US | PHL | TWN | JPN | HK | SIN |
| 1 | -0.3284 | 0.0249 | 0.0694 | -0.0761 | -0.1641 | 0.5231 |
| | (- 3.98)* | (0.71) | (1.81) | (-3.64)* | (-4.85)* | (2.61)* |
| 2 | -0.1526 | 0.0069 | 0.0689 | -0.0616 | -0.0915 | 0.3238 |
| | (-1.92) | (0.33) | (2.48)* | (-3.86)* | (-3.02)* | (2.47)** |
| 3 | -0.0598 | 0.0008 | 0.0629 | -0.0515 | -0.0539 | 0.1996 |
| | (-0.65) | (0.05) | (2.62)* | (-2.42)* | (-1.74) | (2.02)** |
| 4 | -0.0129 | -0.0005 | 0.0560 | -9.0446 | -0.0349 | 0.1246 |
| | (-0.14) | (-0.04) | (2,49)* | (-1.98)** | (-1.22) | (1.60) |
| 5 | 0.0094 | 0.0000 | 0.8499 | -0.0398 | -0.0252 | 0.0805 |
| | (0.10) | (0.00) | (2.28)* | (-1.69) | (-0.99) | (1.28) |
| 6 | 0.0189 | 0.0009 | 0.8449 | -0.0363 | -0.0201 | 0.0550 |
| | (0.22) | (0.09) | (2.10)* | (-1.47) | (-0.88) | (1.05) |
| 7 | 0.0222 | 0.0016 | 0.0409 | -0.0336 | -0.0172 | 0.0404 |
| | (0.27) | (0.17) | (1.95) | (-1.30) | (-0.81) | (0.89) |
| 8 | 0.0225 | 0.0021 | 0.0377 | -0.0314 | -0.0154 | 0.0320 |
| | (0.29) | (0.24) | (1.82) | (-1.17) | (-0.77) | (0.78) |
| 9 | 0.0215 | 0.0023 | 0.0351 | -0.0296 | -0.0139 | 0.0270 |
| | (0.30) | (0.28) | (1.72) | (-1.06) | (-0.73) | (0.71) |
| 10 | 0.0202 | 0.0024 | 0.0328 | -0.0280 | -0.0127 | 0.0239 |
| | (0.30) | (0.31) | (1.62) | (-0.96) | (-0.69) | (0.66) |
| 11 | 0.0188 | 0.0024 | 0.0309 | -0.0266 | -0.0116 | 0.0218 |
| | (0.31) | (0.32) | (1.54) | (-0.89) | (-0.65) | (0.63) |
| 12 | 0.0174 | 0.0022 | 0.0292 | -0.0253 | -0.0106 | 0.0202 |
| | (0.31) | (0.32) | (1.46) | (-0.82) | (-0.61) | (0.61) |
| 13 | 0.0162 | 0.0021 | 0.0276 | -0.0240 | -0.0096 | 0.0190 |
| | (0.2) | (0.31) | (1.39) | (-0.76) | (-0.57) | (0.60) |
| 14 | 0.0151 | 0.0019 | 0.0261 | -0.0229 | -0.0087 | 0.0179 |
| | (0.34) | (0.30) | (1.32) | (-0.71) | (-0.53) | (0.58) |
| 15 | 0.0141 | 0.0018 | 0.0247 | -0.0218 | -0.0079 | 0.0169 |
| | (0.35) | (0.28) | (1.25) | (-0.66) | (-0.49) | (0.57) |
| 16 | 0.0132 | 0.0016 | 0.0234 | -0.0208 | -0.0072 | 0.0160 |
| | (0.37) | (0.26) | (1.20) | (-0.62) | (-0.46) | (0.55) |
| 17 | 0.0124 | 0.0015 | 0.0221 | -0.0199 | -0.0065 | 0.0151 |
| | (0.39) | (0.24) | (1.14) | (-0.59) | (-0.43) | (0.53) |
| 18 | 0.0117 | 0.0013 | 0.0210 | -0.0190 | -0.0059 | 0.0144 |
| | (0.42) | (0.22) | (1.09) | (-0.56) | (-0.40) | (0.52) |
| 19 | 0.0110 | 0.0012 | 0.0198 | -0.0181 | -0.0053 | 0.0136 |
| | (0.45) | (0.20) | (1.04) | (-0.53) | (-0.37) | (0.51) |
| 20 | 0.0104 | 0.0011 | 0.0188 | -0.0173 | -0.0048 | 0.0129 |
| | (0.49) | (0.18) | (0.99) | (-0.50) | (-0.35) | (0.49) |
| 21 | 0.0098 | 0.0010 | 0.0178 | -0.0166 | -0.0044 | 0.0123 |
| | (0.53) | (0.16) | (0.95) | (-0.48) | (-0.33) | (0.48) |
| 22 | 0.0093 | 0.0009 | 0.0168 | -0.0158 | -0.0040 | 0.0116 |
| | (0.58) | (0.15) | (0.91) | (-0.46) | (-0.31) | (0.46) |
| 23 | 0.0088 | 0.0008 | 0.0159 | -0.0152 | -0.0036 | 0.0111 |
| | (0.64) | (0.13) | (0.87) | (-0.44) | (-0.29) | (0.45) |
| 24 | 0.0084 | 0.0007 | 0.0151 | -0.0145 | -0.0033 | 0.0105 |
| - | (0.72) | (0.12) | (0.84) | (-0.42) | (-0.28) | (0.44) |
| 25 | 0.0079 | 0.0006 | 0.0142 | -0.0139 | -0.0030 | 0.0100 |
| | (0.79) | (0.10) | (0.80) | (-0.40) | (-0.26) | (0.43) |
| 26 | 0.0075 | 0.0005 | 0.0135 | -0.0133 | -0.0027 | 0.0095 |
| | (0.87) | (0.09) | (0.78) | (-0.39) | (-0.24) | (0.42) |

 Table 4.11: Impulse Response Coefficients for Conditional Volatility of Philippine Stock Market Returns

 Post-Liberalization: October 1989 to December 1995*

| | | | one-unit returns show | k in originating from | n | |
|----------------|--------|---------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|------------------|
| -weeks ahead | US | PHL | TWN | JPN | НК | SIN |
| 27 | 0.0072 | 0.0004 | 0.0127 | -0.0127 | -0.0025 | 0.0091 |
| | (0.93) | (0.08) | (0.74) | (-0.37) | (-0.23) | (0.41) |
| 28 | 0.0068 | 0.0004 | 0.0120 | -0.0122 | -0.0023 | 0.0087 |
| | (0.96) | (0.07) | (0.71) | (-0.36) | (-0.22) | (0.40) |
| 29 | 0.0065 | 0.0003 | 0.0114 | -0.0117 | -0.0021 | 0.0083 |
| | (0.94) | (0.06) | (0.69) | (-0.35) | (-0.21) | (0.39) |
| 30 | 0.0062 | 0.0003 | 0.0108 | -0.0112 | -0.0019 | 0.0079 |
| | (0.88) | (0.05) | (0.67) | (-0.34) | (-0.20) | (0.37) |
| 31 | 0.0059 | 0.0002 | 0.0102 | -0.0108 | -0.0017 | 0.0075 |
| | (0.80) | (0.04) | (0.64) | (-0.33) | (-0.19) | (0.37) |
| 32 | 0.0056 | 0.0002 | 0.0096 | -0.0103 | -0.0016 | 0.0072 |
| 52 | (0.72) | (0.03) | (0.62) | (-0.32) | (-0.18) | (0.36) |
| 33 | 0.0054 | 0.0001 | 0.0091 | -0.0099 | -0.0014 | 0.0069 |
| | (0.65) | (0.02) | (0.60) | (-0.31) | (-0.17) | (0.35) |
| 34 | 0.0051 | 0.0001 | 0.0086 | -0.0095 | -0.0013 | 0.0065 |
| _ ~ | (0.58) | (0.02) | (0.57) | (-0.30) | (-0.16) | (0.34) |
| 35 | 0.0049 | 0.0001 | 0.0081 | -0.0091 | -0.0012 | 0.0063 |
| 35 | (0.52) | (0.01) | (0.55) | (-0.29) | (-0.15) | (0.33) |
| 36 | 0.0047 | 0.0000 | 0.0076 | -0.0088 | -0.0011 | 0.0060 |
| 30 | (0.47) | (0.00) | (0.53) | (-0.29) | (-0.15) | (0.32) |
| 37 | 0.0045 | 0.0000 | 0.0072 | -0.0084 | -0.0010 | 0.0057 |
| 37 | (0.43) | (0.00) | (0.52) | (-0.28) | (-0.14) | (0.32) |
| 10 | | | | | | |
| 38 | 0.0043 | 0.0000 | 0.0068 | -0.0081 | -0.0009 | 0.0055 |
| 20 | (0.40) | (0.00) | (0.50) | (-0.27) | (-0.13) -0.0009 | (0.31) 0.0052 |
| 39 | 0.0041 | -0.0001 | 0.0064 | -0.0078 | | |
| | (0.37) | (-0.01) | (0.48) | (-0.27) | (-0.13) | (0.30) |
| 40 | 0.0040 | -0.0001 | 0.0060 | -0.0075 | -0.0008 | 0.0050 |
| | (0.34) | (-0.02) | (0.46) | (-0.26) | (-0.12) | (0.30) |
| 41 | 0.0038 | -0.0001 | 0.0057 | -0.0072 | -0.0007 | 0.0048 |
| | (0.32) | (-0.02) | (0.44) | ((-0.25) | (-0.11) | (0.29) |
| 42 | 0.0037 | -0.0001 | 0.0054 | -0.0069 | -0.0007 | 0.0046 |
| _ | (0.31) | (-0.02) | (0.42) | (-0.24) | (-0.11) | (0.28) |
| 43 | 0.0035 | -0.0001 | 0.0051 | -0.0067 | -0.0006 | 0.0044 |
| | (0.29) | (-0.03) | (0.40) | (-0.24) | (-0.10) | (0.27) |
| 44 | 0.0034 | -0.0002 | 0.0048 | -0.0064 | -0.0006 | 0.0042 |
| | (0.28) | (-0.03) | (0.39) | (-0.23) | (-0.09) | (0.26) |
| 45 | 0.0032 | -0.0002 | 0.0045 | -0.0062 | -0.0005 | 0.0040 |
| | (0.27) | (-0.03) | (0.37) | (-0.22) | (-0.09) | (0.25) |
| 46 | 0.0031 | -0.0002 | 0.0042 | -0.0059 | -0.0005 | 0.0039 |
| | (0.26) | (-0.04) | (0.35) | (-0.22) | (-0.08) | (0.25) |
| 47 | 0.0030 | -0.0002 | 0.0040 | -0.0057 | -0.0004 | 0.0037 |
| | (0.25) | (-0.04) | (0.33) | (-0.21) | (-0.08) | (0.24) |
| 48 | 0.0029 | -0.0002 | 0.0037 | -0.0055 | -0.0004 | 0.0036 |
| | (0.24) | (-0.04) | (0.32) | (-0.21) | (-0.07) | (0.23) |
| 49 | 0.0028 | -0.0002 | 0.0035 | -0.0053 | -0.0004 | 0.0034 |
| | (0.23) | (-0.04) | (0.31) | (-0.20) | (-0.07) | (0.22) |
| 50 | 0.0027 | -0.0002 | 0.0033 | -0.0051 | -0.0003 | 0.0033 |
| | (0.22) | (-0.05) | (0.29) | (-0.19) | (-0.07) | (0.22) |
| 51 | 0.0026 | -0.0002 | 0.0031 | -0.0049 | -0.0003 | 0.0032 |
| | (0.21) | (-0.05) | (0.28) | (-0.19) | (-0.06) | (0.21) |
| 52 | 0.0025 | -0.0002 | 0.0029 | -0.0047 | -0.0003 | 0.0030 |
| | (0.21) | (-0.05) | (0.26) | (-0.18) | (-0.06) | (0.21) |

Table 4.11 continued

* Figures in parentheses are asymptotic t-values.

1

The superscript * denotes significance at the 0.01 level.. The superscript ** denotes significance at the 0.05 level.

| | | Pre-Liben | Pre-Liberalization: January 1980 | | to September 1989 | | | Post-Liberal | ization: Octobe | Post-Liberalization: October 1989 to December 1995 | nber 1995 | |
|---|--------|-------------|----------------------------------|---------|-------------------|-----------|--------|--------------|-----------------|--|-----------|----------|
| | | | g | Country | | | | | Country | ltry | | |
| | United | Philiopines | Taiwan | Jaoan | Hone Kone | Singanore | United | Philippines | Taiwan | | Home Kone | Sinemur |
| Statistic | (SU) | (PHIL.) | (IWN) | (IPN) | (IIK) | (SIN) | (SU) | (PHL) | (NML) | (Ndr) | (IIK) | (SIN) |
| Standardized Residuals; | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Skewness | 0.005 | -0.487• | -0.096 | -0.126 | -0.610- | 0.020 | -0.080 | 0.103 | -0.262 | -0.281 | -0.642* | ****C"@" |
| Nunosis L jung-H ox Texts: Standardized Besiduals: | 811.0 | | 614.0 | •224.1 | • SAS. [| 517.0 | -0.021 | 0.512 | 0.298 | 0.702•• | -077 | • 705' 1 |
| LB(6) Squared Standardized Breichuster | 6.537 | 5.998 | 11.895 | 7.328 | 11.427 | 12.687 | 8.579 | 13,440 | 10.771 | 7.055 | 6.037 | 8,252 |
| LB(6) Cross Products of Standardized Residuals: | 1.535 | 7.527 | 2.684 | 1.338 | 145'1 | 5.337 | 191. | 1.634 | 5.976 | 5.267 | 5.164 | 8.281 |
| 1.18(b) 115 | | | • | • | | | | | | | , | |
| PHIL. | 4.516 | • | | | • | | 10.168 | , , | | | • • | |
| NWT | 11.114 | 11.644 | | | | | 0.856 | 7.024 | • | • | • | • |
| Ndſ | 8.013 | 6.048 | 3.543 | , | | | 5.532 | 9.336 | 2.631 | • | | • |
| Ŧ | 0.849 | 27.912* | 9.618 | 1.681 | • | • | 9.813 | ++64'61 | 4.685 | 10.516 | • | • |
| NIS | 2.286 | 4.272 | 5.112 | 9.157 | 5 800 | | FIGUE | 17 67600 | 10 202 | A 7.15 | 6.063 | |

baa -2 į 1 Table 4.12: Normality Tests and Misspecification Tests Based on Ljung-Nox Portmanicau Statistics for Serial Correlation in the Stand

The superscript * demotes significance at the 0.01 kevel. The superscript ** demotes significance at the 0.05 kevel.

| I | | Pre-Liberal | Pre-Liberalization: Junuary 19 | / 1980 to September 1989 | mber 1989 | | | Post-1. ibcraft | Post-I. iberalization: October 1989 to December 1995 | r 1989 to Dece | mber 1995 | |
|--------------------------------|------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------------|--|----------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| | | | Country | Itry | | | | | Country | A. | | |
| | United States | Philippines (PHL) | Taiwan (TWN) | Japan (JPN) | Hong Kong (HK) | Singapore (SIN) | United States | Philippines (PHL) | Taiwan (TWN) | Japan (JPN) | Hong Kong (HK) | Singapore (SIN) |
| Conditional | | i | | | | | (sn) | | | | | |
| V AITAINCCS | C67.0 | 1/0.0 | 0.225 | 0,122 | 0.401 | 0.391 | 1.053 | 0.265 | 0.883 | 0,562 | 0.914 | 2.333. |
| Conditional | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| OVARIANCES ⁶ | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SN | • | • | | | • | | • | · | | | | |
| PHL | | • | • | | • | | 1011 | • | | | | • |
| NWL | 1.583 | 2.000++ | • | | | | 175.0 | 1 771 | | | | • |
| NAſ | | 1.504 | 0.629 | | | | NO | 1 006 | 0.478 | • | • | • |
| НX | | 1.618 | 1.067 | 1.075 | , | | 0.984 | 1.226 | 106.0 | 1913 | • • | |
| SIN | | 0.861 | 0.320 | 1.335 | 0.835 | | 1.548 | 2.46699 | 1816 | 0 78.8 | 1 460 | • • |

| pecification Tests* |
|---------------------------|
| Ś |
| Heteroscedasticity |
| Conditional |
| Table 4.13: |

a This table summarizes the results of the conditional heteroscedasticity specification tests as suggested in Bolterslev (1990). The test involves regressing squared standardized residuats and cross-products of residuals on lagged variables, where the residuats are obtained from the MGARCH(1,1)-M-CCTI, nodel.

^b Pre-liberalization subperiod figures are P₄ we values. The critical values at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance are 2.12 and 2.85, respectively. Post-liberalization subperiod figures are F_{4,313} values. The critical values at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance are 2.13 and 2.87, respectively.

* Pre-liberalization subperied figures are P₄** values. The critical values are 1.96 and 2.55 at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance, respectively. Post-liberalization subperied figures are P_{4,510} values. The critical values are 1.97 and 2.58 at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance, respectively. Post-liberalization subperied figures are P_{4,510} values. The critical values are 1.97 and 2.58 at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance, respectively.

The superscript ** denotes significance at the 0.05 level.





Each x represents 30 minutes of trading.









Notes

1. The rationale for the potential international transmission of stock returns and volatility follows Lin and Ito (1994) and Lin, Engle and Ito (1994).

2. In addition, the five other countries have strong trade and investment linkages as well (see, e.g., Ahmad, Rao and Barnes, 1996).

3. For instance, Mills (1993) notes that ignoring the presence of autoregressive conditional heteroscedasticity can lead to serious model misspecification and, as with all forms of heteroscedasticity, results in inappropriate standard errors for the estimated parameters.

4. Initially, we tried to estimate the Multivariate GARCH models using the original series and controlling for the effects of the crash of October 1987 using dummy variables for the crash week and the following week. The models converge but the standard errors of the dummy variables are blowing up. Therefore, we decided to use the series obtained using this procedure.

5. The results of the tests for heteroscedasticity in the following section indicate the presence of heteroscedasticity in each national stock market returns series. Therefore, we employ a heteroscedasticity consistent estimate of the variance-covariance matrix of the OLS estimates based on the procedure proposed by Newey and West (1987). Furthermore, we assume that the "crash" of 1987 is a pulse variable. That is, we treat this event as a unique and totally unexpected event that results to a temporary drop in each national stock market index returns series without creating a permanent change in each stock market index returns series nor causing a change in the relationship of stock market returns through time, as captured by the AR coefficients ϕ_{ij} . Consequently, we ignore slope shifters, which take into account the interaction between the dummy variables associated with the stock market crash and the AR coefficients, in the adjustment procedure. This 'outlier adjustment' procedure is done in line with our ultimate objective of building a multivariate model which seeks to explain the interdependencies in international stock market movements during a typical week.

6. In general, if a process x_t is independent white noise, then any function of x_t , e.g. x_t^2 , is also temporally independent and will display intertemporal statistical independence.

7. See, for example, Divecha, Drach and Stefek (1992), Solnik (1991), Errunza (1983), and Agtmael and Errunza (1982).

8. Most of the studies which have employed a variation of the MGARCH models in examining relationships among asset returns find the P=Q=1 parameterization to provide a reasonable fit. See, for example, Malliaropulos (1995), Theodossiou and Lee (1993), Kroner and Lastrapes (1993), and Chan et al (1991).

9. Glosten et al. (1993) state that, initially, it may be reasonable to expect rational riskaverse investors to require a relatively larger risk premium during times when the payoff from the security is riskier. However, they argue that investors may not require a larger risk premium since time periods which are relatively riskier could correspond to time periods when the investors are better able to tolerate particular risk types. Moreover, investors may not require a larger risk premium since they may want to save relatively more during periods when the future is riskier. This is because if all the productive assets available for transferring income to the future are risky assets and there are no risk-free investment opportunities available, then the price of the risky asset may be bid up substantially therefore reducing the risk premium.

10. The previous studies which investigated multivariate return and/or volatility spillovers among various national stock markets did not address the possibility that the stock market indexes in their sample are cointegrated. Consequently, if these stock market indexes are cointegrated and the cointegrating relationship is ignored, then, the models used to capture the transmission of stock market movements in these studies are suboptimal.

11. Although not reported here, the estimates of the conditional variances, obtained under the chosen MGARCH(1,1)-M-CCTL specification, for each market in each of the weeks covered in the pre- and post-liberalization subperiods are all positive. This is also true in the case of the five other MGARCH models considered in this study. Furthermore, except for the estimated MGARCH(1,1)-M1-CCTL model for the pre-liberalization subperiod, all of the estimated models satisfy their respective covariance stationarity conditions.

12. It should be noted that the estimated multivariate GARCH models display some deviations from the conditional normality assumption. In particular, the sample excess kurtosis for the standardized residuals is significant, at least at the 0.05 level, for the univariate GARCH(1,1)-in Mean models of the Philippines, Hong Kong and Japan for the pre-liberalization subperiod and for Japan, Hong Kong and Singapore for the post-liberalization subperiod. In contrast, the excess kurtosis of the corresponding original raw returns series are all statistically significant in both subperiods. However, this violation of conditional normality is not confined to our sample, but is quite apparent with most financial time series. A large number of studies that employ GARCH models which assume conditional normality of returns provide evidence that such class of models cannot fully account for all the leptokurtosis in the data; see, for example, Bollerslev (1987). One implication of deviations to normality is that the standard errors of the coefficient estimates may be understated. However, most of the coefficient estimates are significant at the 0.01 level. This is especially true for the coefficients of the conditional variance-covariance equations.

13. The likelihood ratio test statistic is given by $LR = 2*[L(\Theta_U)-L(\Theta_R)]$, where $L(\Theta_U)$ and $L(\Theta_R)$ are the maximum log likelihood function values obtained from the MGARCH(1,1)-M1 model with the error-correction term z_{t-1} and the MGARCH(1,1)-M1

model without the error-correction term, respectively. This test statistic is asymptotically distributed as χ^2 with degrees of freedom equal to the number of restrictions implied by MGARCH(1,1)-M1 model without the error-correction term (6 in our case). The computed value of the likelihood ratio test statistic is 181.65 thus rejecting the MGARCH(1,1)-M1 model without the error-correction term at the conventional levels of significance.

14. Although it appears that the impact of an initial return shock in the stock market of Taiwan on Philippine conditional volatility increases over time, these coefficients start to decline after the 13-th week and are only statistically significant at the 0.05 level up to 7 weeks after the initial shock.

15. See Ahmad, Rao and Barnes (1996). The figures for 1993 are similar. According to the Portable Encyclopedia of Doing Business in the Philippines, at the end of 1993, the U.S. represented the largest foreign investor in the Philippines, with about 44 percent of cumulative foreign direct investment, followed by Japan with 20 percent, and then Hong Kong with 6.5 percent. The share of Singapore and Taiwan are less than 1 percent.

16. As of December 1995, total market capitalization of Singapore, Taiwan and Hong Kong stood at US\$148.004 billion, US\$187.206 billion and US\$303.705 billion, respectively. (International Finance Corporation, 1996)

17. Another potential explanation for the post-liberalization subperiod results is that all of the national stock market returns considered in this study are denominated in U.S. dollars. It is quite apparent that these returns series include foreign exchange rate movements. As mentioned earlier, previous studies find an inverse foreign exchange volatility relationship between some markets. For example, Lin (1997) finds negative impulse responses of the conditional volatilities of Japanese Yen/U.S. dollar and German Deutschemark/U.S. dollar exchange rates. Therefore, it is possible that the observed inverse relationship between the Philippine stock market return volatility and those of the U.S., Japan and Hong Kong arises from the foreign exchange rate market and this effect maybe overwhelming the positive cross-market stock return volatility relationships. However, it is difficult to verify this hypothesis since we do not test for international transmission of foreign exchange market movements as this is beyond the scope of our study. This issue opens a subject for future research.

18. Bollerslev (1990) notes that the constant conditional correlation model predicts that the product of the standardized cross-market residuals are uncorrelated and not the product of the raw residuals $\hat{\varepsilon}_{ii}\hat{\varepsilon}_{ji}$, as would be implied by a model which assumes constant conditional covariances.

Bibliography

- Aggarwal, R. and P. Rivoli, 1989, "The Relationship Between the U.S. and Four Asian Stock Markets," ASEAN Economic Bulletin 6:110-117.
- Agtmael, A. and V. Errunza, 1982, "Foreign Portfolio Investment in Emerging Securities Markets," Columbia Journal of World Business Summer.
- Ahmad, A. S. Rao and C. Barnes, 1996, "Foreign Direct Investment and APEC Economic Integration", Working Paper No. 8, Industry Canada.
- Baillie, R. and T. Bollerslev, 1990, "A Multivariate Generalized Approach to Modeling Risk Premia in Forward Foreign Exchange Rate Markets," Journal of International Money and Finance 9:309-324.
- Baillie, W. and R. DeGennaro, 1990, "Stock Returns and Volatility," Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 25:203-214.
- Bailey, W., 1990, "US Money Supply Announcements and Pacific Rim Stock Markets: Evidence and Implications," Journal of International Money and Finance 9:344-356.
- Becker, K., J. Finnerty and A. Tucker, 1992, "The Intraday Interdependence Structure Between U.S. and Japanese Equity Markets," Journal of Financial Research 15:27-37.
- Bennet, P. and J. Kelleher, 1988, "The International Transmission of Stock Price Disruption in October 1987," Federal Reserve Bank at New York Quarterly Review 13:17-33.
- Berndt, E., B. Hall, R. Hall and J. Hausman, 1974, "Estimation and Inference in Nonlinear Structural Models," Annals of Economic and Social Measurement 4:653-665.
- Black, F., 1972, "Capital Market Equilibrium with Restricted Borrowing," Journal of Business 45:444-454.
- Black, F. and M. Scholes, 1974, "The Valuation of Option Contracts and a Test of Market Efficiency," Journal of Finance 27:399-418.
- Bollerslev, T., 1986, "Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity." Journal of Econometrics 31:307-327.

- Bollerslev, T., 1990, "Modelling the Coherence in Short-Run Nominal Exchange Rates: A Multivariate Generalized ARCH Model," Review of Economics and Statistics 72:498-505.
- Bollerslev, T., R. Chou and K. Kroner, 1992, "ARCH Modeling in Finance: A Review of the Theory and Empirical Evidence," Journal of Econometrics 52:5-60.
- Bollerslev, T. and R. Engle, 1993, "Common Persistence in Conditional Variances," Econometrica 61:167-186.
- Bollerslev, T., R. Engle and J. Woolridge, 1988, "A Capital Asset Pricing Model with Time-Varying Covariances," Journal of Political Economy 96:116-131.
- Breen, W., L. Glosten and R. Jagannathan, 1989, "Economic Significance of Predictable Variations in Stock Index Returns," Journal of Finance 44:1177-1189.
- Campbell, J., 1993, "Intertemporal Asset Pricing Without Consumption Data," American Economic Review 83:487-512.

_____, 1987, "Stock Returns and Term Structure," Journal of Financial Economics 18:373-399.

- Campbell, J. And L. Hentschel, 1992, "No News is Good News: An Asymmetric Model of Changing Volatility in Stock Returns," Journal of Financial Economics 31:281-318.
- Chan, K., K. C. Chan and G.A. Karolyi, 1991, "Intraday Volatility in the Stock Index and Stock Index Futures Markets," Review of "Financial Studies 4:657-684.
- Cheung, C.S. and C. Kwan, 1992, "A Note on the Transmission of Public Information Across International Stock Markets," Journal of Banking and Finance 16:831-837.
- Cheung, Y. and S. Mak, 1992, "The International Transmission of Stock Market Fluctuation Between the Developed Markets and the Asian-Pacific Markets," Applied Financial Economics 2:43-47.
- Chowdhury, A., 1994, "Stock Market Interdependencies: Evidence from the Asian NIEs," Journal of Macroeconomics 16:629-651.
- Deb, P., P. Trivedi and P. Varangis, 1996, "The Excess Co-Movement of Commodity Prices Reconsidered," Journal of Applied Econometrics 11:275-291.

- De Santis, G. and S. Imrohoroglu, 1995, "Stock Returns and Volatility in Emerging Financial Markets," Working Paper, Department of Finance and Business Economics, School of Business Administration, University of Southern California.
- Diebold, F., 1988, Empirical Modeling of Exchange Rate Dynamics, New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Divecha, A., J. Drach and D. Stefek, 1992, "Emerging Markets: A Quantitative Perspective," Journal of Portfolio Management 19:41-50.
- Engle, R., 1982, "Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity with Estimates of the Variance of U.K. Inflation," Econometrica 50:987-1008.
- Engle, R., T. Ito and W. Lin, 1990, "Meteor Showers or Heat Waves? Heteroskedastic Intra-Daily Volatility in the Foreign Exchange Market," Econometrica 58:525-542.
- Engle, R. and K. Kroner, 1995, "Multivariate Simultaneous Generalized ARCH," Econometric Theory 11:122-150.
- Engle, R., D. Lilien and R. Robins, 1987, "Estimating Time Varying Risk Premia in the Term Structure: The ARCH-M Model," Econometrica 55:391-407.
- Engle, R. and V. Ng, 1993, "Measuring and Testing the Impact of News on Volatility." Journal of Finance 18:1749-1778.
- Engle, R. and R. Susmel, 1993, "Common Volatility in International Equity Markets," Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 11:167-176.
- Errunza, V., 1983, "Emerging Markets A New Opportunity for Improving Global Portfolio Performance," Financial Analysts Journal September-October: 51-58.
- Errunza, V. and E. Losq, 1985, "International Asset Pricing Under Mild Segmentation: Theory and Test," Journal of Finance 40:105-124.
- Eun, C. and S. Shim, 1989, "International Transmission of Stock Market Movements," Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 24:241-256.
- Euromoney, 1994, The 1994 Guide to World Equity Markets, London: Euromoney Publications PLC.
- Fama, E. and G. Schwert, 1977, "Asset Return and Inflation," Journal of Financial Economics 5:115-146.

- Fischer, K. and A. Palasvirta, 1990, "High Road to a Global Market Place: The International Transmission of Stock Market Fluctuations," Financial Review 25:371-394.
- French, K., 1980, "Stock Returns and the Weekend Effect," Journal of Financial Economics 8:55-70.
- French, K. and R. Roll, 1986, "Stock Return Variances: The Arrival of Information and the Reaction of Traders," Journal of Financial Economics 17:5-26.
- French, K., G. Schwert and R. Stambaugh, 1987, "Expected Stock Returns and Volatility," Journal of Financial Economics 19:5-29.
- Gallant, A., P. Rossi, and G. Tauchen, 1992, "Stock Prices and Volume," Review of Financial Studies 5:199-242.
- Garcia, P., J. Roh and R. Leuthold, 1995, "Simultaneously Determined, Time-Varying Hedge Ratios in the Soybean Complex," Applied Economics 27:1127-1134.
- Glosten, L., R. Jagannathan and D. Runkle, 1993, "On the Relation Between the Expected Value and the Volatility of the Nominal Excess Return on Stocks," Journal of Finance 18:1779-1801.
- Hamao, Y., R. Masulis and V. Ng, 1990, "Correlations in Price Changes and Volatility Across International Stock Markets," Review of Financial Studies 3:281-307.
- International Finance Corporation, 1996, Emerging Stock Markets Factbook. Washington D.C.: International Finance Corporation.
- International Monetary Fund, 1988, Annual Report on Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- International Monetary Fund, 1990, Annual Report on Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions, Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- Ito, T., R. Engle and W. Lin, 1992, "Where Does the Meteor Shower Come From?: The Role of Stochastic Policy Coordination," Journal of International Economics 32:221-240.
- Jeon, B. and G. von Furstenberg, 1990, "Growing International Co-movement in Stock Price Indexes," Quarterly Review of Economics and Business 30:15-30.
- Karolyi, G. A., 1995, "A Multivariate GARCH Model of International Transmissions of Stock Returns and Volatility," Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 13:11- 25.

- Karpoff, J., 1987, "The Relation Between Price Changes and Trading Volume: A Survey," Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 22:109-126.
- Kim, E. and V. Singal, 1993, "Opening Up of Stock Markets by Emerging Economies: Effect on Portfolio Flows and Volatility of Stock Prices," in Portfolio Investments in Developing Countries, S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228:383-403.
- Kim, S. and J. Rogers, 1995, "International Stock Price Spillovers and Market Liberalization: Evidence from Korea, Japan, and the United States," Journal of Empirical Finance 2:117-133.
- King, M. and S. Wadhwani, 1990, "Transmission of Volatility Between Stock Markets." Review of Financial Studies 3:5-33.
- Koch, P. and T. Koch, 1993, "Dynamic Relationships among the Daily Levels of National Stock Indexes," in International Financial Market Integration, S. Stansell (ed), Cambridge: Blackwell Publishers:299-328.
- Koutmos, G., 1996, "Modeling the Dynamic Interdependence of Major European Stock Markets," Journal of Business Finance and Accounting 23:975-988.
- Kroner, K. and W. Lastrapes, 1993, "The Impact of Exchange Rate Volatility on International Trade: Reduced Form Estimates Using the GARCH-in-Mean Model," Journal of International Money and Finance 12:298-318.
- Kyle, A., 1985, "Continuous Auctions and Insider Trading," Econometrica 53:1315-1355.
- Lamberte, M. and G. Llanto, 1994, A Study of Financial Sector Policies: The Philippine Case, Manila: Philippine Institute of Development Studies.
- Lamoureux, C. and W. Lastrapes, 1990, "Heteroskedasticity in Stock Return Data: Volume versus GARCH Effects," Journal of Finance 46:221-229.
- Lee, T. and F. Koray, 1994, "Uncertainty in Sales and Inventory Behaviour in the U.S. Trade Sectors," Canadian Journal of Economics 27:129-142.
- Lee, I., R. Pettit and M. Swankoski, 1990, "Daily Return Relationships Among Asian Stock Markets," Journal of Business Finance and Accounting 17:265-284.
- Li, W. and A. McLeod, 1983, "Diagnostic Checking ARMA Time Series Models Using Squared Residual Correlations," Journal of Time Series Analysis 4:269-273.

- Lim, B. and K. Lew, 1993, "Correlations in Stock Price Changes Across International Stock Markets," in Regional Economic Integration in the Asia-Pacific, Field Report Series No. 27, J. Tan (ed), Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies:35-48.
- Lin, W., 1997, "Impulse Response Function for Conditional Volatility in GARCH Models," Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 15:15-25.
- Lin, W., R. Engle and T. Ito, 1994, "Do Bulls and Bears Move Across Borders? International Transmission of Stock Returns and Volatility," Review of Financial Studies 7:507-538.
- Lin, W. and T. Ito, 1994, "Price Volatility and Volume Spillovers between the Tokyo and New York Stock Markets," in The Internationalization of Equity Markets, J. Frankel (ed), Chicago: The University of Chicago Press:309-343.
- Lintner, J., 1965, "The Valuation of Risk Assets and the Selection of Risky Investments in Stock Portfolios and Capital Budgets," Review of Economics and Statistics 47:13-37.
- Lo, A. and A. MacKinlay, 1988, "Stock Market Prices Do Not Follow Random Walks: Evidence from a Simple Specification Test," Review of Financial Studies 1:41-66.
- Longin, F. and B. Solnik, 1995, "Is the Correlation in International Equity Returns Constant: 1960-1990?," Journal of International Money and Finance 14:3-26.
- Malliaropulos, D., 1995, "Conditional Volatility of Exchange Rates and Risk Premia in the EMS," Applied Economics 27:117-123.
- Merton, R., 1973, "An Intertemporal Capital Asset Pricing Model," Econometrica 41:867-87.

____, 1980, "On Estimating the Expected Return on the Market: An Exploratory Investigation," Journal of Financial Economics 8:323-61.

- Mills, T., 1993, The Econometric Modelling of Financial Time Series, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Nelson, D., 1992, "Filtering and Forecasting with Misspecified ARCH Models I: Getting the Right Variance with the Wrong Model," Journal of Econometrics 52.

____, 1991, "Conditional Heteroskedasticity in Asset Returns: A New Approach," Econometrica 59:347-370.

- Neumark, D., P. Tinsley and S. Tosini, 1991, "After-Hours Stock Prices and Post-Crash Hangovers," Journal of Finance 46:159-178.
- Newey, W. and K. West, 1987, "A Simple Positive Semi-Definite Heteroskedasticity and Autocorrelation Consistent Covariance Matrix," Econometrica 55:703-708.
- Nijman, T. and E. Sentana, 1996, "Marginalization and Contemporaneous Aggregation in Multivariate GARCH Processes," Journal of Econometrics 71:71-87.
- Ng, V., R. Chang, and R. Chou., 1991, "An Examination of the Behavior of Pacific-Basin Stock Market Volatility," in Pacific-Basin Capital Markets Research Volume II, S.G. Rhee and R.P. Chang (eds), The Netherlands: Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.:245-260.
- Pagan, A. and Y. Hong, 1991, "Nonparametric Estimation and the Risk Premium," in Nonparametric and Semiparametric Methods in Econometrics and Statistics, W. Barnett, J. Powell and G. Tauchen (eds), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pagan, A. and G. Schwert, 1990, "Alternative Models for Conditional Stock Volatility," Journal of Econometrics 45:267-290.
- Portable Encyclopedia for Doing Business with the Philippines, 1996, E. Hinkelman (ed), California: World Trade Press.
- Rogers, J., 1994, "Entry Barriers and Price Movements Between Major and Emerging Stock Markets," Journal of Macroeconomics 16:221-241.
- Ross, S., 1989, "Information and Volatility: The No-Arbitrage Martingale Approach to Timing and Resolution Irrelevancy," Journal of Finance 44:1-17.
- Schwert, G., 1989, "Why Does Stock Volatility Change Over Time?," Journal of Finance 44:1115-1154.
- Sephton, P., 1993, "Optimal Hedge Ratios at the Winnipeg Commodity Exchange," Canadian Journal of Economics 26:175-193.
- Sharpe, W., 1964, "Capital Asset Prices: A Theory of Market Equilibrium Under Conditions of Risk," Journal of Finance 19:425-442.
- Solnik, B., 1991, "Pacific Basin Stock Markets and International Diversification," in Pacific-Basin Capital Markets Research Volume II, S.G. Rhee and R.P. Chang (eds), The Netherlands: Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.:309-321.

- Stulz, R., 1981, "On the Effects of Barriers to International Investment." Journal of Finance 36:923-934.
- Theodossiou, P. and U. Lee, 1993, "Mean and Volatility Spillovers Across Major National Stock Markets: Further Empirical Evidence," Journal of Financial Research 16:337-350.
- Tiglao, R., 1995, "The Cost of Insurance," Far Eastern Economic Review, May 11, 1995:51.
- _____, 1991, "Stealthy Bull," Far Eastern Economic Review, August 1, 1991:48.
- Turner, C., M. Startz and C. Nelson, 1989, "A Markov Model of Heteroskedasticity, Risk, and Learning in the Stock Market," Journal of Financial Economics 25:3-22.

Chapter 5

General Discussion and Conclusions

The Philippines has implemented a cornucopia of economic reforms, especially in recent years, in its quest to develop further and eventually join the ranks of the Asian Newly Industrializing Economies (NIEs). These include, among others, policy changes aimed at capital market liberalization. This set of reforms involve the relaxation or removal of barriers to international investments and of the easing of barriers to international investments and of the easing of barriers to international investments effectively limit cross-border capital movements, the liberalization of these restrictions are expected to increase the inflow of foreign capital into the domestic market. In fact, stylized facts point out to a surge in flows of foreign portfolio capital into the Philippines in recent years.

In this thesis, we concentrated on investigating the impact of capital market liberalization on the Philippine equity market. It was not until recently that academic researchers have shown interest in studying the emerging stock markets of developing countries such as the Philippine stock market. The recent developments related to the liberalization of the Philippine capital market provide an opportunity to examine their short- and long-term implications on the domestic equity market and on its relationship with other national equity markets. We draw on the principles, concepts and theories in the areas of investment and international finance for the theoretical framework and economic intuition underlying these issues.

In Chapter 2, we examined the impact of capital market liberalization on the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market with the stock markets of its major economic partners. Using cointegration as a measure of the degree of equity market integration, we found evidence that the Philippine stock market has become integrated with the international stock markets during the post-liberalization subperiod but not during the pre-liberalization subperiod. This finding can be partially attributed to the significant reforms implemented over the post-liberalization subperiod. This is because liberalization encourages international capital flows which in turn promotes capital market integration. However, the degree of Philippine equity market integration with the international markets is found to be weak, owing to barriers to international capital flows that remain in the Philippine market. In addition, the weak degree of integration can also be interpreted as an indication that the impact of capital market liberalization is protracted and therefore its effect on the degree of equity market integration is not immediately substantial. We also find that, during the post-liberalization subperiod, the information contained in the cointegrating relationship between the equity market of the Philippines and those of its major economic partners is helpful in explaining the shortrun movements of the Philippine stock market index. Given that cointegration suggests long-run co-movement of national stock markets, one implication of our results is that the long-run horizon return correlations between the Philippine stock market price

indexes are expected to be higher than those reflected in short-run stock market returns. In turn, this implies limited long-run diversification benefits from investing in the stocks of the Philippine market. However, the finding of a weak degree of integration suggests that the potential long-run diversification benefits offered by Philippine equities to overseas investors is still significant.

In Chapter 3, we investigated the response of American investors to announcements of specific reforms that relaxed the restrictions on international investments in the Philippines, using data on the First Philippine closed-end country Theoretical international asset pricing models imply that the imposition of Fund. significant and effective international investment barriers can cause the expected returns on assets of equal risk to differ across countries. An implication of these models is that effective barriers to international investment raise the premium or reduce the discount on the country fund investing in that country. An event study methodology was employed to determine whether announcements of relaxations in the foreign investment restrictions in the Philippines are associated with an increase in the fund's discounts. Our results indicate that announced relaxation of foreign equity ownership limits are associated with a widening of the First Philippine Fund's discounts. One implication of this result is that the imposition of foreign equity ownership restrictions raised the required return on Philippine equities. Consequently, this has the effect of segmenting the Philippine equity market. Therefore, the finding of a significant increase in the country fund's premium as a result of the loosening of such restrictions implies a reduction in the cost of raising capital in the Philippine stock market.

Finally, in Chapter 4, we examined the impact of capital market liberalization on the short-run dynamic relationships of the Philippine equity market with the equity markets of its major economic partners. Using a multivariate GARCH methodology, we find that while there are no lagged mean return spillovers from the other markets to the Philippine equity market, significant lagged volatility spillovers occur from the foreign markets to the Philippine market. This is consistent with theoretical arguments that information (e.g., as reflected in stock market return innovations) is most likely to be revealed on the volatility of asset prices than on its simple price changes. The results of our analysis indicate that past innovations in the stock returns of the markets of the Philippines' major economic partners significantly influence the future conditional variance of Philippine stock market returns. Moreover, the evidence of such crossmarket volatility transmission appears to be stronger in the post-liberalization subperiod. At the same time, the post-liberalization results suggest that the conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns has become more responsive to information contained in the past squared innovations of the foreign stock market returns relative to that contained in its own market return innovations. In addition, results of the analysis of the impulse response of conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns indicate that the impact of cross-market past innovations on current conditional volatility of Philippine stock market returns is quite persistent. That is, the impact of an initial foreign stock market return innovation remains significant from 1 up to 7 weeks into the future. The preceding findings are supportive of the view that the presence of barriers to

international investments effectively segment the domestic market from the relatively open foreign capital markets, thereby insulating it from international developments that can possibly affect the short-run dynamics of this market's assets returns. By liberalizing such restrictions, new information contained in international stock market movements become an important influence on the behavior of domestic stock market returns relative to local information. The stronger evidence of volatility spillovers during the postliberalization subperiod is consistent with the finding of an increase in the degree of integration of the Philippine equity market with international equity markets in Chapter 2. However, our finding of lagged volatility spillover from some of the foreign markets to the Philippine market during the pre-liberalization subperiod also supports the view that cross-market transmission of stock market movements can occur in the absence of crosscountry investing provided that a strong economic linkage exists between these countries. This is because such relationship also links the economic fundamentals of these countries' asset prices.

Overall, our results suggest that recent capital market liberalization reforms in the Philippines may have been partly responsible for increasing the price linkages of the domestic equity market with those of international equity markets. We expect the linkages to strengthen further as the Philippine government and its allied agencies pursue additional reforms that encourage greater domestic equity market participation by both domestic and foreign investors and which induce domestic firms to use the equity market as a venue for fund raising. Some of the benefits of liberalizing the domestic equity market to greater foreign participation are that it (1) provides an impetus for improving both operational and informational efficiency of the market and (2) reduces the cost of capital. For example, Kim and Singal (1993) assert that the opening up of the domestic equity market results in an increase in competition from foreign institutions. In turn, competition requires the importation and adaptation of more sophisticated financial technology by the domestic market as well as substantial investments in improving information processing and upgrading the quality of financial services. These leads to enhanced efficiencies in capital allocation, risk sharing and monitoring of the use of capital. In addition, market liberalization is said to result in greater access to foreign capital at lower cost. Kim and Singal (1993) argue that liberalization leads to lower cost of foreign capital since the resultant ease of cross-border investing promotes international diversification of foreign portfolios. Consequently, this reduces, if not eliminates, country-specific risk, thereby resulting in a lower risk premium. Moreover, the enhanced efficiency of the domestic market that accompanies liberalization increases domestic market liquidity, which in turn also leads to lower cost of capital.

In this thesis, we have generally concentrated on examining the impact of capital market liberalization on the short-run and long-run behavior of the Philippine stock market index. It would have been ideal to investigate the implications of liberalization on individual stocks as well. For example, it is interesting to examine which types of stock are more integrated with the global capital markets and which are less integrated. In addition, it is equally interesting to examine how effective Philippine ownership restrictions, via the issuance of restricted shares ("A" shares) and unrestricted shares ("B" shares) create market segmentation and how capital market liberalization has affected the relationship between the stock prices of these two classes of shares. In fact, Lamberte and Llanto (1994) report that in 1989, prices of class "B" shares are about five times as much as those of class "A" shares. The theoretical models of Eun and Janakiramanan (1986), Hietala (1989), and Stulz and Wasserfallen (1995) predict that the unrestricted shares will sell at a premium over the restricted shares. This premium reflects market segmentation induced by domestic versus foreign ownership restrictions. For example, Domowitz, Glen and Madhavan (1995) find significant stock price premia for unrestricted shares in the Mexican stock market. They also find that the premia varies over time and across individual firms, partly as a result of the opening of the domestic market to international investors. However, data limitations on the individual stocks prevented us from exploring these issues. Therefore, we leave the investigation of these issues to future research.

Bibliography

- Domowitz, I., J. Glen and A. Madhavan, 1995, "Market Segmentation and Stock Prices: Evidence from an Emerging Market," Working Paper, Northwestern University, International Finance Corporation and University of Southern California.
- Eun, C. and S. Janakiramanan, 1986, "A Model of International Asset Pricing with a Constraint on the Foreign Equity Ownership," Journal of Finance 41:897-914.
- Hietala, P., 1989, "Asset Pricing in Partially Segmented Markets: Evidence from the Finnish Market," Journal of Finance 44:697-718.
- Kim. E. and V. Singal, 1993, "Opening Up of Stock Markets by Emerging Economies: Effect on Portfolio Flows and Volatility of Stock Prices," in Portfolio Investments in Developing Countries, S. Claessens and S. Gooptu (eds), World Bank Discussion Papers 228.:383-403.
- Lamberte, M. And G. Llanto, 1994, A Study of Financial Sector Policies: The Philippine Case, Manila: Philippine Institute of Development Studies.
- Stulz, R. and W. Wasserfallen, 1995, "Foreign Equity Investment Restrictions, Capital Flight, and Shareholder Wealth Maximization," Review of Financial Studies 8:1019-1058.

,

| Courses (Example Marthus Indon | Sources (Period Covered) Stock Market Price Index | Exchange Rate |
|--|--|--|
| Country/Stock Market Index | Stock Market Price Index | Exclusinger Kale |
| Philippines/Philippine Stock Exchange Commercial and Industrial Index | PACAP Research Center at the University of Rhode Island (1980-1995) | PACAP Research Center at the Universit of Rhode Island (1980-1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) |
| Japan/Tokyo Stock Exchange Price Index | Financial Times (London) and Wall Street Journal (1980-1995) | IMF International Financial Statistic Monthly (1980-1995) |
| Hong Kong/Hang Seng Index | PACAP (1980-1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) | PACAP Research Center at the Universit of Rhode Island (1980-1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) |
| Singapore/Stock Exchange of Singapore All-Shares Index | PACAP (1980–1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) | PACAP Research Center at the Universit of Rhode Island (1980-1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) |
| Taiwan/Taiwan Stock Exchange Weighted Price Index | PACAP (1980-1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) | PACAP Research Center at the Universit of Rhode Island (1980-1994) Financial Times (London) (1995) |
| United States/Standard & Poors' 500 Index | Center for Research In Security Prices (CRSP) Database, University of Chicago (1980-1994) S&P NYSE Daily Stock Price Record (1995) | |

Appendix B: Johansen's Cointegration Tests, Procedure for Estimating the Cointegrating Relationships and Likelihood Ratio Tests on the Long-Run Parameters of the Vector Error Correction Model for Chapter 2

B1. Johansen's Likelihood Ratio Tests of Cointegration

The trace test statistic is constructed from the residuals of two auxiliary regressions aimed at concentrating out the short-run dynamics of the data. The first set of residuals, $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{0t}$, an (*n*x1) vector of residuals, are based on the least squares residuals from the vector regression of $\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t}$ on a constant and all elements of the vectors $\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-1}$, $\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-2}$,..., $\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-j+1}$.

That is, a $(j-1)^{th}$ -order VAR is estimated for ΔS_t by regressing the scalar ΔS_{it} on a constant and all elements of the vectors ΔS_{t-1} , ΔS_{t-2} ,..., ΔS_{t-j+1} using OLS, for i=1,...,n. The *n* OLS regression results are then summarized in vector form

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{t} = \hat{\mathbf{c}}_{0} + \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{2} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-2} + \dots + \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{j-1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-j+1} + \hat{\mathbf{u}}_{0t}$$
(B1.1)

where $\hat{\aleph}_{i}$, i=1,..., j-1, denotes an (nxn) matrix of OLS coefficient estimates and \hat{u}_{α} denotes an (nx1) vector of OLS residuals.

The second set, $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{tt}$, an (nx1) vector of residuals, are based on the least squares residuals from the vector regression of \mathbf{S}_{t-1} on the same set of regressors as the first set. The *n* OLS regressions are then collected in vector form

$$\mathbf{S}_{t-1} = \hat{\mathbf{c}}_1 + \hat{\mathbf{\Theta}}_1 \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-1} + \hat{\mathbf{\Theta}}_2 \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-2} + \dots + \hat{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{j-1} \Delta \mathbf{S}_{t-j-1} + \hat{\mathbf{u}}_{1t}$$
(B1.2)

with the $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{1t}$ the (nx1) vector of OLS residuals from this second battery of regressions.

The estimate of the variance-covariance matrices of these two sets of residuals are then calculated as $\hat{\Sigma}_{ij} = T^{-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \hat{\mathbf{u}}_{it} \hat{\mathbf{u}}_{jt}$, $i_{ij}=0,1$, to give $\hat{\Sigma}_{11}$, $\hat{\Sigma}_{00}$, $\hat{\Sigma}_{01}$, and $\hat{\Sigma}_{10}$. From these, the eigenvalues of the matrix $\hat{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1} \hat{\Sigma}_{10} \hat{\Sigma}_{01}^{-1} \hat{\Sigma}_{01}$ is obtained via canonical correlation analysis, with the eigenvalues ordered $\hat{\lambda}_1 > \hat{\lambda}_2 > \cdots > \hat{\lambda}_n$. Johansen (1988,1991) shows that the eigenvalues of the matrix $\hat{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1} \hat{\Sigma}_{10} \hat{\Sigma}_{01}^{-1} \hat{\Sigma}_{01}$ are simply the squares of the canonical correlations between the disturbances of the two auxiliary regressions.

Johansen (1988, 1991) shows that the trace statistic, is given by

$$\lambda_{ir} = -T \sum_{i=r+1}^{a} ln \left(1 - \hat{\lambda}_{i} \right)$$
(B1.3)

where $\hat{\lambda}_{r+1} > \hat{\lambda}_{r+2} > \cdots > \hat{\lambda}_n$ are the *n*-*r* smallest eigenvalues of the matrix $\hat{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1} \hat{\Sigma}_{10} \hat{\Sigma}_{01}^{-1} \hat{\Sigma}_{01}$.

On the other hand, Johansen and Juselius (1990) demonstrate that for each value of r ($0 \le r \le n$), there is a corresponding hypothesis of r or fewer cointegrating vectors. Thus, they proposed an alternative likelihood ratio test statistic, called the *maximum* eigenvalue test, which tests the null hypothesis of r cointegrating relations against the alternative of at most r+1 cointegrating relations. This is given by

$$\lambda_{max} = -T \ln(1 - \hat{\lambda}_{r+1}) \tag{B1.4}$$

The two cointegration test statistics do not have the standard distributions. Instead the critical values of both test statistics follow a (n-r)-dimensional standard Brownian motion. Johansen and Juselius (1990) provide the simulated asymptotic critical values for both statistics for at most five variables while Osterwald-Lenum (1992) extended the tabulations for both test statistics for at most eleven variables.

B2. Maximum Likelihood Estimation of the Vector Error-Correction Model

A detailed description of the maximum likelihood estimation of the parameters the error correction equations is provided in Hamilton (1994). A summary of the procedure is given below.

Let $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_1, \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_2, \dots, \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_r$ denote the (Nx1) eigenvectors of the matrix $\hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{11}^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{10} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{01}^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{01}$ associated with the *r* largest eigenvalues. Johansen then showed that the maximum likelihood estimator (MLE) is that any cointegrating vector can be written in the form

$$\mathbf{b} = a_1 \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_1 + a_2 \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_2 + \cdots a_r \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_r \tag{B2.1}$$

for some choice of scalars $(a_1, a_2, ..., a_r)$; i.e. any linear combination of the cointegrating vectors $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_1, \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_2, ..., \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_r$ can also be described as a cointegrating vector. Since their values are not uniquely defined, Johansen suggested normalizing the coefficients of the vectors $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_i$ so that $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_i = \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_i' \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{11} \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_i = 1$ before any inferences about them can be made. Suppose the vectors $\hat{\mathbf{b}}_i$ are the normalized vectors. The first *r* normalized eigenvectors are then collected in an (nxr) matrix $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = [\hat{\mathbf{b}}_1 \ \hat{\mathbf{b}}_2 \cdots \hat{\mathbf{b}}_r]$ where the columns are the cointegrating vectors. An advantage of the Johansen procedure is that the results and implications are invariant to the chosen normalizing variable.

Johansen then shows that the MLE of the long-run impact matrix Π is given by $\hat{\Pi} = \hat{\Sigma}_{11}\hat{\beta}\hat{\beta}'$. The MLE for α , the matrix summarizing the average speeds of adjustment to the long-run equilibrium relationships or cointegrating vectors given by $\hat{\alpha} = \hat{\Sigma}_{01}\hat{\beta}$.

The MLE for the short-run dynamics $\hat{\Gamma}_i$ for i=1,...,j-1 is $\hat{\Gamma}_i = \hat{\aleph}_i - \hat{\Pi}\hat{\Theta}_i$ using the results of the first auxiliary regression in Equation (B1.1) and the MLE for the constant μ is $\hat{\mu} = \hat{c}_0 - \hat{\Pi}\hat{c}_1$ using the results of the second auxiliary regression in Equation (B1.2).

The MLE of
$$\boldsymbol{\Omega}$$
 is $\hat{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} = T^{-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left[\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{0t} - \hat{\boldsymbol{\Pi}} \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{1t} \right) \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{0t} - \hat{\boldsymbol{\Pi}} \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{1t} \right)' \right].$

B3. Likelihood Ratio Test Statistics for Testing Hypotheses on the Long-Run Parameters of the Vector Error Correction Model

Long-Run Exclusion Test Statistic. Johansen (1988, 1991) and Johansen and Juselius (1990) showed that the likelihood ratio test statistic under the null hypothesis that $b_{ij}=0$ for some *i*, i=1,...,6 and for all *j*, j=1,...,r, where b_{ij} is the ij^{th} element of the matrix β , is given by

$$LR_{\beta} = -T\sum_{i=1}^{r} ln(1-\hat{\lambda}_{i}) + T\sum_{i=1}^{r} ln(1-\tilde{\lambda}_{i})$$
(B3.1)

where $\tilde{\lambda}_i$ is the *i*th largest eigenvalue of the matrix $\tilde{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1}\tilde{\Sigma}_{10}\tilde{\Sigma}_{00}^{-1}\tilde{\Sigma}_{01}$ obtained by applying the Johansen's maximum likelihood estimation procedure with the restrictions on the matrix β implied by the null imposed and $\hat{\lambda}_i$ is the *i*th largest eigenvalue $\hat{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1}\hat{\Sigma}_{10}\hat{\Sigma}_{01}^{-1}\hat{\Sigma}_{01}$ when no restrictions are imposed. This test statistic is asymptotically distributed as χ^2 with r(n-m) degrees of freedom, where (n-m) is the number of variables for which the cointegration coefficients are hypothesized to be zero.

Weak Exogeneity Test Statistic. Johansen (1988, 1991) and Johansen and Juselius (1990) showed that the likelihood ratio test statistic under the null hypothesis that $a_{ij}=0$ for some *i*, i=1,...,6 and for all *j*, j=1,...,r, where a_{ij} is the ij^{th} element of the matrix α , is given by

$$LR_{\alpha} = -T\sum_{i=1}^{r} ln(1-\hat{\lambda}_{i}) + T\sum_{i=1}^{r} ln(1-\tilde{\lambda}_{i})$$
(B3.2)

where $\tilde{\lambda}_i$ is the *i*th largest eigenvalue of the matrix $\tilde{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1}\tilde{\Sigma}_{10}\tilde{\Sigma}_{00}^{-1}\tilde{\Sigma}_{01}$ obtained by applying the Johansen's maximum likelihood estimation procedure with the restrictions on the matrix α implied by the null imposed and $\hat{\lambda}_i$ is the *i*th largest eigenvalue $\hat{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1}\hat{\Sigma}_{10}\hat{\Sigma}_{01}^{-1}\hat{\Sigma}_{01}$ when no restrictions are imposed. This test statistic is asymptotically distributed as χ^2 with r(n-m) degrees of freedom, where (n-m) is the number of stock market indexes for which the speed of adjustment coefficients are hypothesized to be all zero. Joint Long-Run Exclusion and Weak Exogeneity Test Statistic. The likelihood ratio test statistic for testing the joint hypotheses of zero cointegration coefficients and adjustment speed coefficients is computed in the same manner as preceding test statistic except that $\tilde{\lambda}_i$ is taken to be the *i*th largest eigenvalue of the matrix $\tilde{\Sigma}_{11}^{-1}\tilde{\Sigma}_{10}\tilde{\Sigma}_{00}^{-1}\tilde{\Sigma}_{01}$ obtained by applying the Johansen's maximum likelihood estimation procedure with the restrictions on both α and β implied by the null imposed. This test statistic is asymptotically distributed as χ^2 with r(n-m) degrees of freedom, where (n-m) is the total number of stock market indexes for which the speed of adjustment coefficients and/or cointegration coefficients are hypothesized to be all zero.





Appendix D: Chronological Listing of Announcements of Changes in Philippine International Investment Restrictions for Chapter 3

10/14/94. The entry of foreign banks to operate in the Philippines was liberalized (Circular No. 51). Such entry can be effected through a purchase of 60 percent of the voting stock of an existing domestic bank or of a new banking subsidiary incorporated in the Philippines or through the establishment of branches with full banking authority, subject to the licensing requirements of the Central Bank. For a foreign bank branch (new or already established), permanently assigned capital of the dollar equivalent of P210 million (converted at the exchange rate of P26.979 per US\$1-the rate prevailing on June 5, 1994) must be remitted and converted into pesos, which will allow for the establishment of three branches. For each three additional branches to be opened, the US dollar equivalent of P35 million must be remitted. (IMF, 1995): Direct investment, loosening, capital inflows.

6/22/94. President Fidel Ramos opened the Philippine economy wider to overseas businesses. The executive order is part of a foreign-investment liberalization that takes effect Oct. 24. Non-Filipinos will be able to own businesses in many sectors that now are restricted to 40% foreign ownership. Foreigners will be allowed to operate in areas such as insurance, travel agencies, wholesale trading, convention organizing, manufacturing under foreign licenses and cockfighting. The easing isn't expected to affect the economy much initially, but it underscores Mr. Ramos's determination to increase competition in protected areas, despite small companies' claims of hardship. The National Economic and Development Authority said that 'adequate capacity' is not a sound basis for excluding foreign investments in a particular sector. It said restricting competition benefits high-cost producers at consumers' expense. (WSJ 6/23/94): Direct investment, loosening, capital inflows.

8/10/92. The Philippines will scrap most remaining foreign-exchange restrictions. Businesses and analysts welcomed the move but urged further deregulation of trade and foreign-investment policies. President Fidel Ramos said the measures, the second stage of an overhaul launched late last year, will remove requirements that exporters sell their foreign-exchange earnings to banks. Under the package expected to take effect this month, Philippine residents may borrow as much as \$1 million from banks for investment abroad without central bank approval and may hold overseas deposits. Gold imports won't require central bank authorization, and most gold exports will be allowed. The first stage, widely considered incomplete, required 15 types of enterprises, ranging from airlines to oil companies and including most foreign-exchange earners, to sell almost all these earnings to banks for resale to the central bank. The latest move encouraged businesses, which said it removed psychological blocks to investment and

ť.

could encourage Filipinos abroad to repatriate more earnings. (WSJ 8/11/92): Foreign exchange accounts, loosening, capital outflows.

1/3/92. Central Bank of the Philippines issued rules/regulations liberalizing non-trade foreign exchange transactions, including investment related transactions. With respect to foreign investments, the major policy changes entailed the broader coverage of foreign investments, the liberalization of repatriation and remittance privileges and the reduction as well as simplification of reportorial and documentary requirements. Under CB Circular No. 1318, foreign investments are defined to include investments by a resident in foreign exchange or its equivalent in assets actually brought into the country, as contrasted to the definition under the Foreign Investments Act of 1991, which considers the nationality or citizenship of the investor. Full and immediate repatriation and remittance privileges for all types of duly registered investments, whether as direct equity or in listed shares/securities and regardless of the type of industry or sector where investment were made are now allowed to be directly serviced by AABs [Authorized Agent Banks which include all categories of banks (except offshore banking units) duly licensed by the Central Bank] without prior CB approval. This is in contrast to previous guidelines where full and immediate repatriation is allowed only for registered investments in CB-certified export-oriented industries and in CB approved securities, but is otherwise staggered for investments in other industries from three to nine years, depending on the type of industry and sectoral priority where investments were made. However, under Section 40 of Circular No. 1318, repatriation of investment financed through the debt-to-equity program under Circular No. 1111 dated August 26, 1986. Revised Circular No. 1111 dated October 20, 1982 and Circular No. 1267 dated December 20, 1990, shall be governed by said Circulars or any subsequent amendments thereto. (IMF 1993, WSJ 1/7/92): Foreign exchange accounts, loosening, capital outflows.

6/6/91. The Philippine Congress approved a bill allowing foreigners to own as much as 100% of most businesses in the country, now limited to 40%. The measure, to be signed into law in November, also is aimed at generating jobs for Filipinos. Separately, Manila will seek to borrow \$100 million from the Asian Development Bank for relending to small and medium industries. Meanwhile, the government will probably shed 80% of its holding in Philippine Airlines in a single phase this year instead of gradually. (WSJ 6/7/91): Direct investment, loosening, capital inflows.